
AGENDA
(ROLL CALL VOTE)

(ROLL CALL VOTE)

(ROLL CALL VOTE)

(INFORMATION ONLY)
(INFORMATION ONLY)

(INFORMATION ONLY)

(ROLL CALL VOTE)
(ROLL CALL VOTE)

(ROLL CALL VOTE)
(ROLL CALL VOTE)

(ROLL CALL VOTE)

(ROLL CALL VOTE)

(ROLL CALL VOTE)
(ROLL CALL VOTE)
(ROLL CALL VOTE)

(INFORMATION ONLY)

(ROLL CALL VOTE)

Mt. Zion Community Unit School District: “A Great Place to Learn”

Working with families to fully develop every child’s ability to be a life-long learner and contributing member of society.

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF EDUCATION
Monday, June 2, 2025

7:30 PM
MEETING LOCATION:

MT. ZION C.U.S.D. #3 DISTRICT OFFICE- 1595 W. MAIN ST., MT ZION, IL 62549

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. REGULAR  AND EXECUTIVE MEETING MINUTES OF MAY 5, 2025

4. APPOINTMENT OF NEW SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER

5. VISITOR AND STAFF COMMUNICATIONS
A. VISITOR COMMUNICATIONS
B. STAFF COMMUNICATIONS

6. GENERAL DISCUSSION

7. EDUCATION
A. STAFF/FACULTY HANDBOOKS
B. FIRST READING- 2025-26 DISTRICT HANDBOOK CHANGES

8. FINANCIAL
A. FUND WARRANTS
B. TREASURER'S REPORT

9. EXECUTIVE SESSION
A. FOR THE PURPOSE OF DISCUSSING THE APPOINTMENT, EMPLOYMENT,

RETIREMENT, RESIGNATION, COMPENSATION, DISCIPLINE, PERFORMANCE,
OR DISMISSAL OF A SPECIFIC EMPLOYEE OR OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC BODY

10. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION

11. PERSONNEL
A. EMPLOYMENT OF CERTIFIED AND NON-CERTIFIED EMPLOYEES
B. RESIGNATION OF CERTIFIED AND NON CERTIFIESD EMPLOYEES
C. RETIREMENT OF CERTIFIED AND NON CERTIFIED EMPLOYEES

12. NEXT BOARD MEETING: TUESDAY, JULY 8, 2025, 6:30 P.M.;
(2nd TUESDAY, IN JULY)
1595 W. MAIN ST., MT. ZION, IL 62549

13. ADJOURNMENT



MT. ZION COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 

UNIT DISTRICT NO. 3 

MT. ZION, ILLINOIS 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF EDUCATION 

May 5, 2025 

Jeffrey Sams called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. CALL TO 
ORDER 

Board members present were: Jeffrey Sams, Michelle Shumaker, Kent Newton, Regan 
Deering, and Kyle Janvrin. 

ROLL CALL 

Administration present consisted of: Dr. Travis Roundcount, Superintendent; Brian Rhoades, 
Associate Superintendent; Justin Johnson, High School Principal; Julie Marquardt, Junior 
High Principal; Randy Thacker, Intermediate School Principal; Gary Gruen, Grade Principal; 
Heather Ethell, McGaughey Principal; Renea Smith, Special Education Administrator; and 
Billy Rockey, Curricular and Technology Director. 

ADMINISTRA- 
TION 
PRESENT 

The Pledge of Allegiance was cited by those present and led by the following 3rd grade 
students: Vayda Marquis and Grayson Cox from Mrs. Schorfheide’s class, Mia Jump and 
Audrian Golz from Mrs. Wendell’s class, and Noah Fisher from Mr. Demeio’s class. 

PLEDGE OF 
ALLEGIANCE 

The County Clerk Offices have provided us with the voting results of the April 1, 2025 election. 
The following candidates have received the highest number of votes for the four-year terms 
of office: Michelle Shumaker, Kyle Janvrin, and Eric Law. 

TERM OF 
OFFICE/ 
ELECTION OF 
OFFICERS 

Board members present were: Jeffrey Sams, Michelle Shumaker, Kent Newton, Kyle Janvrin, 
Regan Deering, and Eric Law. 

ROLL CALL 

The following Board Members were elected officers: 
Jeffrey Sams- President 
Kyle Janvrin- Vice President 
Michelle Shumaker- Secretary 
Roll Call: Kent Newton, Michelle Shumaker, Regan Deering, Kyle Janvrin, Eric Law, and 
Jeffrey Sams, yea. Motion carried 6-0. (See Book of Attachments) 

TERM OF 
OFFICE/ 
ELECTION OF 
OFFICERS 

Michelle Shumaker presented a motion to approve the Regular/Executive meeting minutes 
of April 7, 2025. Seconded: Regan Deering. Roll Call; Jeffrey Sams, Michelle Shumaker, 
Regan Deering, Kyle Janvrin, and Kent Newton, yea. E r i c  L a w  A b s t a i n e d .  Motion 
carried 5-0. (See Book of Attachments) 

MEETING 
MINUTES 

Meagan Lock spoke about the softball program and concerns regarding coaching staff: 
Discrimination, harassment, injuries, favoritism, and why many girls have not returned to the 
program.  

Amy Ensighn spoke about the Kids Heart Challenge and gave Amelia Allen an award for 
raising $3,159.89 

VISITOR 
COMMUNICA- 
TIONS 

• Dr. Roundcount announced that the Zionoiz yearbook has been recognized among the 
best-of-  the-best yearbooks in the country by Varsity Yearbook.

• The following FFA members gave a review of this past years work and achievements: 
Drew Newton-President
Kadence Miller- Historian
Nick Scherer- Treasurer

• Board members had and open discussion regarding homeschool participation policies.

STAFF 
COMMUNICA- 
TIONS 



Regan Deering presented a motion that the School Board meeting dates be held on 
the second Tuesday of each month, except as otherwise noted and/or notified. 
Seconded: Michelle Shumaker. Roll Call: Michelle Shumaker, Regan Deering, Kyle 
Janvrin, Eric Law, Kent Newton, and Jeff Sams, yea. Motion carried 6-0. (See Book 
of Attachments.) 

2025-2027 
BOARD 
MEETING 
DATES 

Regan Deering presented a motion to approve the final 2024-2025 calendar with the 
last half day of school on May 29, 2025.Seconded: Michelle Shumaker. Roll Call: 
Regan Deering, Kyle Janvrin, Eric Law, Kent Newton, Jeff Sams, and Michelle 
Shumaker, yea. Motion carried 6-0. (See Book of Attachments.) 

FINAL 2024-2025 
SCHOOL 
CALENDAR 

Michele Shumaker presented a motion to approve payment of the enclosed list of 
Fund Warrants, Quick Pays, and Athletic Imprest. Seconded: Kyle Janvrin. 
Roll Call: Michelle Shumaker, Eric Law, Kent Newton, Jeff Sams, Michelle Shumaker, and 
Regan Deering, yea. Motion carried 6-0. (See Book of Attachments.) 

FINANCIALS: 

FUND 
WARRANTS 

Michelle Shumaker presented a motion that the attached Financial Treasurer’s 
Report be accepted and filed for audit. Seconded: Regan Deering. Roll Call: Eric 
Law, Kent Newton, Jeff Sams, Michelle Shumaker, Regan Deering, and Kyle Janvrin, 
yea. Motion carried 6-0. (See Book of Attachments.) 

FINANCIAL 
TREASURER’S 
REPORT 

Regan Deering presented a motion to receive the following bid for Dairy Products and 
award the bid to Prairie Farms Dairy, Inc. for FY 2026. Seconded: Michelle 
Shumaker. Roll Call: Kent Newton, Jeff Sams, Michelle Shumaker, Regan Deering, 
Kyle Janvrin, and Eric Law, yea. Motion carried 6-0. (See Book of Attachments.) 

FY 2026 DAIRY 
BID AWARDS 

Regan Deering presented a motion to receive the following bids and award the fuel 
contract to Evergreen FS for the alternate locked-in rate as outlined on the following 
page for FY 2025. Seconded: Kyle Janvrin. Roll Call: Jeff Sams, Michelle Shumaker, 
Regan Deering, Kyle Janvrin, Eric Law, and Kent Newton. yea. Motion carried 4-0. 
(See Book of Attachments.) 

FY 2026 FUEL 
BID AWARDS 

Michelle Shumaker presented a motion receive the following bids for repairing and providing 
drainage to the bus lane at McGaughey based on the attached specs and bids and awarded 
the bid to Flannigan Contracting. Seconded: Kent Newton. Roll Call: Michelle Shumaker, 
Regan Deering, Kyle Janvrin, Eric Law, Kent Newton, and Jeff Sams, yea. Motion carried 
6-0. (See Book of Attachments.)

FY 2026 
PAVEMENT BID 
AWARD FOR 
MCGAUGHEY 
BUS DRIVE 

Regan Deering presented a motion to dismiss to go into closed session at 7:36 p.m. 
for the purpose of discussing the appointment, employment, compensation, discipline, 
performance or dismissal of a specific employee or office of the public body. 
Seconded: Eric Law. Roll Call: Kyle Janvrin, Eric Law, Kent Newton, Jeff Sams, 
Michelle Shumaker, and Regan Deering, yea. Motion carried 6-0. (See Book of 
Attachments.) 

EXECUTIVE 
SESSION 

Michelle Shumaker presented a motion to return the meeting to order at 10:23 p.m. 
Seconded: Kyle Janvrin.  Roll Call: Eric Law, Kent Newton, Jeff Sams, Michelle 
Shumaker, Regan Deering, and Kyle Janvrin, yea. Motion carried 6-0. (See Book of 
Attachments.) 

RETURN TO 
OPEN SESSION 

Michelle Shumaker presented a motion to approve the employment of certified and 
non-certified employees pending a drug test and background check for new 
employees. Seconded: Kyle Janvrin. Roll Call: Kent Newton, Jeff Sams, Michelle 
Shumaker, Regan Deering, Kyle Janvrin, and Eric Law, yea. Motion carried 6-0. (See 
Book of Attachments.) 

EMPLOYMENT OF 
CERTIFIED AND 
NON- CERTIFIED 
EMPLOYEES 



TO: 

FROM: 

DATE:         

RE: 

Memorandum 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 

TRAVIS R. ROUNDCOUNT 

MAY 28, 2025 

PERSONNEL 

A. ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION:
To approve the following personnel as outlined below, pending a drug test and background
check for new employees.

** SEE FOLLOWING PAGES: 2025/26 Co-Curricular/Volunteer/Show Choir Volunteer Staff 

EMPLOYMENT: 
Samuel Dixson 
Mt Zion Transportation 

Bus Driver 
Effective: April 7, 2025 

Faith Roundcount 
Mt Zion Junior High 

Technology Student Work Program/ 
Braves TV, Effective: June 2, 2025 

Joya Klingler 
Mt Zion Intermediate 

Special Education Teacher 
Effective: August 13, 2025 

Dr Jacob Sams 
Mt Zion Junior High 

7th Grade Boys Basketball Coach 
Effective: August 1, 2025 

Sarah Bone 
Mt Zion Grade 

Per Union Contract for ASPIRE Classroom 
pending certification 
Effective: August 13, 2025 

Tinleigh Weigler 
Mt Zion Junior High 

Receptionist Student Work Program 
Effective: August 1, 2025 

Sam Driscoll 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Technology Worker 
Effective: Summer 2025 

Ethan Osborne 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Technology Worker 
Effective: Summer 2025 

Elizabeth Kyburz 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Technology Worker 
Effective: Summer 2025 

Justice Roundcount 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Technology Worker 
Effective: Summer 2025 

Elijah Rockey 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Technology Worker 
Effective: Summer 2025 

Lauren Kyburz 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Technology Worker 
Effective: Summer 2025 

Andy Place 
Mt Zion High School 

High School Girls Basketball Coach 
Effective: May 6, 2025 

Mia Hicks 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Technology Worker 
Effective: Summer 2025 

Lucas Reynolds 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Technology Worker 
Effective: Summer 2025 



Stacey Stine 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Amber Mathews 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Jessica Garver 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Chance Mendenall 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Danielle Fair 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Casey Johnson 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Matt Smith 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Wesley Benson-White 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Nancy Hawley 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Joe Hupp 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Leroy McIntyre 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Roseanne Schollmeier 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Jason Pollock 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Cindy Warrick 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Cody Cannon 
Mt Zion District 

Temporary Summer Worker 
Effective: Summer of 2025 

Lacey Sutheard 
McGaughey Elementary 

Volunteer Private Nurse 
Effective: April 21, 2025 

Kaylee Johnston 
Mt Zion School District 

SUB Teacher 
Effective: May 6, 2025 



B. ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION:
To accept the resignation of certified and non-certified employees:

Blake Reynolds 
Mt Zion Junior High 

7th Grade Boys Basketball Coach 
Effective: May 6, 2025 

Steve Owens 
Mt Zion High School 

High School Wrestling 
Effective: April 2, 2025 

Amanda Richardson 
McGaughey Elementary 

Teachers Assistant 
Effective: May 23, 2025 

TRR nmg 



CO-CURRICULARS 2025-26 

Sort 
numerically 
to match 
order in 
contract Position 

2025-26 
First Name 

2025-26 
Last Name Split Stipend Info 

2022-2027 
Per Cent 

Agreement 
Blue Highlight = 

Appendix B 

1 Group I - High School Head Boys’ Basketball Dale Schuring - 15.5 

2 Group I - High School Head Girls' Basketball Andy Place 15.5 

3 Group I - High School Head Football Patrick Etherton - 15.5 

4 Goup II - High School Head Baseball Joshua Arnold - 10 

5 Group II - High School Head Softball Greg Blakey - 10 

6 Group II - High School Head Boys' Soccer Bryce Shumaker - 10 

7 Group II - High School Head Girls’ Soccer Scott Crawford - 10 

8 Group II - High School Head Boys' Track Joseph Fritzsche - 10 

9 Group II - High School Head Girls’ Track Kelly Fox - 10 

10 Group II - High School Head Wrestling David Klemm - 10 

11 Group II - High School Head Volleyball Kristin Sams - 10 

12 Group II - High School Cheerleading Rachel Sloan 10 

13 Group III - High School Assistant Football Dan Butler Split Stipend with C. Cannon. D. Buttz, and J. Summers 2.125% (8.5% split 
between 4 people) 

13 Group III - High School Assistant Football Darin Buttz Split Stipend with C. Cannon, D. Buttler, and J. Summers 2.125% (8.5% split 
between 4 people 

13 Group III - High School Assistant Football Cody Cannon Split Stipend with D. Buttler, D. Buttz, and J. Summers 2.125% (8.5% split 
between 4 people 

13 Group III - High School Assistant Football Jason Summers Split Stipend with C. Cannon, D. Buttler, and D Buttz 2.125% (8.5% split 
between 4 people 

13 Group III - High School Assistant Football Matthew Jones Split Stipend with Ashton Summers 4.25% (8.5% split 
between 2 people) 

13 Group III - High School Assistant Football David Klemm Split Stipend with C. Ntor-Ue 4.25% (8.5% split 
between 2 People) 

13 Group III - High School Assistant Football Dreu Larson Split Stipend with William Gaitros, and Jason 
Kuchelmeister 

2.83% (8.5% split 
between 3 people 



CO-CURRICULARS 2025-26 
 

 
Sort 
numerically 
to match 
order in 
contract 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Position 

 
 
 
 
 

2025-26 
First Name 

 
 
 
 
 

2025-26 
Last Name 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Split Stipend Info 

 
2022-2027 
Per Cent 

Agreement 
Blue Highlight = 

Appendix B 

 
13 

 
Group III - High School Assistant Football 

 
Ashton 

 
Summers 

 
Split Stipend with M. Jones 4.25% (8.5% split 

between 2 people) 

 
13 

 
Group III - High School Assistant Football 

 
Christopher 

 
Ntor-ue 

 
Split Stipend with D. Klemm 4.25% (8.5% split 

between 2 People) 

13 Group III - High School Assistant Football Dan Potempa Full Stipend 8.5 

 
13 

 
Group III - High School Assistant Football 

 
William 

 
Gaitros 

 
Split Stipend with Dreu Larson, and Jason Kuchelmeister 2.83% (8.5% split 

between 3 people) 

  
Group III - High School Assistant Football 

 
Jason 

 
Kuchelmeister 

 
Split Stipend with Dreu Larson, and Jason Kuchelmeister 2.83% (8.5% split 

between 3 people) 

14 Group III - High School Assistant Boys’ Basketball Jay Driscoll - 8.5 

14 Group III - High School Assistant Boys' Basketball Michael Greer - 8.5 

 
15 

 
Group III High School Assistant Girls' Basketball 

 
Roger "Joe" 

 
Jackson 

 
Split Stipend with Mikayla Lehman 4.25% (8.5% split 

between 2 people) 

 
15 

 
Group III - High School Assistant Girls' Basketball 

 
Mikayla 

 
Lehman 

 
Split Stipend with Joe 4.25% (8.5% split 

between 2 people) 

15 Group III - High School Assistant Girls' Basketball Jeff Shumate - 8.5 

16 Group III - Eighth Grade Boys' Basketball Michael Sams - 8.5 

17 Group III - Seventh Grade Boys' Basketball Jacob Sams  8.5 

18 Group III - Eighth Grade Girls' Basketball Jeff Shumate - 8.5 

19 Group III - Seventh Grade Girls' Basketball Andy Place - 8.5 

20 Group III - Junior High School Head Wrestling Max Barrows - 8.5 

21 Group IV - High School Head Girls' Golf Jay Driscoll - 6.5 

22 Group IV - High School Head Boys' Golf Colby Burdick - 6.5 

23 Group IV - High School Head Boys’ Tennis Michael Roberts - 6.5 

24 Group IV - High School Head Girls’ Tennis Michael Roberts - 6.5 

25 Group IV - High School Head Cross Country Kelly Fox - 6.5 

26 Group V - High School Assistant Baseball Kelby Golladay - 6 

26 Group V - High School Assistant Baseball B. J. Rotz - 6 



CO-CURRICULARS 2025-26 
 

 
Sort 
numerically 
to match 
order in 
contract 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Position 

 
 
 
 
 

2025-26 
First Name 

 
 
 
 
 

2025-26 
Last Name 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Split Stipend Info 

 
2022-2027 
Per Cent 

Agreement 
Blue Highlight = 

Appendix B 

 
27 

 
Group V - High School Junior Varsity Wrestling 

 
Cody 

 
Cannon 

 
Split Stipend with Gus Wheeler 

3% (6% split 
between Cannon, 

Owens 
 
27 

 
Group V - High School Junior Varsity Wrestling 

 
Gus 

 
Wheeler 

 
Split Stipend with Cody Cannon 

3% (6% split 
between Cannon, 

Owens 
28 Group V - High School Assistant Volleyball Amanda Lenz - 6 

 
 
29 

 
 
Group V - Junior High School Volleyball 

 
 
Mandi 

 
 
Ditty 

 
See Position 49 

(paying 5% 
stipend for both 

positions) 

 
 
29 

 
 
Group V - Junior High School Volleyball 

 
 
Traci 

 
 
Dyer Townsend 

 
 
Split Stipend with M. Ditty 

See Position 49 
(paying 5% 

stipend for both 
positions) 

30 Group V - Junior High School Head Baseball Matt Smith - 6 

31 Group V - High School Assistant Softball Stephanie Fitzpatrick - 6 

 
31 

 
Group V - High School Assistant Softball 

 
Samantha 

 
Flesch 

 
Split Stipend with T. Minton 3% (6% split 

between 2 people) 

 
31 

 
Group V - High School Assistant Softball 

 
Taylor 

 
Minton 

 
Split Stipend with S. Flesch 3% (6% split 

between 2 people) 

32 Group V - High School Boys' Assistant Soccer Chris Weirman - 6 

33 Group V - High School Girls' Assistant Soccer Chris Weirman - 6 

34 Group V - Junior High School Head Softball Greg Blakey - 6 

35 Group V - Junior High School Assistant Wrestling OPEN OPEN - 6 

36 Group V - High School Assistant Boys' Track Dalton Collins - 6 

37 Group V - High School Assistant Girls' Track Sabrina Behrends - 6 

38 Group V - Junior High School Head Cross Country Joseph Fritzsche - 6 

39 Group V - Junior High School Head Girls’ Track Cindy Shumate - 6 

40 Group V - Junior High School Head Boys’ Track Jeff Shumate - 6 

41 Group VI - High School Pom Pon Angie Clark - 4.5 



CO-CURRICULARS 2025-26 

Sort 
numerically 
to match 
order in 
contract Position 

2025-26 
First Name 

2025-26 
Last Name Split Stipend Info 

2022-2027 
Per Cent 

Agreement 
Blue Highlight = 

Appendix B 

42 Group VII - High School Assistant Boys' Tennis Mike Brannon - 4 

43 Group VII - High School Assistant Girls' Tennis Mike Brannon - 4 

44 Group VII - Junior High School Assistant Baseball John Larrison Split Stipend with B.J. Rotz 2 

44 Group VII - Junior High School Assistant Baseball B. J. Rotz Split Stipend with John Larrison 2 

45 Group VII - Junior High School Assistant Softball Stephanie Fitzpatrick - 4 

46 Group VII - Junior High School Cheerleading Kristen Bollhorst - 4 

47 Group VII - Junior High School Assistant Boys' Track David Klemm - 4 

47 Group VII - Junior High School Assistant Boys’ Track Katie Conlin Black - 4 

48 Group VII - Junior High School Assistant Girls' Track John Wisher 4 

48 Group VII - Junior High School Assistant Girls' Track OPEN OPEN 4 

49 Group VII - Junior High School Assistant Volleyball Mandi Ditty Split Stipend with Traci Dyer Townsend 

See Position 29 
(paying 5% 

stipend for both 
positions) 

49 Group VII - Junior High School Assistant Volleyball Traci Dyer Townsend Split Stipend with M. Ditty 

See Position 29 
(paying 5% 

stipend for both 
positions) 

50 Group VII - Assistant Junior High Cross Country Katie Conlin Black 4 

51 Group VIII - Indoor Track Kelly Fox - 2 

51 Group VIII - Indoor Track Joseph Fritzsche - 2 

52 Position - Instrumental Music Director Patrick Ward - 15.5 

53 Position - Vocal Music Director OPEN OPEN - 15.5 

54 Position - Assistant Vocal Music Director Zach Garrett - 12.5 

54 Position - Assistant Vocal Music Director Carly Larson - 12.5 

55 Position - Assistant Instrumental Percussion Director Chris Weirman - 12.5 

56 Braves TV TBA TBA 6 

57 Position - High School International Club Amy Abbott - 3 



CO-CURRICULARS 2025-26 
 

 
Sort 
numerically 
to match 
order in 
contract 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Position 

 
 
 
 
 

2025-26 
First Name 

 
 
 
 
 

2025-26 
Last Name 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Split Stipend Info 

 
2022-2027 
Per Cent 

Agreement 
Blue Highlight = 

Appendix B 

58 Position - HS Choreographer Dwight Jordan - 6 

 
59 Position - Assistant Instrumental Marching 

Band/Drumline 

 
Jennifer 

 
Himanga 

 
- 

 
6 

 
60 

 
Position - Combined Freshman Class Sponsor/Tribe Spon 

 
Joseph 

 
Fritzsche 

 
Always Split Stipend (split evenly between 4 people) 

.5% (2% split 
between 
4 people) 

 
60 

 
Position - Combined Freshman Class Sponsor 

 
Traci 

 
Dyer-Townsend 

 
Always Split Stipend (split evenly between 4 people) 

.5% (2% split 
between 
4 people) 

 
60 

 
Position - Combined Freshman Class Sponsor 

 
Josie 

 
Maul 

 
Always Split Stipend (split evenly between 4 people) 

.5% (2% split 
between 
4 people) 

 
60 Position - Combined Freshman Class Sponsor/Tribe 

Sponsor 

 
Nikki 

 
McCarty 

 
Always Split Stipend (split evenly between 4 people) 

.5% (2% split 
between 
4 people) 

 
61 Position - Combined Sophomore Class Sponsor/Tribe 

Sponsor 

 
Jill 

 
Clifton 

 
Always Split Stipend (split evenly between 4 people) 

.5% (2% split 
between 
4 people) 

 
61 

 
Position - Combined Sophomore Class Sponsor 

 
Christel 

 
Mcquality 

 
Always Split Stipend (split evenly between 4 people) 

.5% (2% split 
between 
4 people) 

 
61 Position - Combined Sophomore Class Sponsor/Tribe 

Sponsor 

 
Jessica 

 
Hill 

 
Always Split Stipend (split evenly between 4 people) 

.5% (2% split 
between 
4 people) 

 
61 

 
Position - Combined Sophomore Class Sponsor 

 
Alan 

 
Kershner 

 
Always Split Stipend (split evenly between 4 people) 

.5% (2% split 
between 
4 people) 

62 Position - Combined Junior Class Sponsor Cheryl Pearson Always Full 2% Stipend 2 

62 Position - Combined Junior Class Sponsor Anna Marie Hanes Always Full 2% Stipend 2 

62 Position - Combined Junior Class Sponsor Camryn Skundberg Always Full 2% Stipend 2 

62 Position - Combined Junior Class Sponsor Nancy Smith Always Full 2% Stipend 2 

63 Position - Combined Senior Class Sponsor Amanda Lamb Always 2% Full Stipend 2 

63 Position - Combined Senior Class Sponsor Richard Hansen Always 2% Full Stipend 2 

63 Position - Combined Senior Class Sponsor Kyle Osborne Always 2% Full Stipend 2 

63 Position - Combined Senior Class Sponsor Teran Stephenson Always 2% Full Stipend 2 



CO-CURRICULARS 2025-26 
 

 
Sort 
numerically 
to match 
order in 
contract 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Position 

 
 
 
 
 

2025-26 
First Name 

 
 
 
 
 

2025-26 
Last Name 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Split Stipend Info 

 
2022-2027 
Per Cent 

Agreement 
Blue Highlight = 

Appendix B 

64 Position - High School Drama Director Jill Clifton - 5 

65 Position - High School Assistant Drama Director Elisa Lewis - 3.5 

66 Position - High School F.B.L.A. AnnaMarie Hanes - 2.5 

 
67 

 
Position - High School F.C.C.L.A. 

 
Kendra 

 
Abner 

 
Split Stipend with T. Bland 1.25% (2.5% split 

between 2 people) 

 
67 

 
Position - High School F.C.C.L.A. 

 
Taryn 

 
Bland 

 
Split Stipend with K. Abner 1.25% (2.5% split 

between 2 people) 

68 Position - High School F.F.A. Joseph (JC) Walker III - 5 

69 Position - High School Flag Corps Victoria Clyburn - 3.5 

70 Position - High School Intramurals Patrick Etherton - 2 

71 Position - High School Math Team (Head Sponsor) Ross Moyer - 5 

72 Position - High School Math Team (Assistant Sponsor) Stephanie Windhorst - 2.5 

72 Position - High School Math Team (Assistant Sponsor) Bryan Marquis - 2.5 

73 Position - High School Medics Neysa Downs - 4 

74 Position - High School National Honors Society Christel McQuality - 3 

75 Position - High School Scholastic Bowl Bryan Marquis - 6 

76 Position - High School Assistant Scholastic Bowl Ross Moyer - 4 

77 Position - High School Spanish Club Bekki Moore - 2 

 
78 

 
Position - High School Speech 

 
Cheryl 

 
Pearson 

 
Split Stipend with D. McCoy 1.5% (3% split 

between 2 people) 

 
78 

 
Position - High School Speech 

 
Dave 

 
McCoy 

 
Split Stipend with C. Pearson 1.5% (3% split 

between 2 people) 

79 Position - High School Student Council Jill Clifton  5 

80 Position - High School Yearbook Amanda Renshaw - 5 

81 Position - High School Post Prom Open Open - 3 

82 Position - High School Project Graduation Stephanie Windhorst - 3 

83 Position - High School/Junior High School Art Club Hannah Grider - 2 



CO-CURRICULARS 2025-26 

Sort 
numerically 
to match 
order in 
contract Position 

2025-26 
First Name 

2025-26 
Last Name Split Stipend Info 

2022-2027 
Per Cent 

Agreement 
Blue Highlight = 

Appendix B 

84 Position - High School Academic Challenge Sponsor Kelly Manhart - 5 

85 Position - High School S.A.D.D. Sponsor Kyle Osborne - 3 

86 Position - High School Barbershop Quartet Richard Hansen - 3 

87 Position - High School Bass Fishing Neysa Downs - 2 

88 Position - Junior High School Newspaper Jeff Shumate 2 

89 Position - Junior High School Scholastic Bowl Amy Abbott 5 

90 Position - Junior High School Student Council Michael Roberts 2.5 

90 Position - Junior High School Student Council Chris Weirman 2.5 

91 Position - Assistant Jr. High School Scholastic Bowl Brooke Grinestaff 2.5 

92 Position - Junior High School Yearbook Jeff Shumate 2 

93 Position - Intermediate Band Jennifer Himanga 2.5 

94 Position - Intermediate Chorus Cyndi Johnson 2.5 

95 Position - Sixth Grade Honors Choir Cyndi Johnson 2.5 



 

2025-2026 CO-CURRICULAR VOLUNTEERS 
 
 

VOLUNTEER POSITION FIRST NAME LAST NAME 
Bass Fishing Boat Driver Volunteer Tony Camden 
Bass Fishing Boat Driver Volunteer Thomas Courson 
Bass Fishing Boat Driver Volunteer Kevin Johnson 
Bass Fishing Boat Driver Volunteer Bruce Nielsen 
Bass Fishing Boat Driver Volunteer Joseph Pharis 
Bass Fishing Boat Driver Volunteer Blake Reynolds 
Bass Fishing Boat Driver Volunteer David Reynolds 
Bass Fishing Boat Driver Volunteer Stefanie Rohman 
Bass Fishing Boat Driver Volunteer Bradley Rohman 
Bass Fishing Boat Driver Volunteer Greg Traxler 
Boys and Girls Tennis Volunteer Bryan Vaughn 
Boys and Girls Tennis Volunteer Joe Demirjian 
Boys' Soccer Assistant Volunteer Todd Shumaker 
Golf and Tennis Volunteer Mark Huss 
Golf Volunteer Mark Putnam 
High School and Jr. High School Assistant Cross Country 
Volunteer Bruce Curry 

High School Assistant Baseball (JV) Volunteer John Larrison 
High School Assistant Baseball Coach Volunteer (practice 
only) Michael Mose 

High School Boys Basketball Volunteer Jarod Oldham 
High School Assistant Boys’ Track Volunteer OPEN OPEN 
High School Assistant Cross Country Volunteer OPEN OPEN 
High School Assistant Football Coach Volunteer Samuel Hubner 
High School Assistant Football Coach Volunteer Brock Thoms 
High School Assistant Football Coach Volunteer Heath Lane 
High School Assistant Football Coach Volunteer Peyton Moreau 
High School Assistant Softball Volunteer John Beiler 
High School Assistant Girls Track Volunteer Maddy Hardin 
High School Assistant Track Volunteer OPEN OPEN 
High School Assistant Volleyball Volunteer Jade Becker 
High School Assistant Wrestling Volunteer Clay Cannon 
High School Assistant Wrestling Volunteer Joseph Fiore 
High School Baseball Volunteer Kyle Bruce 
High School Baseball Volunteer Jay Driscoll 
High School Boat Driver Ryan Eggers 
High School Boat Driver Doug Miller 
High School Boat Driver Nathan Laskowski 
High School Golf Mark Putnam 
High School Head Cheerleading Coach Volunteer Holly Diehl 
High School Track and Field Brian Kondritz 
High School Track and Field Emilee Weter 



 

 

VOLUNTEER POSITION FIRST NAME LAST NAME 
High School Track and Field Scott Flannery 
High School Track and Field Dicky Trump 
High School Girls Track Volunteers Sarah Nichols 
High School Volleyball Coaching Assistant Volunteer Kristina Frost 
High School Wrestling Volunteer Kooper Loehr 
JH School Basketball Volunteer OPEN OPEN 
JH School Basketball Volunteer Kevin Schwass 
JH Girs Basketball Volunteer Whitney Getz 
JH School Volleyball Volunteer Kristin Sams 
JH School Volleyball Volunteer Mary Swartz 
Jr. High/High School Assistant Girls' Track Volunteer Juliane Hensley 
Jr. High/High School Assistant Girls' Track Volunteer Ashley Miller 
Jr. High/High School Assistant Girls' Track Volunteer Austin Jesse 
Jr. High/High School Girls Basketball Volunteer Roger "Joe" Jackson 
Jr. High/High School Softball Coach Volunteer Dayna Kennedy 
Junior High School Assistant Cross Country Volunteer Sabrina Behrends 
Junior High School Assistant Softball Volunteer Thomas Good 
Junior High School Softball Volunteer Isabel Shafer 
Junior High School Assistant Wrestling Volunteer Griffin Meeker 
Junior High School Assistant Wrestling Volunteer Dan Butler 
Volunteer Swim Coach Laura Nesbitt 
Volunteer Swim Coach Todd Ranney 
Volunteer Swim Coach OPEN OPEN 
Volunteer HS Wrestling Coach Griffin Meeker 
Volunteer Wrestling Caoch Adam Maxwell 



SHOW CHOIR VOLUNTEERS 2025-2026 

VOLUNTEER POSITION SCHOOL FIRST NAME LAST NAME 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Erica Alford 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Christina Beasley 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Angie Beckwith-Watts 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Ashlee Bennett 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Jaci Bruce 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Samuel Bruce 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Tammy Buening 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Heather Conover 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Dustin Dalluge 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Beth Ellingson 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Denise Flexser 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Shannon Frank 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Billy Gheradini 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Amy Grove 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Derek Grove 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Kayla Harris 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Malia Hodges 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Megan Holt 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Heather Johnson 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Dan Jones 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Laura Jones 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Carly Larson 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Dreu Larson 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Brenda O'Neill 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Brittany Qualls 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Brittany Reatherford 



SHOW CHOIR VOLUNTEERS 2025-2026 

VOLUNTEER POSITION SCHOOL FIRST NAME LAST NAME 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Elizabeth Ryder 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Ann Taylor 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Heather Warner 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Heather Westerfield 

Show Choir Chaperone Volunteer JH/HS Jamie Whicker 



Kent Newton presented a motion to accept the resignation of certified and non-
certified employees Seconded: Michelle Shumaker. Roll Call: Jeff Sams, Michelle 
Shumaker, Regan Deering, Kyle Janvrin, Eric Law, and Kent Newton, yea. Motion 
carried 6-0. (See Book of Attachments.) 

ACCEPT 
RESIGNATION OF 
CERTIFIED AND 
NON- CERTIFIED 
EMPLOYEES 

• Michelle Shumaker Read a thank you card.
• Kent Newton liked the discussion the board had about policies during staff 

communication.
• Kyle Janvrin mentioned that he feels more open to speak in front of people for

better discussions. 
• Regan Deering:

• Brought up changing when the General Discussion took place on the agenda.
• Questioned where the process was on the policy for naming facilities.

• There was open discussion about homeschool kids participating in school activities and 
handbook policies.

GENERAL 
DISCUSSION 

Jeff Sams announced Tuesday, June 10, 2025, 6:30 p. m. as the next regular meeting of the 
Board of Education, to be held at the Mt. Zion C.U.S.D. #3 District Office, 
1595 W. Main St., Mt. Zion, IL 62549. 

NEXT 
REGULAR 
MEETING 

Regan Deering introduced a motion to adjourn the Board of Education Meeting at 10:42 p.m. 
Seconded: Michelle Shumaker. Roll Call: Michelle Shumaker, Regan Deering. Kyle Janvrin, 
Eric Law, Kent Newton, and Jeff Sams, yea. Motion carried 6-0. (See Book of Attachments.) 

ADJOURNMENT 

MT. ZION COMMUNITY UNIT SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 3 

Jeff Sams, President 

Mt. Zion Board of Education 

Michelle Shumaker, Secretary 

Mt. Zion Board of Education 



 

 

Memorandum 
 

 
TO: BOARD OF EDUCATION 
      
FROM: TRAVIS R. ROUNDCOUNT 
      
DATE: MAY 28, 2025 
      
RE: 2025-26 EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT STAFF AND  FACULTY  
 HANDBOOKS 
 
 
Administrative recommendation: that the attached 2025-2026 ESP and 
Faculty Handbook be approved as revised. 
      
Comments: Utilizing a District-wide faculty and esp handbook has been helpful 
in communicating consistent information to everyone.  There are minimal 
changes this year and they are indicated in the documents as follows: language 
to be removed appears with a strike-through, and changes/additions from last 
year’s handbook are highlighted in yellow. These changes are indicated as 
follows and page numbers will be corrected in the final document: 
       
      

Description Page/s 
ESP:  
Snow Day Language 2-3 
  
Faculty:  
Extra Duty Pay 5 
  
Both Handbooks  
FMLA 4 and 5 
RTO 5 and 7 
Calendar 11-12 and 13-14 
Contacts 13 and15 

      
      
TRR nmg 
      
Attachment 



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
MT. ZION … 

a great place to LEARN 

 
"Working with families to fully develop every child's ability 

to be a lifelong learner and contributing member of society." 
 

Dr. Travis R. Roundcount, Superintendent of Schools 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

403(b) Participation ............................................................................................ 2 
Accelerated Placement Program (APP) ............................................................. 2 
Accidents and Injuries ........................................................................................ 2 
Board Policies .................................................................................................... 2 
Building Directory ............................................................................................. 13 
Calendar - 2025-26 .......................................................................................... 11 
Distribution of Materials ...................................................................................... 2 
District Handbook/Calendar ................................................................................ 2 
Emergency Day Use ....................................................................................... 2-3 
Emergency Procedures ...................................................................................... 3 
Emergency School Closings............................................................................... 3 
Employee Code of Professional Conduct ........................................................ 3-4 
Evaluations ......................................................................................................... 4 
Family and Medical Leave .................................................................................. 4 
Forms and Procedural Bulletins ......................................................................... 4 
Fraud Reporting ................................................................................................. 4 
General Staff Information ................................................................................ 4-5 
Holidays ............................................................................................................. 5 
Identity Protection Policy .................................................................................... 6 
Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (IMRF) .......................................................... 6 
Illness ................................................................................................................. 6 
Inventory ............................................................................................................ 6 
Jury Duty ............................................................................................................ 7 
Keys and Room Security .................................................................................... 7 
Medical and Life Insurance ................................................................................ 7 
Payroll and Direct Deposit Changes ................................................................... 7 
Personal Leave .................................................................................................. 7 
Public Relations ................................................................................................. 7 
Purchase orders ................................................................................................. 8 
Resignation and Retirement ............................................................................... 8 
Safety ................................................................................................................. 8 
Sexual Abuse and Assault Awareness and Prevention ...................................... 8 
Sick Days ........................................................................................................... 8 
Student Online Personal Protection Act ............................................................. 9 
Technology ......................................................................................................... 9 
Telephone .......................................................................................................... 9 
Title IX Sexual Harassment Grievance Procedure ............................................. 9 
Use of Tobacco, Alcohol, or Marijuana on School Grounds ............................... 9 
Vacation ........................................................................................................ 9-10 
Visitors ............................................................................................................. 10 
2025-26 School Calendar ........................................................................................... 11 
2026-27 School Calendar ........................................................................................... 12 
Building Directory ............................................................................................. 13 



2-Page  

403(b) PARTICIPATION 
Employees who are not students and work at least 1,000 hours per year are eligible and may 
participate through a tax-sheltered annuity salary reduction. A 403(b) written plan document and 
enrollment forms for 403(b) deductions can be obtained from the District’s central administrative 
office. 

ACCELERATED PLACEMENT PROGRAM (APP) 
The District provides an Accelerated Placement Program (APP). The APP advances the District's 
goal of providing educational programs with opportunities for each student to develop to his or her 
maximum potential. Additional information or a copy of the APP policy, procedures, and deadlines 
can be obtained from any district administrator. The APP policy can also be found on the District 
website. 

 
ACCIDENTS AND INJURIES 
All injuries sustained on the job, regardless of 
severity, must be immediately reported to the 
immediate supervisor. 

 
An accident form must be completed and filed 
at the District Office within four days. Additional 
paperwork is necessary for Workers 
Compensation Claims. 

It is the responsibility of the employee to keep 
the District informed of the status of progress 
when on Workers' Compensation leave. 

BOARD POLICIES 
It is quite important that employees become 
familiar with the Mt. Zion Board of Education 
Policy Manual. There are copies of this manual 
for review in the principal's office and the central 
administrative offices. 

DISTRIBUTION OF MATERIALS 
Signs, posters, or notices may not be distributed or posted without prior permission from the 
Superintendent or designee. If an individual comes to your work area to distribute any material, 
send him/her to the office. 

DISTRICT HANDBOOK/CALENDAR 
All personnel are given a copy of the District parent/student handbook at the beginning of each 
year. It is important that they become familiar with the rules and regulations contained in this 
booklet. 

EMERGENCY DAY USE 
Procedures for the use of Emergency Days (ie. snow days) by Educational Support Staff: 

12-MONTH EMPLOYEES 

1) All twelve-month employees are to report to work as scheduled on an emergency day, 
unless instructed otherwise by the Superintendent. 

2) Twelve-month employees must use a personal or vacation day if they are unable to report 
to work on an emergency day. 

3) Support staff will not be allowed to use a sick day for an emergency day unless the 
employee provides documented proof of illness. The Superintendent must approve 
documentation for use of a sick day during an emergency day by support staff. Per Board 
Policy 5:330, sick leave is defined as “. . . personal illness, or as may be deemed necessary 



3-Page  

in other cases, quarantine at home, or serious illness or death in the immediate family.” 
Furthermore, the policy states, “. . . as may be deemed necessary in other cases, the 
employee may be required to furnish a physician’s or spiritual advisor’s certificate of 
treatment . . .” 

4) Staff reporting to duty on an emergency day shall use this time to “catch up” on work they 
are unable to perform during regular workdays, if their regularly scheduled work is 
completed. 

On holidays and days when school is canceled due to inclement weather, employees are not expected to report 
to work, and no time off is required. However, the District reserves the right to require employees to work on 
holidays and during inclement weather for the continued operation of the District.  

 
 

9-MONTH EMPLOYEES 

1) Less than twelve-month employees, except for BASAP, are not to report to work during 
an emergency day, unless instructed otherwise by the Superintendent. 

2) If BASAP is closed on an emergency day then staff are not to report to work and the 
following conditions will apply to BASAP employees. 

3) Since an emergency day is not considered a work day, less than twelve- month employees 
will not be allowed to take personal, vacation or sick time during a snow day; thus, less 
than twelve-month employees will not be paid for an emergency day. 

4) Since emergency days are “made up” at the end of the year, the employee will be expected 
to work their scheduled shift on the makeup day and will then recoup the time lost. 

5) Upon the building principal’s request, less than twelve-month employees may be 
permitted, but not required, to report to work on an as needed basis. 

EMERGENCY PROCEDURES 
Emergency procedures must be posted in every room of attendance. If a student has a medical 
emergency, the staff member is to call 911 immediately. Students are to be informed of all 
procedures for fire, disaster, and evacuation. Drills will be held on various occasions. Each staff 
member should become familiar with the Safeplans Emergency document and follow it in all 
emergency situations. 

EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSINGS 
When the decision is made to close schools for the day, the communication system will be 
activated. Staff will receive notification via home phone, cell phone, work phone and/or email. The 
building and/or department calling tree may also be activated. The closing will also be reported to 
WAND TV. 

School officials will make every attempt to determine (by 6:30 a.m.) if conditions call for school 
closing. If there is no announcement, schools will be open as usual. 

EMPLOYEE CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 
All District employees are expected to maintain high standards in their school relationships, to 
demonstrate integrity and honesty, to be considerate and cooperative, and to maintain 
professional and appropriate relationships with students, parents, staff members, and others. In 
addition, the Code of Ethics for Illinois Educators, adopted by the Illinois State Board of Education, 
is incorporated into this Code of Conduct. Any employee who sexually harasses a student, willfully 
or negligently fails to report an instance of suspected child abuse or neglect as required by the 
Abused and Neglected Child Reporting Act (325 ILCS 5/), engages in grooming as defined in 720 
ILCS 5/11-25, engages in grooming behaviors, violates boundaries for appropriate school 
employee-student conduct, engages in sexual misconduct as defined in 105 ILCS 5/22-85.5, or 
otherwise violates an employee conduct standard will be subject to discipline up to and including 
dismissal. More information on this item can be obtained by any district administrator or found on 
our District website. 

https://www.mtzschools.org/Page/3720


4-Page  

Prohibited grooming behaviors include, at a minimum, sexual misconduct. Sexual misconduct is 
(i) any act, including but not limited to, any verbal, nonverbal, written, or electronic communication 
or physical activity, (ii) by an employee with direct contact with a student, (iii) that is directed 
toward or with a student to establish a romantic or sexual relationship with the student. Examples 
in sexualized or romantic dialog, making sexually suggestive comments that are directed toward 
or with a student, self-disclosure or physical exposure of a sexual, romantic, or erotic nature, and 
a sexual, indecent, romantic, or erotic contact with the student. 

EVALUATIONS 
Each educational support staff member's job performance shall be evaluated by his/her direct 
supervisor. The evaluation process includes scheduled annual evaluations on forms applicable to 
the job classification and day-to-day appraisals. Evaluations should be completed before the 
annual salary review. Supervisors should 
consider the employee's work quality, 
promptness, attendance, reliability, conduct, 
judgment, and cooperativeness. 

Supervisors shall provide a copy of the 
completed evaluation to the employee and shall 
provide an opportunity to discuss it. The original 
should be signed by the employee and filed with 
the Superintendent. 

As appropriate, supervisors should discuss job 
performance issues that require attention with 
employees. 

FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE 
Eligible employees may use unpaid family and medical leave, guaranteed by the federal Family 
and Medical Leave Act, for up to a combined total of 12 weeks each year, beginning September 
1 and ending August 31 of the next year. To be eligible for family and medical leave, an employee 
must have been employed by the District for at least 12 months and have been employed for at 
least 1,250 hours of service during the 12-month period immediately before the beginning of the 
leave. An employee must provide a certificate completed by the health care provider when 
requesting a FMLA leave if requested. Before returning to work, the employee is may be required 
to obtain and present certification from the health care provider that he or she is able to resume 
work. For more information on family and medical leave, contact the District's central 
administrative offices. 

FORMS AND PROCEDURAL BULLETINS 
Supervisors will have copies of the following forms. Staff should request these forms if needed: 
Accident Forms, Inventory Forms, and Emergency Drill Procedures. 

FRAUD REPORTING 
This statement is included in the employee handbook to make employees aware that the District 
will not tolerate activities which may be fraudulent and that reports will be investigated. Employees 
are under obligation to report any observed or suspected fraud to the Superintendent, Board of 
Education, or to BKD Integra Report at: www.mtzschools.integrareport.com or 855-858-3344. All 
reports will be investigated and if any wrongdoing is founded disciplinary measures will be 
implemented. 

GENERAL STAFF INFORMATION 
It is always necessary to have some rules and regulations in order to carry out an effective school 
program. Important “Rules of Thumb” include: 

https://mtzschools.integrareport.com/#landing


5-Page  

1) Personnel are expected to be on time for their scheduled shift and perform all duties 
assigned to them. 

2) Full-Time employees shall receive an unpaid 30-minute meal break. 
3) The employee work week is defined as the shift starting after Saturday at 12:00 a.m. 

(midnight) continuing through the following Friday. 
4) Employees are not to shove, grab, or use physical force with students in disciplinary 

situations.  Reasonable force shall only be used in protecting a student or yourself.  The 
district’s Restraint and Time-Out (RTO) plan can be found on the district website for 
reference. 

 
HOLIDAYS 

Holiday Pay Requirements 
Employees will be eligible for up to eight hours pay at 

their straight time rate, provided they meet the 
following requirements: 

1) The employee must work within the payroll period 
during which the holiday occurs, unless the absence 
is based on illness. The Superintendent may request 
verification of illness by a licensed physician. 

2) The employee must work (their full shift) the last 
scheduled working day before the holiday and (their 
full shift) on the first scheduled working day after the 
holiday. 

3) Regular part-time employees will receive holiday benefits on a pro-rata basis based upon 
their approved hours assigned per day. 

The District may require educational support personnel to work on a school holiday during an 
emergency or for the continued operation and maintenance of facilities or property. 

 
HOLIDAYS - 12-MONTH EMPLOYEES 
The Board recognizes the following days as 
holidays for 12-month employees: 
• New Year’s Day 
• Martin Luther King Jr’s Birthday 
• President's Day 
• Casimir Pulaski’s Birthday 
• Good Friday (spring holiday) 
• Memorial Day 
• Juneteenth (State to only recognize as a 

paid holiday when it falls on a weekday) 
• Fourth of July 
• Labor Day 
• Columbus Day 
• Election Day (On years the state 

recognizes as a holiday) 
• Veteran’s Day 
• Thanksgiving Day 
• Day After Thanksgiving 
• Christmas Eve Afternoon 
• Christmas Day 

If a holiday falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or a 
day when school is in session, the employee 
will receive one (1) extra vacation day to be 
used consistent with the vacation policy. 

HOLIDAYS - 9-MONTH EMPLOYEES 
The Board recognizes the following days as 
holidays for 9-month employees: 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Martin Luther King Jr’s Birthday 
President's Day 
Casimir Pulaski’s Birthday 
Good Friday (spring holiday) 
Memorial Day 
Labor Day 
Columbus Day 
Election Day (On years the state 

      recognizes as a holiday) 
• Veteran’s Day 
• Thanksgiving Day 
• Day After Thanksgiving 
      If a holiday falls on a Saturday, Sunday,    
      or a day when school is in session, the   
      employee will receive holiday pay in  
      addition to his/her regular pay. 



6-Page  

IDENTITY PROTECTION POLICY 
The collection, storage, use, and disclosure of social security numbers by the School District shall be 
consistent with State and federal laws. The goals for managing the District’s collection, storage, use, 
and disclosure of social security numbers are to: 

1) Limit all activities involving social security numbers to those circumstances that are authorized 
by State or federal law. 

2) Protect each social security number collected or 
maintained by the District from unauthorized 
disclosure. 
 

The Superintendent is responsible for ensuring that the 
District complies with the Identity Protection Act, 5 ILCS 
179/. Compliance measures shall include each of the 
following: 
1) All employees having access to social security 

numbers in the course of performing their duties 
shall be trained to protect the confidentiality of 
social security numbers. Training should include 
instructions on the proper handling of information 
containing social security numbers from the time of 
collection through the destruction of the 
information. 

2) Only employees who are required to use or handle information or documents that contain 
social security numbers shall have access to such information or documents. 

3) Social security numbers requested from an individual shall be provided in a manner that 
makes the social security number easily redacted if the record is required to be released 
as part of a public records request. 

4) When collecting a social security number or upon request by an individual, a statement of 
the purpose(s) for which the District is collecting and using the social security number shall 
be provided. 

5) All employees must be advised of this policy’s existence and a copy of the policy must be 
made available to each employee. The policy must also be made available to any member 
of the public, upon request. 

No District employee shall collect, store, use, or disclose an individual’s social security number 
unless specifically authorized by the Superintendent. 

ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND (IMRF) 
Educational support staff who are employed in a qualifying position for 3.5 hours or more per day 
(or 17 or more hours per week) are eligible for enrollment in the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund 
(IMRF). Part-time personnel who work less than 3.5 hours per day (or less than 17 hours per 
week) are not eligible to participate in IMRF. Detailed information concerning IMRF can be 
obtained from the District's central administrative offices. 

 
ILLNESS 
Employees unable to report to work due to illness shall notify their immediate supervisor or 
building principal in a timely manner so that an appropriate substitute may be secured as soon as 
possible. 

 
INVENTORY 
A running inventory is kept of all school property. Each employee is responsible for items in their 
work area. Each employee is responsible for keeping his/her work area in a neat, orderly manner 
and for the safekeeping of furniture, supplies, and equipment. Any serious damage to furniture or 
equipment should be reported to the Department Supervisor or building office. Each employee is 
responsible for keeping food and drink off the computer tables. 

 
All written requests for special work to be completed by maintenance personnel should be 
submitted to the Department Supervisor or Principal. 



7-Page  

JURY DUTY 
Personnel selected to serve on a jury will receive their regular pay and will not be charged with 
personal leave, sick leave, or be docked in salary. Personnel serving on a jury shall turn in any 
moneys they receive as payment for jury duty to the District's central administrative offices. The 
employee may retain any mileage and/or travel allowances. Employees who are subpoenaed to 
appear in a matter in which said employee is not a party may continue to receive their regular 
salary during that time at the discretion of the Superintendent. 

 
KEYS AND ROOM SECURITY 
Personnel may be issued keys to their work area, file cabinets, etc. Students shall not be entrusted 
with school keys. If keys are lost (misplaced), the Department Supervisor should be notified 
promptly. When leaving a work area for an appreciable length of time, personnel should turn off 
the room lights, secure the windows, and lock the door(s). 

 
MEDICAL AND LIFE INSURANCE 
Currently, the Board provides major medical health insurance and $10,000 life insurance for all 
personnel who are considered full time and are normally expected to work thirty (30) hours or 
more per week. The health coverage program shall be the same as in effect for all certified 
personnel and shall be paid at the same percentage. Dependent coverage is available at the 
employee's expense. 

PAYROLL AND DIRECT DEPOSIT CHANGES 
Hourly and salaried personnel are paid every other week. 
Department supervisors and building principals will have copies of 
the Payroll Calendar indicating pay periods and pay dates for the 
current school year. 

Personnel who are paid on an hourly basis are responsible for turning 
in their time sheet to the Department Supervisor or building principal 
on the appropriate due dates. Payment is made every other week 
unless the payday falls on a holiday. In that case, payment will be 
made on the last workday prior to the holiday. 

 
In order to prevent instances of fraud, employees who wish to make changes to their direct deposit 
payroll information will be required to do so in person at the Mt. Zion Schools District Office. Please 
contact the Administrative Assistant to the Associate Superintendent for more information. 

PERSONAL LEAVE 
Recognizing that school employees may need to transact personal business on a work day, 
personnel shall be entitled to use two (2) days per year as personal leave with pay. Unused leave 
days may accumulate to a total of five (5). Employees shall have the option of having all or part 
of unused personal leave days transferred to sick leave. 

 
Written advance notice shall be presented to the employee's immediate supervisor for approval. 
Notice shall contain the date and time of the expected absence. 

Personal leave days may not be taken during the first or last three days of school or on the first 
working day preceding or following Thanksgiving, Winter, Spring vacations or other holidays when 
the district is not in session, except in emergency situations as approved by the Superintendent 
or designee for approval at his or her discretion (examples: medical, Act of God, etc.). 

PUBLIC RELATIONS 
Communication is the key to promoting positive public relations within the school community. 
Talking positively about the school in the community will also promote good school-community 
relations. 



8-Page  

PURCHASE ORDERS 
Requests for supplies, books, and supplementary materials are made through the Department 
Supervisor or building principal. Items of major importance should be anticipated in advance and 
requisitioned for insuring delivery during the summer months. No purchase will be honored by the 
District unless it is accompanied by a purchase order or purchase permit signed by the 
Department Supervisor. Staff may not purchase materials on their own and subsequently 
voucher the district for reimbursement without prior permission from their Department 
Supervisor. 

RESIGNATION AND RETIREMENT 
An employee is requested to provide 2 weeks' notice of a resignation to their immediate supervisor 
and the Superintendent of Schools; two months’ notice is requested for retirement. Letters of 
resignation/retirement should provide the date of termination and the employee's signature. 
Before the employee leaves the District, any keys issued to the employee should be returned to 
the supervisor. 

SAFETY 
All District operations, including the educational program, shall be conducted in a manner that will 
promote the safety of everyone on District property or at a District event. Employees are expected 
to notify their supervisor in writing of any safety issues in their work environment. 

SEXUAL ABUSE AND ASSAULT AWARENESS AND PREVENTION 
Prohibited grooming behaviors include, at a minimum, sexual misconduct. Sexual misconduct is 
(i) any act, including but not limited to, any verbal, nonverbal, written, or electronic communication 
or physical activity, (ii) by an employee with direct contact with a student, (iii) that is directed 
toward or with a student to establish a romantic or sexual relationship with the student. Examples 
include, but are not limited to: a sexual or romantic invitation, dating or soliciting a date, engaging 
in sexualized or romantic dialog, making sexually suggestive comments that are directed toward 
or with a student, self-disclosure or physical exposure of a sexual, romantic, or erotic nature, and 
a sexual, indecent, romantic, or erotic contact with the student. 

Counseling services and resources are available for children who are affected by sexual abuse, 
including both emotional and educational support for students affected by sexual abuse. Please 
contact the building principal for additional information and the availability of counseling and 
support services. 

SICK DAYS 
Full or part-time educational support staff who work at least 600 hours per year receive 12 paid 
sick leave days per year. Part-time employees will receive sick day pay equivalent to their regular 
work day. Unused sick leave shall accumulate to a maximum of 327 days, including the leave of 
the current year. 
Sick Leave includes personal illness, or as may be deemed 
necessary in other cases, quarantine at home, or serious illness, or 
death in the immediate family. The Superintendent and/or a 
designee shall monitor the use of sick leave. 

After 3 days absence for personal illness, or as it may be deemed 
necessary in other cases, the employee may be required to furnish 
a physician's or a spiritual advisor's certificate of treatment as a 
basis for pay. 

Use or possession of medical marijuana on school property or at 
school events is prohibited. 

 
 
 



9-Page  

STUDENT ONLINE PERSONAL PROTECTION ACT 
Staff should be familiar with the Student Online Personal Protection 
Act and their responsibilities to protect student information. More 
information on this can be found on the district’s website in the 
technology section or by contacting the Director of Curriculum and 
Technology. 
 
TECHNOLOGY 
Employee use of technology shall be in accordance with the acceptable use of computer network 
guidelines. All staff members must inform the Curriculum and Technology Director of any network 
password changes. In addition, all district employees who use personal technology and social 
media shall adhere to the high standards for appropriate school relationships and use a district 
provided method when possible to communicate with students and families. Use of personal 
technology should not interfere with the workday. 

TELEPHONE 
Personnel carrying personal cell phones should insure that the phone is turned off during work 
times. Personnel will not be able to use personal cell phones except during break periods when 
such use would not interfere with the regular work day. Telephone courtesy should be practiced 
at all times. When answering a telephone, identify yourself in a pleasing manner. 

Telephone facilities are required to conduct our school business during working hours. 
Occasionally, the circumstances come up where it is necessary to make or receive personal 
telephone calls during business hours, but calls should be limited in both length and frequency. 

TITLE IX SEXUAL HARASSMENT GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
Sexual harassment affects a student’s ability to learn and an employee’s ability to work. Providing 
an educational and workplace environment free from sexual harassment is an important District 
goal. The District does not discriminate on the basis of sex in any of its education programs or 
activities, and it complies with Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (Title IX) and its 
implementing regulations (34 C.F.R. Part 106) concerning everyone in the District’s education 
programs and activities, including applicants for employment, students, parents/guardians, 
employees, and third parties. 

 
A person who wishes to make a report under this Title IX Sexual Harassment grievance procedure 
may make a report to the Title IX Coordinator, Nondiscrimination Coordinator, Building Principal, 
Assistant Building Principal, a Complaint Manager, or any employee with whom the person is 
comfortable speaking. See District Policy 2:265 for more information. 
 
USE OF TOBACCO, ALCOHOL, OR MARIJUANA ON SCHOOL GROUNDS 
The use of tobacco (smoking and/or chewing), alcohol, or marijuana is prohibited on all school 
grounds and in school-owned vehicles. Tobacco, alcohol, or marijuana use by employees is 
prohibited in the presence of students while on duty or while acting in a supervisory capacity while 
off campus. All employees must adhere to state and federal laws related to the use of tobacco, 
alcohol, or marijuana on school grounds. 

VACATION 
Support personnel employed in 52-week positions shall be entitled to vacation days with pay, after 
working one (1) full year. The number of vacation days earned shall be in accordance with the 
following schedule: 

 
 
 
 
 
 



10-Page  

 
Vacation days earned are calculated and granted on June 30 each year based on the length of 
prior employment in the District through June 30. As stated in the policy manual, earned vacation 
days not taken during the 14-month period from July 1 through the following year's August 31 
shall be lost as a benefit and deducted from the employee's record of earned vacation days. 

 
Support personnel who begin their employment in the District on or before September 1, in any 
school fiscal year, shall have earned 10 vacation days and 1 full year of employment on the 
following June 30. 

 
Employees shall earn no vacation days for unpaid work days such as suspensions. 

Support personnel may take any or all of their earned vacation days at any time during the year 
subject to the approval of their supervisor. 

 
VISITORS 
All visitors must use the school's buzz-in system 
for entry into the school. Upon entering the 
school, visitors must immediately report to the 
office. All visitors must receive prior permission 
and receive a visitor badge from the office before 
proceeding to any part of the building. Visitors 
without badges should be redirected to the office 
and the office should be notified. 

 
Whenever there are visitors present, personnel 
should make them feel welcome. This is an 
important part of positive public relations with our 
community and parents. 

 
 
  

 

 
 
  



 
 

 

Mt. Zion School District #3 2025-2026 
 

 

November 2025  December 2025  January 2026 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

      1  1 2 3 4 5 6     1 2 3 
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 14 15 16 17 18 19] 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 28 29 30 31    25 26 27 28 29 30 31 
30  # attendance days: 16 # attendance days: 15 # attendance days: 18 

 

February 2026  March 2026  April 2026 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 5 6 7    1 2 3 4 
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 8 9 10 11 12 13] 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 

       29 30 31     26 27 28 29 30   
# attendance days: 19   # attendance days: 17  # attendance days: 20 

 

May 2026  June 2026 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su M T W Th F Sa 

     1 2  1 2 3 4 5 6 
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 
24 25 *26] 27 28 29 30 28 29 30     

31 # attendance days: 17 # attendance days:  
 

* First/Last Day for Students ] End of Quarter/Semester 
   No School/Non-Attendance Day 
    

 No School/Holiday  Half Day/School Improvement 
    

 No School/Teacher Institute Day  Half Day/Teacher In-Service 
    

 No School/Parent Teacher Conference Day  Make-up Days if Needed 

August 2025 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

     1 2 
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 

10 11 12 13 14 *15 16 
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 
31  # attendance days: 11 

 

September 2025 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 
7 8 9 10 11 12 13 

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 
28 29 30     

# attendance days: 21 
 

October 2025 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

   1 2 3 4 
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

12 13 14 15 16 17] 18 
19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
26 27 28 29 30 31  

# attendance days: 21 
 

11-Page 



 
 

Mt. Zion School District #3 2026-2027 

August 2026  September 2026  October 2026 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

      1    1 2 3 4 5      1 2 3 
2 3 4 5 6 7 8  6 7 8 9 10 11 12  4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15  13 14 15 16 17 18 19  11 12 13 14 15 16] 17 
16 *17 18 19 20 21 22  20 21 22 23 24 25 26  18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29  27 28 29 30     25 26 27 28 29 30 31 
30 31 # attendance days: 

 

 
 

11     
 

 
 

 # attendance days: 21  # attendance days: 20 
 

November 2026  December 2026  January 2027 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

          1 2 3 4 5       1 2 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7  6 7 8 9 10 11 12  3 4 5 6 7 8 9 
8 9 10 11 12 13 14  13 14 15 16 17 18] 19  10 11 12 13 14 15 16 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21  20 21 22 23 24 25 26  17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
22 23 24 25 26 27 28  27 28 29 30 31    24 25 26 27 28 29 30 
29 30 # attendance days: 

 

 
   

16  # attendance days: 14  31 # attendance days: 19 
 

February 2027  March 2027  April 2027 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

 1 2 3 4 5 6   1 2 3 4 5 6      1 2 3 
7 8 9 10 11 12 13  7 8 9 10 11 12] 13  4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
14 15 16 17 18 19 20  14 15 16 17 18 19 20  11 12 13 14 15 16 17 
21 22 23 24 25 26 27  21 22 23 24 25 26 27  18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
28        28 29 30 31     25 26 27 28 29 30  

# attendance days: 19  # attendance days: 17  # attendance days: 22 
 

May 2027  June 2027   
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su M T W Th F Sa     

      1    1 2 3 4 5     

2 3 4 5 6 7 8  6 7 8 9 10 11 12     

9 10 11 12 13 14 15  13 14 15 16 17 18 19     

16 17 18 19 20 21 22  20 21 22 23 24 25 26     

23 *24] 25 26 27 28 29 
 

 27 28 29 30        

30 31 # attendance days: 16                                # attendance days:      
 

*   First/Last Day for Students ]  End of Quarter/Semester  

            No School/Non-Attendance Day    
         
  No School/Holiday   Half Day/School Improvement  
         

  No School/Teacher Institute Day   Half Day/Teacher In-Service  
         
  No School/Parent Teacher Conference Day 

 
  Make-up Days if Needed  

 12-Page 



 
 

 

12-Page 



     
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

MT. ZION … 

a great place to LEARN 

 
"Working with families to fully develop every child's ability 

to be a lifelong learner and contributing member of society." 
 

Dr. Travis R. Roundcount, Superintendent of Schools 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
403(b) Participation .............................................................................................................. 3 
Accelerated Placement Program (APP) ................................................................................ 3 
Accidents and Injuries .......................................................................................................... 3 
Assembly Programs ............................................................................................................. 3 
Attendance ........................................................................................................................... 3 
Board Policies ...................................................................................................................... 3 
Building Hours/Faculty Meetings ........................................................................................ 3-4 
Co-Curricular Conflicts ......................................................................................................... 4 
Discipline Code ..................................................................................................................... 4 
Dismissal of Classes ............................................................................................................ 4 
Distribution of Materials ........................................................................................................ 4 
Early Dismissal of Students .................................................................................................. 4 
Emergency Procedures ........................................................................................................ 4 
Emergency School Closings ................................................................................................. 4 
Employee Code of Professional Conduct ............................................................................. 5 
Evaluations ........................................................................................................................... 5 
Extra Duty Pay ...................................................................................................................... 5 
Field Trips ......................................................................................................................... 5-6 
Financial Accounts ............................................................................................................... 6 
Forms and Procedural Bulletins............................................................................................ 6 
Fraud Reporting ................................................................................................................... 6 
General Teacher Information ............................................................................................ 6-7 
Grade Reporting ................................................................................................................... 7 
Graduate Hour Request ....................................................................................................... 7 
Homebound/Hospital Instruction Services ......................................................................... 7-8 
Identity Protection Policy ...................................................................................................... 8 
Illness ................................................................................................................................... 8 
Inventory .............................................................................................................................. 8 
Jury Duty .............................................................................................................................. 9 
Keys and Room Security ...................................................................................................... 9 
Lesson Plans ........................................................................................................................ 9 
Make-up Work/Incomplete Grades ....................................................................................... 9 
Medication ............................................................................................................................ 9 
Payroll - Direct Deposit Changes ......................................................................................... 9 
Professional Development ................................................................................................... 9 
Public Relations .................................................................................................................... 9 
Purchase Orders ................................................................................................................ 10 
Registration of Certificates ................................................................................................. 10 
Safety ................................................................................................................................. 10 
School Nurse/Health Records............................................................................................. 10 
Sexual Abuse and Assault Awareness and Prevention ...................................................... 10 
Student Handbooks ............................................................................................................ 10 
Student Online Personal Protection Act .............................................................................. 10 
Student Records/Files ........................................................................................................ 10 
Substitute Teacher Folder ............................................................................................. 10-11 
Supervision ........................................................................................................................ 11 
Technology ........................................................................................................................ 11 
Telephone .......................................................................................................................... 11 
Textbook Distribution .......................................................................................................... 11 
Title IX Sexual Harassment Grievance Procedure ........................................................ 11-12 
Use of Tobacco on School Grounds ................................................................................... 12 
Visitors ............................................................................................................................... 12 
2025-26 School Calendar……………………………………………... ................................. 13 
2026-27 School Calendar .................................................................................................. 14 
Building Directory ............................................................................................................... 15 

 



3-Page  

403(b) PARTICIPATION 
Employees who are not students and work at least 1,000 hours per year are eligible and may participate 
through a tax-sheltered annuity salary reduction. A 403(b) written plan document and enrollment forms 
for 403(b) deductions can be obtained from the District’s central administrative office. 

ACCELERATED PLACEMENT PROGRAM (APP) 
The District provides an Accelerated Placement Program (APP). The APP advances the District's goal 
of providing educational programs with opportunities for each student to develop to his or her maximum 
potential. Additional information or a copy of the APP policy, procedures, and deadlines can be obtained 
from any district administrator. The APP policy can also be found on the District website. 

ACCIDENTS AND INJURIES 
Injured students shall be taken to the office immediately so that proper first aid measures can be taken. 
If the injury is of such a nature that the student should not be moved, the nurse and/or office should be 
notified immediately. 

An accident report shall be completed for all accidents and injuries involving either students or adults. 
This information could be vital in case of subsequent insurance claims and/or litigation. 

A copy of the accident report and a student insurance claim form should be given to the parent/guardian 
or injured party at the time of the accident. 

ASSEMBLY PROGRAMS 
Teachers are expected to attend all school assemblies and help with the supervision of students. 
Should an assembly be scheduled during a teacher's prep period, the specialist responsible for that 
period will supervise the class. 

ATTENDANCE 
K-6 attendance shall be taken at the beginning of the school day and entered into Skyward. Students 
who are tardy should be recorded accordingly. Attendance slips must be submitted to the office first 
thing each morning. The office will update the attendance files for those students receiving "late passes" 
after the school day has started. 

 
7-12 attendance will be taken at the beginning of each period and entered into Skyward at the beginning 
of each class period. Students arriving late to school must present a pass from the office before they 
are admitted to class. Students shall never be allowed to take attendance. 

It is imperative that all teachers be extremely accurate in attendance taking to ensure accurate office 
records. 

 
Elementary Only: All notes from home should be turned in to the office with signed attendance sheets. 

 
BOARD POLICIES 
It is quite important that teachers become familiar with the Mt. Zion Board of Education Policy Manual. 
There are copies of this manual for review in the principal's office and the central administrative offices. 

 
BUILDING HOURS/FACULTY MEETINGS 
K-6 teachers are expected to be in their respective classrooms or assigned areas at 8:00 a.m. and 
remain after school until 3:30 p.m. 
7-12 teachers are expected to be on duty by 7:30 a.m. and remain after school until 3:00 p.m. 

 
Teachers are to attend all scheduled meetings. Unavoidable absences should be arranged in advance 
with the principal. In addition to the hours above, all teachers Pre-K-12 will have up to 60 minutes per 
month for meetings, plus two evening events per year. 

 
 
  



4-Page  

Leaving the Building During Working Hours: Should the 
need arise for a teacher to leave the building during school 
hours, prior permission shall be obtained from the building 
principal. 

CO-CURRICULAR CONFLICTS 
Sponsors and coaches of co-curricular activities will meet 
prior to the beginning of each season to discuss potential 
conflicts involving those students that participate in more 
than one activity. Once a decision is agreed upon, the 
sponsors should communicate their plan(s) to the student, 
parents and/or the administration (if appropriate). If 
resolution is not accomplished, the building principal will 
make the final decision. 

DISCIPLINE CODE 
The student discipline code is presented in the Student/Parent Handbook. Each teacher must become 
familiar with these regulations and follow them in all student discipline situations. 

DISMISSAL OF CLASSES 
Teachers must not dismiss their classes until the bell rings. Teachers dismiss classes, not the bell. 
All students should leave the classroom walking. 

It is important that teachers are present outside the door before and after each class to insure good 
discipline in the hallways. 

DISTRIBUTION OF MATERIALS 
Signs, posters, or notices may not be distributed or posted without prior permission from the 
Superintendent or designee. If an individual comes to your room to distribute any material, send him/her 
to the office. 

EARLY DISMISSAL OF STUDENTS 
For the general safety of all students, only the office will give permission for a student to leave the 
building during school hours. Parents must report to the office when requesting a child for early 
dismissal. DO NOT RELEASE ANY STUDENT TO ANY PERSON(S) WITHOUT SECURING 
PERMISSION FROM THE OFFICE! 

Students leaving early for dentist or doctor appointments must submit a note from a parent or guardian. 
All notes indicating early dismissal should be initialed by the teacher and sent to the office. The student 
will then be allowed to leave the premises. 

EMERGENCY PROCEDURES 
Emergency procedures must be posted in every room of attendance. If a student has a medical 
emergency, the teacher is to call 911 immediately. Students are to be informed of all procedures for 
fire, disaster, and evacuation. Drills will be held on various occasions. Each teacher should become 
familiar with the Safeplans Emergency document and follow it in all emergency situations. 

EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSINGS 
When the decision is made to close schools for the day, the District communication system will be 
activated. Staff will receive notification via home phone, cell phone, work phone and/or email. The 
building and/or department calling tree may also be activated. The closing will also be reported to WAND 
TV. 
School officials will make every attempt to determine (by 6:30 a.m.) if conditions call for school closing. 
If there is no announcement, schools will be open as usual. On days school begins later than usual, 
teachers will be expected to report at their regular assigned time or as soon as possible. 

 
 



5-Page  

EMPLOYEE CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT 
All District employees are expected to maintain high standards in their school relationships, to 
demonstrate integrity and honesty, to be considerate and cooperative, and to maintain professional and 
appropriate relationships with students, parents, staff members, and others. In addition, the Code of 
Ethics for Illinois Educators, adopted by the Illinois State Board of Education, is incorporated into this 
Code of Conduct. Any employee who sexually harasses a student, willfully or negligently fails to report 
an instance of suspected child abuse or neglect as required by the Abused and Neglected Child 
Reporting Act (325 ILCS 5/), engages in grooming as defined in 720 ILCS 5/11-25, engages in grooming 
behaviors, violates boundaries for appropriate school employee-student conduct, engages in sexual 
misconduct as defined in 105 ILCS 5/22-85.5, or otherwise violates an employee conduct standard will 
be subject to discipline up to and including dismissal. More information on this item can be obtained by 
any district administrator or found on our District website. 

 
Prohibited grooming behaviors include, at a minimum, sexual misconduct. Sexual misconduct is (i) any 
act, including but not limited to, any verbal, nonverbal, written, or electronic communication or physical 
activity, (ii) by an employee with direct contact with a student, (iii) that is directed toward or with a 
student to establish a romantic or sexual relationship with the student. Examples include, but are not 
limited to: a sexual or romantic invitation, dating or soliciting a date, engaging in sexualized or romantic 
dialog, making sexually suggestive comments that are directed toward or with a student, self-disclosure 
or physical exposure of a sexual, romantic, or erotic nature, and a sexual, indecent, romantic, or erotic 
contact with the student. 

EVALUATIONS 
Evaluation is recognized as an on-going procedure designed to improve the total educational program. 
The types and frequency of evaluations for both tenured and non-tenured teachers will be outlined by 
principals at the beginning of the school year as indicated in the District evaluation plan. Teacher job 
descriptions are included in the District's evaluation plan. A copy of the Certified Evaluation Plan in its 
entirety should be located in each building's teacher work room and may be perused or duplicated at 
will. 

EXTRA DUTY PAY 
The Extra Duty Pay categories and rates are as follows: 

 

Summer School, STEM Teacher, After School Tutor, Building Technology Assistant 
(SYSOP), At-school Homebound Teacher, Driving Teacher, HS Robotics, and Lego 
League 

$32.00/hour 

In-home Homebound Teacher $35.00/hour 
Saturday School, Fieldhouse Supervisor $27.00/hour 

 

FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE 
Eligible employees may use unpaid family and medical leave, guaranteed by the federal Family and 
Medical Leave Act, for up to a combined total of 12 weeks each year, beginning September 1 and 
ending August 31 of the next year. To be eligible for family and medical leave, an employee must have 
been employed by the District for at least 12 months and have been employed for at least 1,250 hours 
of service during the 12-month period immediately before the beginning of the leave. An employee must 
provide a certificate completed by the health care provider when requesting a FMLA leave if requested. 
Before returning to work, the employee may be required to obtain and present certification from the health 
care provider that he or she is able to resume work. For more information on family and medical leave, 
contact the District's central administrative offices. 

 
FIELD TRIPS 
The school is sometimes restricted in meeting many objectives of education because of limitations 
placed on the school environment. Some of these limitations may be removed by extending and 
supplementing classroom experiences through field trips. Trips should be planned far enough in 
advance so as to become an integral part of the educational program. 

https://www.mtzschools.org/Page/3720


6-Page  

The following procedures shall be followed by teachers planning field trips: 

 
1. Notify the principal in advance. 
2. Fill out a request for bus transportation at least two weeks prior to the field trip. 
3. As much information as possible concerning the trip shall be given to the student's parents by 

attaching it to a parental permission form. Suggested items to include: background information, 
destination, scheduled trip, unsupervised time (if any), route, departure time, place of departure, 
return time, point of return, participants transportation, drivers, chaperones, money needed, and 
appropriate dress. 

4. The teacher should furnish the office with a complete list of students attending the field trip at least 
72 hours in advance. 

5. Medical releases shall be filled out by the parents if the trip is an overnight trip. 
6. A teacher shall always have the responsibility of supervising and monitoring student behavior on 

field trips. 
7. If more than one bus is provided, there should be a teacher for each bus. 
8. The general conduct and attitude of those participating should reflect credit upon our school. All 

school rules and student handbook expectations apply during field trips. 
9. The teacher will take a head count before leaving the school to determine the total number of 

students on the bus. A head count shall be taken each time students leave or re-enter the bus as 
well as entering and leaving any facility on the field trip itinerary. 

 
FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS 
All money used for school clubs and student organizations must be handled through the building's 
activity fund. Money collected and/or earned by these student clubs shall be turned into the school 
secretary for deposit in the activity account. 

 
This money shall be deposited promptly to insure its safekeeping. Sponsors are responsible for the 
accounting of the monies collected. 

FORMS AND PROCEDURAL BULLETINS 
The following forms and procedural bulletins are available from principals for teachers. Teachers should 
become familiar with each of the following items: Accident Forms, Inventory Form, Emergency Drill 
Procedures, Emergency Personnel Form, Request for Transportation Form, and Graduate Credit 
Request Form. 

FRAUD REPORTING 
This statement is included in the employee handbook to make employees aware that the District will 
not tolerate activities which may be fraudulent and that reports will be investigated. Employees are 
under obligation to report any observed or suspected fraud to the Superintendent, Board of Education, 
or to BKD Integra Report at www.mtzschools.integrareport.com or 855-858-3344. All reports will be 
investigated and if any wrongdoing is founded disciplinary measures will be implemented. 

 
GENERAL TEACHER INFORMATION 
It is always necessary to have some rules and regulations in order to carry out an effective school 
program. Important areas include the following: 
 
1. Teachers are expected to be on time for school. Be on time to all duties assigned to you. You 

must be at your classroom when students arrive for classes. 
2. Be sure that students have enough to do...always challenge them to do their best. Idle students 

can become discipline problems. 
3. Be sure to keep control of your classroom right from the start...do not let it get away from you. 

Classroom discipline is part of your job. You are expected to handle all such cases, but if you 
have a difficult case, do not hesitate to ask for help. Set up a discipline plan and inform parents 
of your plan. 

4. Be sure to inform the office of any activities you are planning that will occur outside your 
classroom. 

https://mtzschools.integrareport.com/#landing


7-Page  

5. Group trips must be approved and planned in advance so that proper transportation arrangements 
can be made. Teachers must complete bus request forms and forward to building principals. The 
transportation office would like a one (1) week notice from the principal when scheduling buses. 

6. Keep a record of students’ work in your grade/record book. Have it available in a usable and 
understandable form at all times. Communicate with parents on a regular basis. 

7. A teacher is not to leave the classroom unattended. By law, teachers are regarded as individuals 
liable for negligence resulting from lack of supervision. If you must leave, ask another teacher to 
assume responsibility or notify the office and ask for assistance. 

8. Remember, the Administration is here to support you. Whenever you send a student to the 
principal’s office, be sure to check with him/her for disposition of the case. 

9. Once a student has been sent to the principal’s office, teachers are not to indicate to the student 
that he/she may be banned from returning to class. 

10. Teachers are not to shove, grab or use physical force with students in disciplinary situations. 
Needless to say, reasonable force shall only be used in breaking up a fight or protecting another 
student or yourself. Teachers shall not use profanity when dealing with students, including 
coaching situations.  The district’s Restraint and Time-Out (RTO) plan can be found on the district 
website for reference. 
 

GRADE REPORTING 
K-1 report cards will be sent home at the end of each 9-week period. Grades 2-12 report cards will be 
posted on Family Access each 9-week period. Specialists with grades that must be recorded on the 
report card should provide those grades for the classroom teachers at least 24 hours prior to 
distribution. The dates for the 9-week periods will be included on the annual school calendar. 

GRADUATE HOUR REQUEST 
Teachers should complete the Graduate Hour Request 
Form (see District website) to receive prior permission 
from the Superintendent to enroll in courses to advance 
on the salary schedule. In order to receive credit for 
graduate hours on the salary schedule, the teacher 
must provide the District Superintendent’s office with an 
official copy of the completed transcript indicating a 
grade B or higher. Therefore, courses taken Pass/Fail 
will not be included in movement on the salary schedule 
unless the University Policy indicates a Pass Course 
Grade equivalent to or above “B” work. An instructor’s 
letter doesn’t count as the University Policy. It is the 
teacher’s responsibility to know how the course grade 
will be posted and provide the Superintendent with the 
University Policy on Pass/Fail courses. Completed 
transcripts received by the Superintendent’s Office on or before the first Teacher Institute Day in August 
(considered the beginning of the current school year), will be applied to that school year’s salary 
schedule; reports received on or after the first day with students be applied to the following year’s salary 
schedule. An official transcript from an accredited university must be provided to the Superintendent 
upon completion of a Master’s Degree program, indicating Degree and date awarded. 

 
HOMEBOUND/HOSPITAL INSTRUCTION SERVICES 
At times during the year it becomes necessary to continue a student’s learning environment at home or 
in the hospital. If home or hospital instruction is needed, the following procedures will be followed. 
 
1. The principal will secure the home or hospital instructor. 
2. The principal will be responsible for seeing that the attendance is reported according to the Illinois 

State Board of Education regulations. 
3. The home instructor will be responsible for teaching the student at least one hour per day (or five 

hours per week) which includes lessons, assignments, and grades during the home/hospital period. 
Close cooperation should exist between the student's current teacher(s) and the home/hospital 



8-Page  

instructor. Grades given by the home/hospital instructor are to be forwarded to the student's 
teacher(s). If the home/hospital instructor has the student for less than eight weeks, his or her grade 
should be given by the regular teacher(s). For long-term home students, the home/hospital 
instructor should be responsible for the grade in consultation with his or her regular teacher(s). 

4. The principal, with the assistance of the special education staff, if applicable, will see that the proper 
forms are administered and received for each home/hospital student. 

 
IDENTITY PROTECTION POLICY 
The collection, storage, use, and disclosure of social security numbers by the School District shall be 
consistent with State and federal laws. The goals for managing the District’s collection, storage, use, 
and disclosure of social security numbers are to: 

 
1. Limit all activities involving social security numbers to those circumstances that are authorized by 

State or federal law. 
2. Protect each social security number collected or maintained by the District from unauthorized 

disclosure. 

The Superintendent is responsible for ensuring that the District complies with the Identity Protection 
Act, 5 ILCS 179/. Compliance measures shall include each of the following: 
 All employees having access to social security numbers in the course of performing their duties 

shall be trained to protect the confidentiality of social security numbers. Training should include 
instructions on the proper handling of information containing social security numbers from the time 
of collection through the destruction of the information. 

 Only employees who are required to use or handle information or documents that contain social 
security numbers shall have access to such information or documents. 

 Social security numbers requested from an individual shall be provided in a manner that makes 
the social security number easily redacted if the record is required to be released as part of a 
public records request. 

 When collecting a social security number or upon request by an individual, a statement of the 
purpose(s) for which the District is collecting and using the social security number shall be 
provided. 

 All employees must be advised of this policy’s existence and a copy of the policy must be made 
available to each employee. The policy must also be made available to any member of the public, 
upon request. 

 No District employee shall collect, store, use, or disclose an individual’s social security number 
unless specifically authorized by the Superintendent. 

ILLNESS 
Teachers unable to conduct classes due to illness shall notify their building principal on the preceding 
evening or before 6:00 a.m. Lesson plans, grade books, seating charts, etc., must be left available for 
the substitute so that an adequate job of teaching can be done. 

INVENTORY 
Care and Use of Equipment: 
 A running inventory is kept of all school property. Each teacher is responsible for items in the 

classroom. 
 Each teacher is responsible for keeping his/her room in a neat, orderly manner and for the 

safekeeping of furniture, maps, charts, and reference books in the room. Any serious damage to 
furniture or equipment should be reported to the office. 

 Each teacher is responsible for keeping food and drink off the computer tables. 
 Each teacher shall prohibit the use of floppy disks in computers. Exceptions will be made only for 

classes which require disk use i.e. CAD and then the disks must be CAREFULLY supervised. 
 All written requests for special work to be completed by maintenance personnel should be 

submitted to the building principal. 
 
 

JURY DUTY 



9-Page  

Personnel selected to serve on a jury will receive their regular pay and will not be charged with personal 
leave, sick leave, or be docked in salary. Personnel serving on a jury shall turn in any moneys they 
receive as payment for jury duty to the District's central administrative offices. The employee may retain 
any mileage and/or travel allowances. Employees who are subpoenaed to appear in a matter in which 
said employee is not a party may continue to receive their regular salary during that time at the 
discretion of the Superintendent. 
 
KEYS AND ROOM SECURITY 
Teachers will be issued keys to their room, desk, file cabinets, etc. Students shall not be entrusted with 
school keys. If keys are lost (misplaced), the principal should be notified promptly. During instructional 
day, and when leaving for the day, classroom door should be locked. 

 
LESSON PLANS 
Weekly lesson plans must be maintained by every teacher in the District. Daily plan books are 
distributed by principals at the beginning of each school year. Lesson plan books shall be easily found 
and available when needed for substitute teachers. 

 
MAKE-UP WORK/INCOMPLETE GRADES 
Teachers are responsible for providing the office with make-up/homework when requested. From time- 
to-time, parents telephone the school and request assignments to be picked up. This is an important 
public relations aspect of a teacher’s job. Parents of absent children who request assignments should 
be accommodated, whenever possible and/or practical. 

If a student is absent from class, it is his/her responsibility to make up the work missed, according to 
each individual teacher’s directions. All students will be able to make up work missed during an excused 
absence, provided it is made up within a reasonable period of time. A good “rule of thumb” is a ratio of 
two-to-one. It is the expectation that work that was due on one of the excused absence days should be 
turned in the first day of attendance when the student returns. New work that is assigned on one of the 
excused absence days should receive one day to gather the assignment(s) and one day for each 
excused absence to complete the work before unfinished work becomes a "0". 

 
No incompletes will be given at the end of a school year except in emergency situations due to accident 
or illness. 

MEDICATION 
The school nurse, school secretary, school principal, and/or assistant principal may administer 
medication only with specific directions from a physician. Medication should not be administered by 
other school staff, and all medication will be stored in a locked office. Use or possession of medical 
marijuana on school property or at school events is prohibited. 

 
PAYROLL - DIRECT DEPOSIT CHANGES 
In order to prevent instances of fraud, employees who wish to make changes to their direct deposit 
payroll information will be required to do so in person at the Mt. Zion Schools District Office. Please 
contact the Administrative Assistant to the Associate Superintendent for more information. 

 
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
At the discretion of the building administration, the District will budget a minimum of $200 for each 
teacher annually to be used for professional development. Sharing funds between teachers is allowed 
with the written request from all teachers involved. 

 
PUBLIC RELATIONS 
Communication with parents is the key to promoting positive public relations within the school 
community. A phone call and/or conference with the parents of those students experiencing academic 
difficulties or causing discipline problems will keep these parents informed and appreciative of our 
concern for their student’s welfare. Talking positively about the school in the community will also 
promote good school-community relations. 



10-Page  

PURCHASE ORDERS 
Requests for supplies, books, and supplementary materials are made through the principal’s office. 
Items of major importance should be anticipated in advance and requisitioned for insuring delivery 
during the summer months. No purchase will be honored by the District unless it is accompanied by a 
purchase order or purchase permit signed by the principal. 
Teachers may not purchase materials on their own and subsequently voucher the district for 
reimbursement without prior permission from their building principal. 

REGISTRATION OF CERTIFICATES 
Teachers are responsible for registering their teaching certificate(s) with the Regional Superintendent 
of Schools prior to the beginning of the school year. 

SAFETY 
All District operations, including the educational program, shall be conducted in a manner that will 
promote the safety of everyone on District property or at a District event. Employees are expected to 
notify their supervisor in writing of any safety issues in their work environment. 

SCHOOL NURSE/HEALTH RECORDS 
Health records are maintained for all District students. Teachers will receive a list of students with health 
conditions that could require emergency treatment. The nurse will prepare the annual list which will be 
available to staff members during the first couple of weeks of each school year. Teachers should refer 
health problems to the school nurse(s). 

SEXUAL ABUSE AND ASSAULT AWARENESS AND PREVENTION 
Prohibited grooming behaviors include, at a minimum, sexual misconduct. Sexual misconduct is (i) any 
act, including but not limited to, any verbal, nonverbal, written, or electronic communication or physical 
activity, (ii) by an employee with direct contact with a student, (iii) that is directed toward or with a 
student to establish a romantic or sexual relationship with the student. Examples include, but are not 
limited to: a sexual or romantic invitation, dating or soliciting a date, engaging in sexualized or romantic 
dialog, making sexually suggestive comments that are directed toward or with a student, self-disclosure 
or physical exposure of a sexual, romantic, or erotic nature, and a sexual, indecent, romantic, or erotic 
contact with the student. 

Counseling services and resources are available for children who are affected by sexual abuse, 
including both emotional and educational support for students affected by sexual abuse. Please contact 
the building principal for additional information and the availability of counseling and support services. 

 
STUDENT HANDBOOKS 
All teachers are given a copy of the District parent/student handbook at the beginning of each year. It 
is imperative that they become completely familiar with the rules and regulations contained in this 
booklet. 

STUDENT ONLINE PERSONAL PROTECTION ACT 
Staff should be familiar with the Student Online Personal Protection Act and their responsibilities to 
protect student information. More information on this can be found on the district’s website in the 
technology section or by contacting the Director of Curriculum and Technology. 

STUDENT RECORDS/FILES 
Unless granted prior permission from the building principal (or designees), all confidential student 
records and/or files should remain in a secured file cabinet (or vault) located in the main office. 

 
SUBSTITUTE TEACHER FOLDER 
Each teacher shall prepare a “substitute teacher folder” at the beginning of the year that will be available 
for substitutes when he/she is absent. 
 
 



11-Page  

This folder should include the following information: 
1. Guidelines for substitute teachers 
2. Master schedule and teacher’s schedule 
3. Teacher extra-duty assignments 
4. District handbooks 
5. Diagram of the school 
6. Time schedule for the day 
7. Seating chart(s) of all students in the class 
8. Routine procedures (students leaving for special reading, speech, L.D., etc.) 
9. Attendance procedures (attendance forms) 
10. Emergency procedures 
11. Lesson plans for the day 
12. Any other information pertinent to the success of the individual classes 

 
SUPERVISION 
Any time a teacher has a class or a small group of students, whether during the regular school day or 
after school, it is his/her responsibility to see that the students are supervised. Students kept after school 
or who come in for additional help must be supervised by the teacher. Teachers shall never leave a 
class unattended. It is essential that teachers report for all supervisory duties. Duty lists may be revised 
and placed in mailboxes. These duties could include detentions, bus duty, restroom/hallway supervision 
and supervision at assemblies. 

 
Teachers shall pay especially close attention to the use of computers. Teachers should report any 
suspicious activity i.e. "game playing" to the Curriculum and Technology Director, Technology 
Specialist, or Building Principal. NO outside material may be loaded on a computer by a student. 
Teachers should closely monitor all student Internet transactions. 

 
TECHNOLOGY 
Employee use of technology shall be in accordance with the acceptable use of computer network 
guidelines. All staff members must inform the Curriculum and Technology Director of any network 
password changes. In addition, all district employees who use personal technology and social media 
shall adhere to the high standards for appropriate school relationships and use a district provided 
method when possible to communicate with students and families. Use of personal technology should 
not interfere with the work day. 

 
TELEPHONE 
Except in emergency situations, telephone calls received will be forwarded to the teacher's voice mail. 
Teachers carrying personal cell phones should insure that the phone is turned off during 
class/supervision times. Teachers will not be able to use personal cell phones except during planning 
periods when such use would not interfere with the regular school day. 

 
TEXTBOOK DISTRIBUTION 
All textbooks are to be stamped and numbered. Each teacher is to maintain a list of textbooks issued 
to students, which includes the textbook number and the condition of the textbook (new, good, fair, 
poor). The student's name and date of issue should be written in ink when it is distributed. 

 
TITLE IX SEXUAL HARASSMENT GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
Sexual harassment affects a student’s ability to learn and an employee’s ability to work. Providing an 
educational and workplace environment free from sexual harassment is an important District goal. The 
District does not discriminate on the basis of sex in any of its education programs or activities, and it 



12-Page  

complies with Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (Title IX) and its implementing regulations 
(34 C.F.R. Part 106) concerning everyone in the District’s education programs and activities, including 
applicants for employment, students, parents/guardians, employees, and third parties. 
A person who wishes to make a report under this Title IX Sexual Harassment grievance procedure may 
make a report to the Title IX Coordinator, Nondiscrimination Coordinator, Building Principal, Assistant 
Building Principal, a Complaint Manager, or any employee with whom the person is comfortable 
speaking. See District Policy 2:265 for more information. 

 
USE OF TOBACCO, ALCOHOL, OR MARIJUANA ON SCHOOL GROUNDS 
The use of tobacco (smoking and/or chewing), alcohol, or marijuana is prohibited on all school grounds 
and in school-owned vehicles. Tobacco, alcohol, or marijuana use by employees is prohibited in the 
presence of students while on duty or while acting in a supervisory capacity while off campus. All 
employees must adhere to state and federal laws related to the use of tobacco, alcohol, or marijuana 
on school grounds. 

 
VISITORS 
All visitors must use the school's buzz-in system for entry into the school. Upon entering the school, 
visitors must immediately report to the office. All visitors must receive prior permission and receive a 
visitor badge from the office before proceeding to any part of the building. Visitors without badges 
should be redirected to the office and the office should be notified. 

 
Whenever there are visitors present, teachers should make them feel welcome. This is an important 
part of positive public relations with our community and parents. 

 



 

Mt. Zion School District #3 2025-2026 
 

 

November 2025  December 2025  January 2026 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

      1  1 2 3 4 5 6     1 2 3 
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 14 15 16 17 18 19] 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 28 29 30 31    25 26 27 28 29 30 31 
30  # attendance days: 16 # attendance days: 15 # attendance days: 18 

 

February 2026  March 2026  April 2026 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 5 6 7    1 2 3 4 
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 8 9 10 11 12 13] 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 

       29 30 31     26 27 28 29 30   
# attendance days: 19   # attendance days: 17  # attendance days: 20 

 

May 2026  June 2026 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su M T W Th F Sa 

     1 2  1 2 3 4 5 6 
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 
24 25 *26] 27 28 29 30 28 29 30     

31 # attendance days: 17 # attendance days:  
 

* First/Last Day for Students ] End of Quarter/Semester 
   No School/Non-Attendance Day 
    

 No School/Holiday  Half Day/School Improvement 
    

 No School/Teacher Institute Day  Half Day/Teacher In-Service 
    

 No School/Parent Teacher Conference Day  Make-up Days if Needed 
 

August 2025 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

     1 2 
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 

10 11 12 13 14 *15 16 
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 
31  # attendance days: 11 

 

September 2025 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 
7 8 9 10 11 12 13 

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 
28 29 30     

# attendance days: 21 
 

October 2025 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

   1 2 3 4 
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

12 13 14 15 16 17] 18 
19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
26 27 28 29 30 31  

# attendance days: 21 
 



 

Mt. Zion School District #3 2026-2027 

August 2026  September 2026  October 2026 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

      1    1 2 3 4 5      1 2 3 
2 3 4 5 6 7 8  6 7 8 9 10 11 12  4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15  13 14 15 16 17 18 19  11 12 13 14 15 16] 17 
16 *17 18 19 20 21 22  20 21 22 23 24 25 26  18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29  27 28 29 30     25 26 27 28 29 30 31 
30 31 # attendance days: 

 

 
 

11     
 

 
 

 # attendance days: 21  # attendance days: 20 
 

November 2026  December 2026  January 2027 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

          1 2 3 4 5       1 2 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7  6 7 8 9 10 11 12  3 4 5 6 7 8 9 
8 9 10 11 12 13 14  13 14 15 16 17 18] 19  10 11 12 13 14 15 16 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21  20 21 22 23 24 25 26  17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
22 23 24 25 26 27 28  27 28 29 30 31    24 25 26 27 28 29 30 
29 30 # attendance days: 

 

 
   

16  # attendance days: 14  31 # attendance days: 19 
 

February 2027  March 2027  April 2027 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

 1 2 3 4 5 6   1 2 3 4 5 6      1 2 3 
7 8 9 10 11 12 13  7 8 9 10 11 12] 13  4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
14 15 16 17 18 19 20  14 15 16 17 18 19 20  11 12 13 14 15 16 17 
21 22 23 24 25 26 27  21 22 23 24 25 26 27  18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
28        28 29 30 31     25 26 27 28 29 30  

# attendance days: 19  # attendance days: 17  # attendance days: 22 
 

May 2027  June 2027   
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su M T W Th F Sa     

      1    1 2 3 4 5     

2 3 4 5 6 7 8  6 7 8 9 10 11 12     

9 10 11 12 13 14 15  13 14 15 16 17 18 19     

16 17 18 19 20 21 22  20 21 22 23 24 25 26     

23 *24] 25 26 27 28 29 
 

 27 28 29 30        

30 31 # attendance days: 16                                # attendance days:      
 

*   First/Last Day for Students ]  End of Quarter/Semester  

            No School/Non-Attendance Day    
         
  No School/Holiday   Half Day/School Improvement  
         

  No School/Teacher Institute Day   Half Day/Teacher In-Service  
         
  No School/Parent Teacher Conference Day 

 
  Make-up Days if Needed  



 

 

>>> Building Directory 

McGaughey Elementary School Grades: Pre-K-1 
1320 W. Main St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: 864-2711 
Fax: 864-4126 

Office Hours: 7:30 am - 4:00 pm 
Principal: Heather Ethell, ethellh@mtzschools.org 
Lead Secretary: Kaye Moran 
9-month Secretary: tbd 

Mt. Zion Grade School Grades 2-3 
725 W. Main St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: 864-3631 
Fax: 864-6131 

Office Hours: 7:30 am - 4:00 pm 
Principal: Gary Gruen, grueng@mtzschools.org 
Lead Secretary: Sheila Drum 
9-month Secretary: Amber Shobe 

Mt. Zion Intermediate School Grades 4-6 
Grades 
2-3 

310 S. Henderson St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: 864-2921 
Fax: 864-5175 

Office Hours: 7:30 am - 4:00 pm 
Principal: Randall Thacker, thackerr@mtzschools.org 
Lead Secretary: Denise Flexser 
9-month Secretary: Penny Davis 

Mt. Zion Jr High School Grades 7-8 
315 S. Henderson St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: 864-2369 
Fax: 864-6829 

Office Hours: 7:00 am - 3:30 pm 
Principal: Julie Marquardt, marquardtj@mtzschools.org 
Secretary: Apryl Stewart 

Mt. Zion High School Grades 9-12 

315 S. Henderson St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: 864-2363 
Fax: 864-5815 

Office Hours: 7:00 am - 3:45 pm 
Principal: Justin Johnson, johnsonj@mtzschools.org 
Assistant Principal:  Robert Prange, pranger@mtzschools.org 
Athletic Director: Diann Durbin, durbind@mtzschools.org 
Lead Secretary: Laura Beyers 
9-month Athletic Secretaries: Rebecca Finch and Rachel Hull 
9-month Guidance Secretary/Registrar: Tracy Oliver 

District Food Service District Transportation 
Office Hours: 6:30 am - 3:00 pm 
315 S. Henderson St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: (217) 864-2114 
Fax: (217) 864-5815 
Co-Directors: Pam Mitchell, mitchellp@mtzschools.org 
                      Nancy Jesse, jessen@mtzschools.org 

Office Hours: 6:00 am - 4:30 pm 
455 W. Elm St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: (217) 864-5233 
Director: Paul Reeve, reevep@mtzschools.org 
Office Coordinator: Lori Martz 

BASAP Superintendent’s Office 
Hours: 6:15 am - 8:00 am; 3:15 pm - 6:00 pm 
Phone: (217) 864-2814 (McGaughey) 
 (217) 864-3017 (Mt. Zion Grade) 
Director: Shirley Johnson: johnsonsh@mtzschools.org 
Lead BASAP Assistant (MZG): Karen Tharp 
 
 
  

Office Hours: 7:30 am - 4:30 pm 
1595 W. Main St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: (217) 864-2366 
Superintendent: Dr. Travis Roundcount, tr@mtzschools.org 
Associate Superintendent: Brian Rhoades, bmr@mtzschools.org 
Secretary to the Superintendent: Nicole Green 
Secretary to the Associate Superintendent: Kelly Cannon 
Payroll Secretary: Paula Cawthon 

mailto:ethellh@mtzschools.org
mailto:grueng@mtzschools.org
mailto:thackerr@mtzschools.org
mailto:marquardtj@mtzschools.org
mailto:johnsonj@mtzschools.org
mailto:reevep@mtzschools.org
mailto:tr@mtzschools.org
mailto:bmr@mtzschools.org


Memorandum 

TO: BOARD OF EDUCATION 

FROM: TRAVIS R. ROUNDCOUNT 

DATE: MAY  28, 2025 

RE: FIRST READING – 2025-2026 DISTRICT HANDBOOK CHANGES 

Administrative recommendation: that the First Reading of the Mt. Zion School District Handbook be 
approved with changes as indicated on the attachment. 

Comments: the proposed changes to be made in the Mt. Zion School District Handbook are attached. 
The handbooks and calendars will only be printed and distributed upon request since the document is 
available electronically via the District website and online registration. 

The Student Handbook Committee is composed of board members, teachers, administrators, parents, 
and students. 

TRR nmg 

Enclosure 



Mt. Zion District Handbook Suggestion & Rationale  ’25-‘26 

1st Reading 
Page 

# 
Topic Change/Addition Rationale 

2-5 Table of Contents 1. Page number changes as 
necessary for the document 

1. Accuracy 

6 Names 1. Update personnel 1. Updated as needed for new hires 

7-8  Calendar 1. 26-27 Calendars 1. Proposed 26-27 Calendar  

12 Home School 
Athletic 

Participation 

1. Home school participation 
is subject per 
Administrative guidelines 
provided on the district 
website.  

1. Administrative review of policy per 
community request 

14 Athletic State 
Sendoffs 

1. Adding language for 
procedures of police/fire 
escorts for teams 

1. This language best reflects the past 
practice administration has used in the 
past. It also adds clarity for all involved.  

15 Absence 
Procedures 

1. Changing language to 
reflect that medial notes 
should be received,  not 
must 

1. This language mirrors current practices for 
office personnel. Also, allows for most 
accurate attendance reporting.  

16 Appointments 1. Remove language 
regarding appointment 
form 

1. This form is no longer used 

18 Bicycles 1. Adding language regarding 
eclectic powered bicycles 

1. This is to reflect the changes in equipment 
that students may use to get to school. 

20 Bus Discipline 1. Including language on 
nicotine and THC 

1. This is added to reflect the changes in 
types of products that are not school 
appropriate and illegal for minors to 
possess 

21 Food Service 1. Add language regarding 
school menus for the day 
and week following an 
emergency school closure 

1. This is to provide clarity for families for 
lunch planning. 

21 Lunch & Breakfast 
Prices 

1. Remove language 1. Redundant language, provided in another 
area 

23 College Entry 
Exams 

1. Modifying language to 
change SAT to ACT 

1. This reflects the change in state required 
testing 



Mt. Zion District Handbook Suggestion & Rationale  ’25-‘26 

23-28 Computer 
Network 

1. Removing language and 
adding new to reflect the 
change to Digital 
Citizenship 

1. This is to reflect the changes in technology 
and the district’s approach to inclusion of 
new technology such as AI 

35 Rule 35 1. Including language on 
nicotine 

1. This is added to reflect the changes in 
types of products that are not school 
appropriate and illegal for minors to 
possess 

36 Dress 1. Adding language on hoods 1. Including for consistency and educational 
reasons 

38 Emergency 
Closings 

1. Removing language of 
stations 

1. Some of these stations have changed and 
no longer report our closures - The use of 
alternative methods is more efficient 

39 Exam Waivers 1. Including nicotine in the 
behavior requirements 

1. This is added to reflect the changes in 
types of products that are not school 
appropriate and illegal for minors to 
possess 

39-41 Fees 1. Updating the fees 1. Accuracy 

44 MTZ Foundation 1. Update link to page 1. Accuracy 

67 Testing 1. Modifying language to 
change SAT to ACT 

1. This reflects the change in state required 
testing 

67 Suicide and 
Depression 
Awareness 

1. New language 1. ISBE Requirement 

67 Surveillance / 
Emergency 
Equipment 

1. Including language on vape 
detectors 

1. Administration is investigating 
implementation of this equipment 

68 In School 
Suspension 

1. Modify Rules and 
procedures 

1. Changes to schedule to match updates to 
school bell schedule 

70 Tuition Students 1. New language  1. Administration recommendation on the 
number of tuition families to Mt. Zion 

 





MT. ZION  . . . 
a great place to LEARN 

 

 
MT. ZION SCHOOL DISTRICT #3 

HANDBOOK/CALENDAR 
2024-2025 2025-2026 

 
 

Dr. Travis R. Roundcount, 
District Superintendent 

 
 
 

 



1 
 
 

 
Dear Parents, 

 
This publication places in one concise guide much of the information which you will want or need to 
know about the Mt. Zion Community Schools for the current school year. It contains the rules, 
regulations, procedures, and many of the activities that take place in our school system. 

 
This handbook is only a summary of Board policies and may be changed during the year without 
notice. The handbook cannot possibly cover all potential scenarios that may evolve during the 
course of the school year and is not intended to limit administrators' authority to address matters 
that may not be specifically identified in the handbook. 

 
While this guide is comprehensive, you may have questions which it has not addressed; feel free to 
contact the principal of the building which your student attends for clarification. 

 
Supportive community members, hard-working students and a dedicated staff and Board of 
Education can take pride in knowing they have contributed to quality education for students in the 
Mt. Zion Community Unit School District #3. 

 
Together, we can become an integral part of one of the most important responsibilities of society, 
the education of our youth. 

 

We look forward to the challenges of another year!  
Dr. Travis R. Roundcount 

Superintendent of Schools 
 

 

 
Mt. Zion School Song 

 
 

On Mt. Zion, On Mt. Zion 
Charge right down that field 
Kick the ball right through the goal post 
Touchdown sure this time 
Rah! Rah! Rah! 

Refrain: 
On Mt. Zion, On Mt. Zion 
Fight on for your fame 
Fight, fellows, fight 
and we will win this game. 
Rah! Rah! (clap, clap, clap) 
Rah! Rah! (clap, clap, clap) 
Rah! Rah! (clap, clap, clap) 
Say team rah! 

On Mt. Zion, On Mt. Zion 
Run right down the floor 
Put the ball right through the basket 
Now we’re sure to score 
Rah! Rah! Rah! 
Refrain 



2 
 
 

Table of Contents  

2024-25 2025-26 SCHOOL CALENDAR 7 

2025-26 2026-27 SCHOOL CALENDAR 8 

ACCIDENT/ILLNESS 9 

ALCOHOL/DRUG POLICY 9 

ASBESTOS MATERIALS 9 

ASSIGNMENT/ PASSBOOK GUIDELINES (Grades 7-12) 9 

ATHLETIC CODE - STUDENTS 9-10 

ATTENDANCE REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 14-17 

BACCALAUREATE AND COMMENCEMENT 18 

BACKPACKS AND BOOK BAGS 18 

BAND INSTRUMENTS AND INSURANCE 18 

BICYCLES AND WALKING TO SCHOOL 18 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 6 

BUILDING INFORMATION 6 

BULLYING 18-20 

BUS DISCIPLINE 20 

CAFETERIA 20-22 

CLASS CHANGES 22 

CLOSED CAMPUS 23 

CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES, CODES, CONFLICTS 23 

COLLEGE ENTRY EXAMS AND INFORMATION 23 

COMPUTER NETWORK SYSTEM 23-26 

CONCUSSIONS AND HEAD INJURIES 26 

CRISIS MANAGEMENT 26 

DANCES 26 

DELIVERIES 26 

DETENTIONS 26 



3 
 

 
DIGITAL CITIZENSHIP POLICY 27 
DIRECTORY INFORMATION 27 

DISCIPLINE CODE OF CONDUCT - STUDENTS 27-28 

DISCIPLINE POLICY & PROCEDURES FOR STUDENTS 28-34 

DRESS AND APPEARANCE 34 

DUAL CREDIT STUDENTS 34 

EARLY BIRD 36 

ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENT POLICY 36 

EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSINGS 36 

EQUAL EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES 36 

EXAM WAIVER PRIVILEGE - MT. ZION HIGH SCHOOL 36-37 

EXCHANGE PROGRAMS 37 

FAMILY ACCESS PROGRAM 37 

FEES 37-41 

FIELD TRIP TRANSPORTATION / OVERNIGHT TRIPS 41 

FUNDRAISING 42 

GRADE REPORTING 42 

GRADES 42-43 

GRADUATION HONORS 43 

GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS 43-45 

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE- DISCRIMINATION 45 

HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE 45 

HEALTH/MEDICAL 45-49 

HEARTLAND TECHNICAL ACADEMY 35 

HOMELESS STUDENTS - RIGHTS 49 

HOMEWORK 49 

HONORS AND AWARDS 49 

IESA ELIGIBILITY RULES 10-11 

IHSA ELIGIBILITY RULES 11-14 

INDEPENDENT STUDY COURSES 49-50 



4 
 

INFORMATION SHARING 23 
INSURANCE - SUPPLEMENTAL STUDENT ACCIDENT 50 

LIBRARIES 50 

LOCKERS 50-51 

LOST AND FOUND 51 

MT. ZION FOUNDATION FOR QUALITY EDUCATION 41-42 

NATIONAL HONOR SOCIETY SELECTION PROCEDURES 51-52 

PASSES 52 

PASSIVE ALCOHOL SENSOR/HAND HELD METAL DETECTOR 52 

PEST MANAGEMENT 51 

PHYSICAL EDUCATION 52-53 

POSTERS/CIRCULARS 53 

PUBLICATIONS 53 

RECESS/P.E. K-6 53 

RECORDS ACCESS - STUDENTS 53-55 

RECORDS ACCESS - FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY 
ACT 

 
55-58 

RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS 58-59 

RESPECT FOR PEERS/PROPERTY 59 

RETENTION 59 

RICHLAND TRANSFER ACADEMY 35 

SAFETY DRILLS 59 

SCHOOL COUNSELORS 59-60 

SCHOOL HOURS 15 

SEARCH AND SEIZURE 60 
SEXUAL ABUSE AND ASSAULT AWARENESS AND PREVENTION 
EDUCATION 60 

SEX EDUCATION 60 

SEX OFFENDER NOTIFICATION 60-61 

SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY 61-63 

SNACKS-CLASSROOM (Grades K-6) 63 

SOCIAL SERVICES 63 

SPECIAL EDUCATION 63-64 



5 
 

STATE TESTING 64-65 
 
 

SUICIDE AND DEPRESSION AWARENESS AND PREVENTION                                              65 
 
SURVEILLANCE/EMERGENCY EQUIPMENT 65 

SUSPENSION OR EXPULSION AND RIGHT TO HEARING 65-67 

TEEN DATING VIOLENCE 67 

TELEPHONE 67 

THERAPY DOGS 67 

TRANSPORTATION - NOTICE TO PARENTS/GUARDIANS 67-68 

VALUABLES 68 

VEHICLE RULES AND REGULATIONS 68 

VEHICLE PARKING RULES AND REGULATIOND 68-69 

VISITATION RIGHTS OF PARENTS 69 

VISITORS - SCHOOL VISITS 69 

WEAPONS POLICY 69 

WEIGHTED GRADES 69 

WITHDRAWING FROM SCHOOL 69-70 

WORK PERMITS 70 
 

The District Administration has the ability to change policies 
in the handbook as circumstances dictate. 

 
 
 
 
 
  



6 
 
 

 
 

MT. ZION BOARD OF EDUCATION 
Mr. Jeffrey Sams, President 
Mr. Nathan Brock, Vice President  
Ms. Michelle Shumaker, Secretary  
Ms. Regan Deering 
Mr. Kyle Janvrin, Vice President  
Mr. Kent Newton  
Ms. Kristi Niles 
Mr. Eric Law 
 
DISTRICT CENTRAL OFFICE 
Superintendent: 
Dr. Travis R. Roundcount  
Associate Superintendent:  
Mr. Brian M. Rhoades  
1595 W.Main St. Mt. Zion, IL 62549  
Phone: 864-2366 
Email: tr@mtzschools.org   
Email: bmr@mtzschools.org  
 
MT. ZION GRADE (Gr 2 - 3) 
Mr. Gary Gruen, Principal 
725 W. Main St., Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1335  
Phone: 864-3631 Fax: 864-6131 
Email: grueng@mtzschools.org  
 
MT. ZION INTERMEDIATE (Gr 4 - 6) 
Mr. Randall Thacker, Principal  
Ms. Renea Smith, Special Education Administrator & 
District PUNS Coordinator 
310 S. Henderson St., Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: 864-2921 Fax: 864-5175 
Email: thackerr@mtzschools.org  
Email: smithr@mtzschools.org  
   
DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION 
Mr. Paul Reeve, Director 
455 Elm St., Mt. Zion, IL 62549  
Phone: 864-5233 Fax: 864-3621 
Email: reevep@mtzschools.org  
 
MT. ZION JR. HIGH (Gr 7 - 8) 
Ms. Julie Marquardt, Principal 
Mr. William Rockey, Curriculum & Technology Director  
Ms. Kelly Fox, Dean of Students 
315 S. Henderson St., Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: 864-2369 Fax: 864-6829 
Email: marquardtj@mtzschools.org   
Email: rockeyw@mtzschools.org  
Email: foxk@mtzschools.org  
 
 
 

 
 
DISTRICT FOOD SERVICE 
Ms. Darcie Hayes, Director 
Ms. Nancy Jesse, Co-Director 
Ms. Pam Mitchell, Co-Director 
305 S. Henderson St., Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1323 
Phone: 864-9450 Fax: 864-5815 
Email: hayesd@mtzschools.org 
jessen@mtzschools.org 
mitchellp@mtzschools.org 
              
BASAP (Before and After School Program) 
Mrs. Marie Johnson, Director 1320 West Main St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1348 
Email: johnsonsh@mtzschools.org 
Phone: 864-2814 (McG) or 864-3017 (MZG) 
Program Sites: McGaughey & Mt. Zion Grade 
 
MCGAUGHEY ELEMENTARY (Gr Pre-K - 1) 
Ms. Heather Ethell, Principal 
1320 W. Main St., Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1348  
Phone: 864-2711 Fax: 864-4126 
Email: ethellh@mtzschools.org  
 
MT. ZION HIGH SCHOOL (Gr 9-12) 
Mr. Justin Johnson, Principal 
Mr. Ben Davis Robert Prange, Assistant Principal  
Mr. Robert Prange Mrs. Diann Durbin, Athletic Director 
305 S. Henderson St., Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1323 
Phone: 864-2363 Fax: 864-5815 
Email: johnsonj@mtzschools.org   
Email: davisb@mtzschools.org  
pranger@mtzschools.org  
Email: pranger@mtzschools.org 
durbind@mtzschools.org  
 
NONDISCRIMINATION COORDINATORS, 
COMPLAINT MANAGERS, & TITLE IX 
COORDINATORS 
Mr. Brian Rhoades, Associate Superintendent Phone: 
864-2366 
Email: bmr@mtzschools.org  
Mrs. Julie Marquardt, Junior High Principal 
Phone: 864-2369 

Email: marquardtj@mtzschools.org

mailto:tr@mtzschools.org
mailto:bmr@mtzschools.org
mailto:grueng@mtzschools.org
mailto:thackerr@mtzschools.org
mailto:smithr@mtzschools.org
mailto:reevep@mtzschools.org
mailto:marquardtj@mtzschools.org
mailto:rockeyw@mtzschools.org
mailto:foxk@mtzschools.org
mailto:hayesd@mtzschools.org
mailto:jessen@mtzschools.org
mailto:mitchellp@mtzschools.org
mailto:ethellh@mtzschools.org
mailto:johnsonj@mtzschools.org
mailto:davisb@mtzschools.org
mailto:pranger@mtzschools.org
mailto:pranger@mtzschools.org
mailto:durbind@mtzschools.org
mailto:bmr@mtzschools.org
mailto:marquardtj@mtzschools.org


7 
 

 



8 
 

 
 
 

 



9 
 

ACCIDENT/ILLNESS 
Any illness or injury should be reported to the office. If the injury or illness appears to warrant it, parents will be contacted for 
information and instruction. It is important that all pertinent information regarding home address, home phone number, 
parents’ place of employment and employment phone numbers, as well as emergency contacts, be kept current should 
emergencies arise. 

 
Parents of students with special medical needs (e.g., hemophilia, diabetes, epilepsy, etc.) should inform the school nurse or 
building principal of such conditions so that appropriate action may be taken when and if necessary. Information pertaining 
to health conditions and/or physical restrictions should be supplied by the student’s physician. 

 
ALCOHOL/DRUG POLICY 
Any student exhibiting signs of possessing, using, selling, buying, transmitting, or secreting any alcoholic beverage, 
narcotic or hallucinogenic drug, marijuana (including medically prescribed unless the student is authorized to be 
administered a medical cannabis infused product under Ashley’s law), barbiturate, amphetamine, intoxicant, 
inhalant, drug paraphernalia, and/or any other controlled substance including any look-alike drug and/or look-alike 
non-alcoholic beverage, while on the campus, at a school activity, or in a vehicle used for transportation to school 
jurisdiction, shall be subject to discipline, including possible suspension/expulsion. The sale, distribution, intent to 
sell or deliver drugs including look-alike drugs and alcohol in the school building, on campus, school activity, or in 
a vehicle used for transportation to school and parked on or in the vicinity of the campus or at any time under school 
jurisdiction is prohibited. Police or juvenile authorities and the Superintendent of Schools shall be notified. 

 
NOTICE TO PARENTS/STUDENTS RE: ASBESTOS MATERIALS 
This section is to inform the students, parents, and building occupants that the District’s Asbestos Management Plan is 
available for review at the Office of the Superintendent. As required by the Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act 
(AHERA), our buildings were inspected for asbestos and a Plan to Manage building materials having asbestos was 
developed. AHERA also requires a periodic surveillance every six months and a complete reinspection of the buildings every 
three years. To review the most recent surveillance and reinspection call the school superintendent at (217) 864-2366 to 
schedule an appointment. 

 
ASSIGNMENT/ PASSBOOK GUIDELINES (Grades 7-12) 
The assignment/passbook is an attempt to help students better organize their day through the use of a calendar planner. 
Each student will be given an assignment book on the first day of school. 

a) If a student loses an assignment book it will cost $10 to replace it and he or she may lose some or all passes for that 
quarter. 

b) Each student will be given 2 days to either find, or replace his or her book. (During the time the student has no 
assignment book, no passes will be given.) 

ATHLETIC CODE - STUDENTS 
Academics 
The academic eligibility policy as stated in the IHSA and IESA Eligibility Rule sections of the Student/Parent Handbook will 
be strictly adhered to. The primary responsibility of a Mt. Zion athlete is his/her academics. In addition, high school athletes 
must meet IHSA Athletic Eligibility rules printed at the bottom of this section. 

 
5th & 6th Grade Extra-Curricular Participation 
All students in grades 5-6 are eligible to participate in Jr. High Athletics if the administration determines that the use of 5-6 
graders is warranted. 

 
Requirements Before Participation 
Co-curricular participants are required to be full time students in the Mt. Zion School District grades 5-12. Students are 
required to submit the following information to the coach and/or Athletic Director prior to the beginning of participation: 

A. All athletic forms provided via online registration. 
B. Athletic Participation Fee Receipt (or waiver) 
C. Current Physical Examination Form - this is good for 395 days from the date of his/her physical exam. This form must 

be completed by an Illinois licensed physician and must be turned in prior to tryouts for all sports, including 
cheerleading and pom pons and show choir. 

D. Birth Certificate 



10 
 

Late Tryouts 
Late tryouts will be permitted under the following circumstances: 

1) Student injury and/or illness - the student or parent must notify the Coach or Athletic Director in advance that the 
athlete will not be able to begin the season because of an injury (illness). 

2) The student moves into the Mt. Zion District (or enrolls late) after the season has started. 
3) A family commitment - the student must obtain approval from the Coach or Athletic Director before missing the first 

practice. 
4) Conflict with another school activity - the student must notify the Coach or Athletic Director of the conflict prior to 

missing the first practice. 

Exceptions may be made by the Athletic Director or the building Administrator, but shall be approved prior to the start of 
the season so that plans can be made accordingly. 

 
Athletic Equipment Use 
Mt. Zion athletic equipment should not be worn in gym classes or elsewhere, other than in regular athletic contests 
or scheduled practices, unless directed by the Coach. 

 
Athletes are responsible for all equipment and clothing issued to them or entrusted to them for their use. Damages or 
lost articles must be paid for at replacement cost. 

 
Student/Athlete Rules of Conduct 
All students/athletes must adhere to the rules and regulations of the Mt. Zion Co-Curricular Code distributed through online 
registration and electronically signed by parents at the beginning of each school year. The Co-Curricular Code will be enforced 
24/7 365 days. 

 
Suspension and Expulsion 
Suspension, expulsion, and right to hearing procedures, as stated in the District Student/Parent Handbook and other 
publications as may be promulgated, will apply to athletic disciplinary situations. 

 
Athletic Participation Fee 
During the school year, all athletes must pay a participation fee. The cost of the athletic participation fee is $40 per student/per 
sport for students in grades 5-8, and the fee is $60 per student/per sport for High School students. There will be a $260 
annual maximum limit on participation fees for a family. The fee must be paid before a student is allowed to try out for a sport. 

 
If the athletic participation fee cannot be paid and the student wishes to participate in a sport, he/she should contact the 
Athletic Director or Principal. 

 
If the student decides to quit the sport, a refund of the participation fee will be given up until the first game. No refunds will be 
given after the first game or competition. 

 
IESA ELIGIBILITY RULES 

2.40 SCHOLASTIC STANDING 
2.41 All contestants shall be in grades five through eight and shall not have passed eighth-grade standing. At no time, 

may a student who is in fourth grade or lower practice or participate with a member school. 
2.42 A student shall be doing passing work as determined by the local school district in all school subjects and the 

school 
shall certify compliance with this By-Law. Use of a player, contestant, or participant shall be deemed such 
certification. 

2.43 For all IESA activities, athletic as well as non-athletic, passing work shall be checked weekly. Eligibility will be 
applied to the Monday through Saturday following the week that was checked. Students must be passing each 
subject each week to be eligible. Grades shall be cumulative for the school's grading period. 

2.44 The eligibility check shall be the same day each week unless school is not in session; then it must be taken on the 
last day of student attendance that week. 

2.45 For fall sports, the first eligibility check shall be made following the first full week of attendance at the beginning of 
the school year. During the succeeding weeks of the school year, the eligibility check shall begin the week prior to 
the first contest in an activity. 

2.46 In cases where a contest has been postponed or re-scheduled, the current week eligibility shall be used to determine 
a student's eligibility. For example, a contest is scheduled to be played on Tuesday and because of poor weather, 
the contest is rescheduled for two weeks later. A student who was grade eligible for the originally scheduled game 



11 
 

but is ineligible during the week of the rescheduled game is not eligible. Conversely, a student who was ineligible 
the week of the originally scheduled game and is grade eligible the week of the rescheduled contest is eligible to 
play. 

2.50 RESIDENCE 
2.51 A student shall be eligible if he/she attends the member school in the district in which he/she resides. 
2.52 If the parents of a student move from one school district to another during the school year, the student may 

retain eligibility for the remainder of the school year provided the student continues to attend the school in the district 
from which the parents moved. 

2.53 In cases where ISBE has granted a legislative waiver for children of staff members to attend the school tuition-free, 
the student shall have eligibility at his/her school of attendance within the district where the parent/guardian is a full- 
time staff member 

2.54 Tuition students may participate in interscholastic activities at the member school they are actually attending, 
providing that such nonresident students are paying 100% of the tuition cost as provided in the Illinois School Code. 

2.55 Students in special education classes have the option of participating for their home school district, which is counting 
their attendance, and receiving state aid for them or at the attendance center of their special education class. Once 
the student has chosen the option, it will not be changed unless the student's special education Individualized 
Education Plan (IEP) changes 

2.60 TRANSFER 
2.61 A transfer student is defined as one who transfers from one school to another school after the first day of classes 

at his/her school. 
2.62 A student who transfers from one school to another school shall be eligible to participate under the following 

guidelines: 
a. The student would be eligible to participate in a sport at their new school during the current school year if during 
the IESA designated season for a sport, the student had NOT participated in a tryout, organized practice, or contest 
in that sport at their previous school. See By-Law 2.072 regarding student status as a member of a team. 
b. A student who transfers from one school to another and is eligible in accordance with section (a) above shall 
become eligible to participate in contests for the new school on his/her eleventh day of attendance at the new school 
in any sport or activity and provided all other eligibility requirements are met. 

2.63 A student who transfers from one school to another is eligible immediately if the school from which he/she transfers 
is involved in a co-op with the school to which he/she is transferring. 

2.70 USE OF PARTICIPANTS 
2.71 Only students who are currently eligible under the rules and By-Laws are eligible to participate. 
2.72 A student becomes a member of the school team when he/she practices with the school team or participates in a 

contest. 
2.80 SCHOOLS WITH WHICH CONTESTS MAY BE HELD 
2.81 Member schools may permit eligible students to participate in interscholastic activities as school representatives 

pursuant with the following: 
• Schools which are members of this Association; 
• Illinois elementary attendance centers containing any of the grades five through eight which are not members of 
this Association; 
• Any school (Illinois or non-Illinois) containing grades five through eight as long as that contest is held in an Illinois 
school; 
• Non-Illinois elementary attendance centers in states adjacent to Illinois which contain any of the grades five through 
eight. 

2.82 Member schools may not permit students to participate as school representatives in interscholastic activities with 
high school or non-school groups. Please check with the Illinois High School Association (IHSA) regarding their 
policy on high school students practicing with students in grades 5-8. 

2.83 Member schools are not allowed to practice against or with other schools, including high schools, or allow students 
from their own school to practice with a different school. 

Refer to the IESA web site for additional information: www.iesa.org. 
 

IHSA ELIGIBILITY RULES 
When you become a member of an interscholastic team at your high school, you will find that both your school and the IHSA 
will have rules you must follow in order to be eligible for interscholastic participation. The IHSA's rules have been adopted by 
the high schools which are members of IHSA as part of the Association's constitution and by-laws. They must be followed as 
minimum standards for all interscholastic athletic competition in any member high school. Your high school may have 
additional requirements, but they may not be less stringent than these statewide minimums. 

http://www.iesa.org/


12 
 

The principal/official representative of your school is responsible to see that only eligible students represent the school in 
interscholastic competition. Any question concerning your eligibility should be referred to your principal/official representative, 
who has a complete copy of all IHSA eligibility rules, including the Association's due process procedure. Only the IHSA 
Executive Director is authorized to make formal rulings on eligibility, so if your principal/official representative has questions 
or wishes assistance in answering your questions, the principal/official representative should contact the IHSA Office. 

 
Information contained here highlights only the most important features of the IHSA bylaws regarding interscholastic eligibility. 
It is designed to make you aware of major requirements you must meet to be eligible to compete in interscholastic competition. 
The information here is only a general description of major by-law provisions and does not contain the statement of the by-laws 
in their entirety. You can review the by-laws at www.ihsa.org. 

 
You may lose eligibility for interscholastic competition if you are not in compliance with IHSA by-laws. Remember, if you have 
any questions regarding IHSA rules, please contact your principal/official representative. 

 
1) Attendance 

A. You may represent only the school you attend. Participation on a cooperative team of which your school is a member 
is acceptable. 

B. You must be enrolled and attending classes in your high school no later than the beginning of the 11th school day of 
the semester. 

C. If you attend school for ten (10) or more days during any one semester, it will count as one of the eight (8) semesters 
of high school attendance during which you may possibly have eligibility. 

D. If you have a lapse in school connection for ten (10) or more consecutive school days during a semester, you are 
subject to ineligibility for the rest of the semester. The specific terms of your extended absence must be reviewed by 
the Executive Director to determine if it is "lapse in school connection" or not. 

 
2) Scholastic Standing 

A. You must pass twenty-five (25) credit hours of high school work per week. Generally, twenty-five (25) credit hours is 
the equivalent of five (5) .5 credit courses (2.5 full credits) 

B. You must have passed and received credit toward graduation for twenty-five (25) credit hours of high school work 
for the entire previous semester to be eligible at all during the ensuing semester. 

C. A student can regain eligibility by successfully passing a course in summer school that is equivalent to the failed 
course. 

D. See Eligibility Requirement Policy for weekly eligibility requirements. 
 

3) Residency 
Your eligibility is dependent on the location of the residence where you live full time with your parents, parent who has 
been assigned custody by the court, or court appointed legal guardian. You may be eligible if you are entering high 
school as a freshman and: 

 
A. You attend the public high school in the district in which you live full time with both of your parents, custodial parent 

or court appointed guardian, or 
B. In the case of a multiple school district, you attend the public high school in the attendance area where you live full 

time with your parents, custodial parent or court appointed guardian; or 
C. You have paid tuition to attend a public school for a minimum of 7th and 8th grades in a district other than the one 

where you live with your parents, custodial parent or court appointed guardian and you continue to pay tuition as a 
high school student in that same district; or 

D. You attend a private/parochial school located within the boundaries of the public school district where you live with 
your parents, custodial parent or court appointed guardian; or 

E. You attend a private/parochial high school and have attended a private/parochial school for 7th and 8th grades, or 
for any four (4) grades from kindergarten through eighth grades; or 

F. You attend the private/parochial high school which one or both of your parents attended; or 
G. You attend a private/parochial high school located within a thirty (30) mile radius of the residence where you live with 

your parents, custodial parent or court appointed guardian. 
 

4) Home School 
Mt. Zion CUSD #3 does not allow home school students to participate in extracurricular activities. 
Home school participation is subject per Administrative guidelines provided on the district website and Policy 7:40. 

 
5) Transfer 

A. In all transfer cases, both the principal of the school from which you transfer and the principal of the school into which 
you transfer must concur with the transfer in writing on a form provided by the IHSA Office. You cannot be eligible 

http://www.ihsa.org/


13 
 

when you transfer until this form is fully executed and on file in the school office. 
B. If you transfer after classes begin for the current school term, you will definitely be ineligible for thirty days from the 

date you start attending classes at the new high school. In addition, you will be ineligible for that entire school term 
in any sport in which you engaged in any team activity, including but not limited to tryouts, drills, physical practice 
sessions, team meetings, playing in a contest, etc. at the school from which you transferred. For example, if you were 
out for cross country at the school from which you transfer and transfer after the IHSA sport season has begun, 
you will be ineligible for cross country that entire school term at the new school. 

C. If you transfer attendance from one high school to another high school, you will be ineligible unless: 
1. Your transfer is in conjunction with a change in residence by both you and your parents, custodial parent or 

court appointed guardian from one public school district to a different public school district; 
2. Your transfer is between high schools within a public school district and both you and your parents, custodial 

parent or court appointed guardian change residence to the district attendance area for the school to which 
you transfer; 

3. Your parents are divorced or legally separated; you transfer to a new school in conjunction with a modification 
or other change in legal custody between your parents by action of a judge; and required court documents are 
on file at the school into which you transfer. 

D. If you transfer in conjunction with a change in legal guardianship, a ruling on your eligibility must be obtained from 
the IHSA Office. 

E. If you transfer attendance from one school to another while you are ineligible for any reason, the period of ineligibility 
imposed prior to your transfer or the period of ineligibility that would have been imposed had you stayed at the school, 
will be enforced at the school to which you transfer, even if you are otherwise in compliance with the by-laws. 

F. Any questions about your eligibility in any of these instances must be resolved by a formal ruling from the IHSA 
Executive Director. 

G. In all other transfer situations, a ruling by the IHSA Executive Director is necessary to determine your eligibility. This 
ruling must be obtained in writing by the principal/official representative of the school into which you transfer before 
you participate in an interscholastic athletic contest. 

H. The IHSA Executive Director may grant limited eligibility if you transfer schools prior to the start of your sophomore 
year and are not otherwise in compliance with the transfer eligibility by-laws. 

 
6) Age 

You will become ineligible on the date you become twenty (20) years of age, unless your twentieth (20th) birthday occurs 
during a sport season. In that case, you will become ineligible in regard to age at the beginning of the sport season during 
which your twentieth (20th) birthday occurs. 

 
7) Physical Examination 

You must annually have placed on file with your principal/official representative a certificate of physical fitness, signed by 
a licensed physician, physician's assistant or nurse practitioner in order to practice or participate. Your physical 
examination each year is good for 395 days from the date of the exam. The physician's report must be on file with your 
high school principal/official representative. 

 
8) Amateur Status 

A. If you win or place in actual competition, you may accept a medal or trophy for that accomplishment, without limit to 
its cost. Your school may provide IHSA state champions with championship rings/mementoes. 

B. For participating in competition in an interscholastic sport, or for athletic honors or recognition in a sport, you may 
receive any type of award (except cash, check or legal tender) that does not exceed $75 fair market value. There 
is no limitation on the value of your school letter. 

C. The amateur rule does not prohibit you from being paid to referee, receiving pay for teaching lessons or coaching in 
a little kids league, etc. It only applies to your own competition in an athletic contest. 

D. If you violate the amateur rule, you become ineligible in the sport in which you violate. You must be reinstated by the 
Executive Director before you may compete again. 

 
9) Recruiting of Athletes 

A. The by-laws prohibit recruiting of high school students for athletics. If you are solicited to enroll in or transfer to a 
school to participate in athletics, you are being illegally recruited and your eligibility is in jeopardy. 

B. You will lose your eligibility if you enroll in or transfer to a school in response to recruiting efforts by any person or 
group of persons, connected with or not connected with the school, related to athletic participation. 

C. You will lose your eligibility if you receive special benefits or privileges as a prospective student-athlete which are not 
uniformly made available to all students who attend your school. 

D. You may not receive an "athletic scholarship" or any other special benefit from your school because you participate 
in athletics. 

E. It is a violation for any student-athlete to receive or be offered remuneration or any special inducement which is not 



14 
 

made available to all applicants who apply to or enroll in the school. 

F. It is also a violation to induce or attempt to induce or encourage any prospective student to attend any member school 
for the purpose of participating in athletics, even when special remuneration or inducement is not given. Please 
remember that you may not be offered or receive any benefit, service, privilege or opportunity which is not also 
provided or made available to all prospective students at that school. 

 
Note: If you are interested in finding out more information about a school, contact the principal/official representative 
or an administrator at the school, not a member of the coaching staff. 

 
10) School Team Sports Seasons 

A. Each sport conducted by IHSA member schools has a starting and ending date. Your school may not organize 
a team, begin practice or participate in contests in a given sport until the authorized starting date. Your school may 
not continue to practice or participate in contests after the authorized ending date. This means that: 
1. During the school year, you may not participate on a non-school team coached by any member of your school's 

coaching staff unless it meets specific criteria established by the by-laws. 
2. No school coach may require you to participate in an out-of-season sport program as a requirement for being a 

member of a school team. 
B. Violation of the sport season by-laws will result in penalty to you and/or to your school's coaching personnel. 

 
11) Playing in Non-School Competition 

A. During the time you are participating on a school team in a sport at your high school, you may neither play on a non- 
school team or compete in non-school competition as an individual in that same sport or in any skill of that sport. 

B. If you participate in non-school competition during a sport season and subsequently wish to join the school team in 
the same sport, you will not be eligible. 

C. If you wish to participate in a competition sponsored and conducted by the National Governing Body, or its official 
Illinois affiliate for the sport, your principal /official representative must request approval in writing from the IHSA 
Office prior to any such participation. 

D. You may try out for a non-school team while you are on your school's team in that same sport, but you may not 
practice, receive instruction, participate in workouts, or participate in competition with a non-school team in that same 
sport until you cease being a member of your school's team. You cease being a member of your school's team when 
the team(s) of which you are a member terminates for the school term. 

E. You will become ineligible if you participate on, practice with or compete against any junior college, college or 
university team during your high school career. 

 
12) All-Star Participation 

A. After you have completed your high school eligibility in the sport of football, basketball, soccer or volleyball, you may 
participate in three (3) all-star contests in any of these sports and still play for other school teams, provided: 
1. The high school season in that sport has been completed. You may lose your eligibility for other interscholastic 

sports if you play in all-star competition in any of these sports under any other conditions. 
B. You are not restricted from participating in all-star competition in sports other than football, basketball, soccer, 

or volleyball, except that you may not do so during the school season for the sport. 
 

13) Misbehavior During Contests 
A. If you violate the ethics of competition or the principles of good sportsmanship, you may be barred from 

interscholastic athletic contests, either as a participant or spectator or both. 
B. If you are ejected from a contest for unsportsmanlike conduct, you will be ineligible for your team's next contest. 

You are also subject to other penalties. 
 

The complete set of IHSA By-laws and Policies is available at www.ihsa.org. 
 

The Illinois High School Association (IHSA) prohibits participants in an athletic activity sponsored or sanctioned by IHSA from 
ingesting or otherwise using any performance enhancing substance on its banned substance list, without a written prescription 
and medical documentation provided by a licensed physician who evaluated the student-athlete for a legitimate medical 
condition. In addition to being penalized by IHSA, a student may be disciplined according to Board policy 7:190, Student 
Behavior. 

 
     ATHLETIC STATE SENDOFFS 
     The administration will coordinate with the Police Department for an escort out of town for all IESA or IHSA State    
     Appearances. Teams qualifying for a top four finish in state may receive a police and/or fire escort back into town following the   
     top four finish in a state series. These arrangements are subject to officer and fire department availability at the time. 

http://www.ihsa.org/


15 
 
 

ATTENDANCE REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 
Teachers and administrators of the Mt. Zion School District urge all parents and students to be aware of the value of regular 
school attendance. Attendance directly affects academic performance because basic skill development depends upon 
valuable classroom instruction and explanations. In addition, a student’s attendance record is often considered by a potential 
employer along with academic performance. 

It is the responsibility of parents to see that their sons/daughters are in school regularly. The District, in turn, realizes that 
unique circumstances may occasionally affect a student’s attendance. 

 
As per Illinois Statutes, for attendance record and report card purposes, a student must be present not less than 5 clock 
hours of classroom instruction to constitute a full day of attendance. 

 
Exceptions may be made as allowable by IL law. 

 
SCHOOL HOURS 
Jr. High/High School (Grades 7-12) 

Regular school hours are 7:45 a.m. - 2:30 p.m. 
JH/HS Early Bird Classes are 6:50 a.m.-7:35 a.m. 
All students should leave the school building/grounds at the end 
of the school day unless required/supervised by a staff member. 
Early dismissal school hours are 7:45 a.m. – 11:05 a.m. 

 
Elementary Schools (K-6) 

Regular school hours are 8:30 a.m. - 3:00 p.m. 
Students should not be on school property before 8:00 a.m. 
Early dismissal school hours are 8:30 a.m. – 11:35 a.m. 

 
Student supervision at the elementary school grounds begins at 8:00 a.m. and ends with the departure of the last bus. 
Students who walk or ride their bikes must leave the school playground as soon as school is dismissed. 

 
Any absence from school will be classified as one of the following: (1) Excused, (2) Excused Anticipated, (3) Unexcused, 
(4) Truancy. Removing students from school is discouraged, but if a student has an anticipated absence (i.e. vacation), 
the parent/guardian and student must adhere to procedures listed below. 

 
Absence Procedures 
1) Only the parent (custodial) has the authority to telephone an absence or early dismissal for a student. When a student is 

absent, the parent/guardian (custodial) must notify the school office. It will be necessary for the school to call the parents 
of absent children who have not notified the school within the first two hours of the day for students grades K-8. If the 
parent (custodial) is unavailable, emergency numbers will be used to contact appropriate individual(s). 

2) A student whose absence has been excused by a phone call and/or note will be admitted to school upon their return. All 
doctor/medical excuses must should be received in the school office within 48 hours of the student returning to school. 

3) Parents (custodial) who find it impossible to telephone the school should make special arrangements through the principal 
for reporting absences. 

4) A student who is absent due to illness during the school day will not be admitted to after school extra-curricular 
activities/performances. Excused appointments as delineated in the appointment section will not affect the option of 
attending after school activities. 

5) Students that are on a medical homebound status are not allowed to attend any school functions until released from 
homebound status, unless authorized by the building principal in advance. 

 
Anticipated Absences 
Removing students from school is discouraged. Therefore, in the event that a parent anticipates that their child will be absent 
from school (i.e. appointments, college visits*, court appearances, etc.), every effort should be made to notify the school in 
advance of the absence. Also, students should notify respective teachers to make arrangements for homework to be 
completed. 

 
*High School students who are planning a college visit, must get a College Day Request form from the high school office or 
guidance office. The request portion of the form must be completed and turned into the high school attendance secretary no 
later than 3 PM. the day before your scheduled visit. The verification portion of the form must be signed and dated by an 
appropriate college employee and returned to the high school attendance secretary in order to be counted as an excused 
absence. 



16 
 
 

Excused Absences 
(separate from Anticipated Absences) 
Students will be excused from school when the reason for the absence falls under the "Valid Cause" statement of the School 
Code of Illinois. Valid cause shall be defined as illness, observance of a religious holiday, death in the immediate family or 
family emergency, and may include situations beyond the control of the student/parents, voting, attending a military honors 
funeral to sound TAPS (applies to 6-12 only), military leave, civic event, and other circumstances that cause reasonable 
concern to the parent/guardian for the student’s mental, emotional, or physical health or safety, or other reason as approved 
by the Superintendent or designee. Seven (7) student absence days per semester will be considered excused. Any absence 
(vacation, illness, etc.) after 7 days is considered unexcused. Absences after 7 days that are related to illness may be excused 
if a note from a doctor is provided. For each day that a doctor’s medical note is provided (within 48 hours of returning to 
school) that day will not count against the seven (7) allotted days per semester. 
 
*Students are allotted 5 Mental Health days per year (which fall under the 7 excused days per semester). Students who use 
two or more mental health days may be referred to School Counselor/Social Worker. 
 
*If a student is absent due to a pregnancy, the school will work with the student and family to develop a plan for acquiring 
work and making up any missed assignments. Please contact the building principal for further information. 

 
The following reasons are examples of situations that will not be excused absences: pictures, personal grooming 
appointments not related to medical conditions, automotive maintenance, employment during school hours when not related 
to a Mt. Zion High School educational program, or oversleeping. High School students are not allowed to leave during the 
school day for medication or forgotten items. If a student forgot medication, please notify the principal. Determination of 
excused absences will be made by the administration. 

 
Unexcused Absences 
A student shall receive an unexcused absence when: 
1) He/she is truant. 
2) Parent/guardian (custodial) fails to notify the office of an excusable absence prior to the student’s return to school. 
3) He/she has been absent more than seven (7) days per semester and does not produce a medical excuse from a 

physician. 
4) Any absence that does not fall under the excused absence category. 

 
Appointments 
Medical appointments, court appearances, etc., will be treated the same as other excuses. Custodial parents must call 
or send a note when requesting dismissal from school for an appointment. Students must return the School Appointment 
Form upon return to school to be excused. 

 
Whenever possible, parents should schedule these appointments during non-school hours. 

 
A student will be excused for up to 5 days in cases where the student’s parent/guardian is an active duty member of the 
uniformed services and has been called to duty for, is on leave from, or has immediately returned from deployment to a 
combat zone or combat-support postings. The Board of Education, in its discretion, may excuse a student for additional days 
relative to such leave or deployment. A student and the student’s parent/guardian are responsible for obtaining assignments 
from the student's teachers prior to any excused absences and for ensuring that such assignments are completed by the 
student prior to his or her return to school. 

 
The Illinois School Code defines chronic absenteeism as absences that total 10% or more of school days of the most recent 
academic school year, including absences with and without valid cause. The school will provide three (3) written notifications 
(to include school and community resources available) before legal action may be taken. Special circumstances such as 
hospitalization, chronic illness etc. will be considered in this process. 

Release Time for Religious Instruction/Observance 
A student will be released from school, as an excused absence, to observe a religious holiday or for religious instruction. 
The student’s parent/guardian must give written notice to the building principal at least 5 calendar days before the student’s 
anticipated absence(s). 

 
Students with excused absences or excused for religious reasons will be given an opportunity to make up any examination, 
study, or work requirement within a reasonable time (usually one day for each day of absence). 

 
Tardiness 



17 
 

Students are expected to be in their assigned classroom when the bell rings. 

Students are tardy if they are not at their assigned stations (as designated by the teacher) when the bell rings. At the High 
School and Junior High School, if a student has an unexcused tardy to an individual class, they will follow the passbook 
procedures. A student that is five (5) or more minutes late to class without a pass will be considered truant. 

 
Except for the passing periods, students are not to be in the hall without a student pass signed by some member of the staff. 
If a student is detained, and tardiness may result, the teacher must issue him/her a student pass. 

 
Truancy Procedures 
1) Truancy will result in appropriate punishments, as determined by the building principal. 
2) The Illinois Revised Statutes, Chapter 122, Section 26-2a defines a truant as a child subject to compulsory school 

attendance and who is absent without valid cause from attendance for a school day or portion thereof. 
 

The following events are examples of truancy: leaving school without teacher or parental permission, staying home without 
parental permission, being absent without medical excuse. A student is counted as truant if there is an absence during any part 
of the school day without permission from a parent/guardian and the attendance office is not notified of an absence. Students 
considered truant are subject to school discipline. 

 
A student who misses fifteen (15) consecutive days of school without valid cause and who cannot be located or, after 
exhausting all available support services, cannot be compelled to return to school is subject to expulsion for a period not to 
exceed two (2) years. 

 
If a student is chronically or habitually truant (absent without valid cause for at least 5% [9 days] of the previous 180 school 
days), legal action may be taken against the parents and/or student. Referral will be made to the Assistant Regional 
Superintendent and Truant Officer and possible court action may follow. 
Supportive services and resources will be made available for truants and chronic truants including Youth Advocate 
Counseling, Mental Health Center, Regional Office of Education’s Truant Alternative Program, and Futures’ Unlimited. 

 
PARENTS ARE REQUIRED BY LAW TO ENSURE THAT THEIR CHILD ATTENDS SCHOOL. An attempt will be made to 
notify the parent each time a student is truant. A parent or guardian who knowingly and willfully permits a child to be truant is 
in violation of State law. A parent or guardian who knowingly and willfully permits a child to be truant may be convicted of a 
Class C misdemeanor, which carries a maximum penalty of thirty days in jail and/or a fine of up to $500.00. 

 
Late To School 
Students that are late to school are required to sign in at the office. Students that are late will receive a pass from the office 
to inform the teacher that they have checked into the office. Each time a student is late to school it will be recorded. 
Repeated instances of being late to school are subject to progressive discipline 

 
Make-up Work/Incomplete Grades 
All students will have the opportunity to make up missed work. Contact the school office to make arrangements for homework. 
For grades K-6, call by 10:30 a.m. for 3:00 p.m. pick-up. For grades 7-12, call the office by 10:00 a.m. on the second 
consecutive day of absence for 2:30 p.m. pick-up. High school students are to email their teachers and may refer to 
Planbook.com and/or Google Classroom regarding missed work. 

 
All students will be able to make up work missed during an absence. They will be given the number of days absent plus one 
to make up the work. Any work turned in after the allotted amount of days may result in a zero. It is the expectation that work 
that was assigned/due (prior to the absence) on one of the absence days should be returned the first day of attendance 
when the student returns. It is the responsibility of junior high and high school students to initiate contact with teachers 
regarding missed work upon their return. No incompletes will be given at the end of the school year except in emergency 
situations due to accident or illness. 

 
Students who have irregular attendance and/or whose absences are unexcused may face grade retention due to lack of 
basic skill development. 

BACCALAUREATE AND COMMENCEMENT 
High School Baccalaureate and Commencement exercises are formal ceremonies celebrating the successful completion of 
high school graduation requirements. 

 
Only those who have satisfied all requirements established by the Mt. Zion Board of Education will be eligible to participate 
in the Commencement exercise. Although it is strongly recommended that eligible students choose to be a part of the 
Baccalaureate and Graduation ceremonies, participation is voluntary and not required. 



18 
 
 

If a student chooses not to participate in Baccalaureate or Commencement, his/her eligibility to receive a diploma is not 
adversely affected. Students should notify the senior counselor by the first week in May if they prefer not to participate in the 
Commencement exercises. Arrangements can be made for the receipt of the diploma after Commencement has taken place. 

 
The established attire is the standard cap and gown with gold cords provided for National Honor Society members and 
gold honor tassels provided to the top ten students in the graduating class. Students have the right to wear or accessorize 
their graduation attire with items associated with their school or community organizations, culture, ethnic, or religious 
identity, or other characteristic or category protected under the IHRA. 

 
Any students who are planning to graduate early are required to meet with their school counselor to discuss deadlines 
and requirements a year prior to their expected graduation date. 

 
BACKPACKS AND BOOK BAGS 
K-High School: 
Bookbags shall not be carried in the building throughout the school day. 

 
Athletic bags, equipment bags, purses, and any other backpacks must be stored in the student’s locker. 

 
BAND INSTRUMENTS AND INSURANCE 
Generally, the purchase or rental of an instrument for band is the student's responsibility. Band instructors will train students 
in the proper care and cleaning of their instruments, so that the instruments will remain in good condition. 

 
Parents/guardians should check with their own individual insurance companies to ensure that stolen and/or vandalized 
instruments are covered. 

 
BICYCLES AND WALKING TO SCHOOL 
Students who ride bicycles to school are required to park them in the racks provided and encouraged to lock their bicycles 
during the school day. All other modes of student powered transportation are prohibited (scooters, skateboards, rollerblades, 
etc.) Students who walk to school are advised to stay on sidewalk areas and to cross streets at corners or designated 
walkways. Electric powered scooters, bicycles or modes of transportation are not allowed in the school building and are subject 
to the same requirements.  

 
In grades K-6, students who wish to change their regular mode of transportation on an occasional basis must bring a note 
from a parent/guardian granting permission to do so. 

 
BULLYING 
Bullying, intimidation, and harassment diminish a student’s ability to learn and a school’s ability to educate. Preventing 
students from engaging in these disruptive behaviors is an important District goal. Refer to #4 on page 30 for a definition of 
bullying. 

 
7:190, Student Discipline. This policy prohibits students from engaging in hazing or any kind of aggressive behavior that does 
physical or psychological harm to another or any urging of other students to engage in such conduct; prohibited conduct 
includes any use of violence, force, noise, coercion, threats, intimidation, fear, harassment, bullying, hazing, or other 
comparable conduct. 

 
7:310, Restrictions on Publications and Written or Electronic Material. This policy prohibits students from: (i) accessing and/or 
distributing at school any written or electronic material, including material from the Internet, that will cause substantial 
disruption of the proper and orderly operation and discipline of the school or school activities, and (ii) creating and/or 
distributing written or electronic material, including Internet material and blogs, that causes substantial disruption to school 
operations or interferes with the rights of other students or staff members. 

7:20, Harassment of Students Prohibited. This policy prohibits any person from harassing or intimidating any student. 

Individuals engaging in such activity shall be subject to disciplinary action from this institution as determined by such 
administrative or Board action as is required by Illinois Law or by Board policy. 

Cyber-bullying is prohibited. This would include bullying through the transmission of information from a computer that is 
accessed off school property or is from technology or an electronic device that is not owned by the school district if it 
substantially interferes with or limits the victim’s ability to participate in opportunities offered by the school. Students are 
encouraged to immediately report bullying. A report may be made orally or in writing to the District Nondiscrimination 



19 
 

Coordinator, Building Principal, Assistant Building Principal, Dean of Students, a Complaint Manager, or any staff member 
with whom the student is comfortable speaking. Anyone, including staff members and parents/guardians, who has information 
about actual or threatened bullying is encouraged to report it to the District named officials, Complaint Manager, or any staff 
member. The District named officials and all staff members are available for help with a bully or to make a report about 
bullying. 

 
Anonymous reports can be sent to the building principals by regular mail, email, phone, Braves Tipline via the District website, 
or any other method in which the reporter prefers. Contact information including names, phone numbers, mailing addresses, 
and email addresses are provided on page 6 of this handbook. It’s requested by the administration that when possible, a 
person reporting bullying contact the administrator within 5 days to ensure the report was received and to provide any 
additional information that the district administrator may need. The district administration will notify parents/guardians that 
their student is a potential victim of bullying or if their student has been accused of bullying. The district administration will 
notify within 24 hours of receiving the bullying report. The district administration will make reasonable efforts to complete 
investigations and notify parents of those involved within 10 days. The district prohibits retaliation against any person who 
reports bullying. A student’s act of retaliation will be treated as bullying for purposes of determining consequences. A student 
will not be punished for reporting bullying or supplying information, even if the investigation concludes that no bullying 
occurred. However, knowingly making a false accusation or providing knowingly false information will be treated as bullying. 
Appropriate interventions will be taken to address bullying. The district has social work services, counseling, and 
psychological services available to our students. Each building has males and females within its administration, social 
workers, and/or counselors who are available to receive information from students concerning gender sensitive issues. 

 
Complaints of bullying, intimidation or harassment may be made in accordance with the District Harassment Procedure. 

 
Harassment Complaint Procedure 
The administrative officers (principal and assistant principals, if available) are generally responsible for addressing complaints 
of harassment at each school in the District. This includes dealing with complaints that students bring to their attention, as 
well as identifying harassing situations on their own. 

 
Complaints against students, employees, or third parties shall be immediately brought, in the first instance, to one of 
the assistant principals, if available (if none available, then to the principal). If the student does not feel comfortable, for any 
reason, reporting the harassment to any one of the assistant principals, or if there is no assistant principal available, then he 
or she should use the alternative procedure of reporting the harassment to the principal. If there is not an available assistant 
principal and the student does not feel comfortable, for any reason, reporting the harassment to the principal, then he or she 
should use the alternative procedure of reporting the harassment to the superintendent of the District. However, students may 
make a report of bullying or harassment to any staff member with whom the student is comfortable speaking. The selected 
administrative official will promptly investigate the matter and, if the allegation is sustained, the responsible party will be 
disciplined in a manner appropriate for ensuring that the harassing conduct ceases. In situations covered under the Abused and 
Neglected Child Reporting Act (325 ILCS 5/1 et seq), the District will comply with all reporting procedures, including mandated 
contact with the Department of Children & Family Services. 

 
Anyone, including staff members and parents/guardians, who has information about actual or threatened bullying is 
encouraged to report it to the district complaint manager or any staff member. Anonymous reports are also accepted by phone 
call or in writing. 

 
Nondiscrimination Coordinators, Complaint Managers & Title IX Coordinators: 

 

 
Reports and complaints of harassment will be confidential to the greatest extent practicable, subject to the District’s duty to 
investigate and maintain an educational environment that is productive, respectful, and free of unlawful discrimination, 
including harassment. The District shall keep the student who filed the complaint informed of the status of the investigation. 

 
Additionally, notice of the outcome of the complaint shall be provided to the parties involved. 

Julie Marquardt, Junior High Principal 
315 S. Henderson St., Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1323 
Phone: 864-2369 
Email: marquardtj@mtzschools.org 

Brian Rhoades, Associate Superintendent 
1595 W. Main St. Mt. Zion, IL 62549 
Phone: (217) 864-2366 
Email: bmr@mtzschools.org 

mailto:marquardtj@mtzschools.org
mailto:bmr@mtzschools.org


20 
 

If the investigating administrative officer determines, after investigating a complaint of harassment or unlawful discrimination, that 
a student has provided false information regarding the complaint, then disciplinary action may be taken against the student who 
filed the false complaint or gave the false information. The District prohibits, however, retaliation of any kind against a student 
for filing a good faith complaint or participating, with good faith, in an investigation. 

 
BUS DISCIPLINE 
I. Bus Discipline Philosophy 
Unacceptable behavior on the bus must be addressed clearly and consistently. All students, parents, and employees should 
understand what behavior is acceptable and unacceptable and what consequences may be administered for unacceptable 
behavior. Cameras may be utilized to monitor student behavior and bus safety. 

II. Unacceptable Behavior 
A. Use of profane language. 
B. Possession and/or use of tobacco/nicotine, alcohol, THC or other drugs. 
C. Eating or Drinking. 
D. Standing or changing seats while the bus is in motion. 
E. Discarding, throwing, or spitting any material on the bus. 
F. Destroying, defacing, or removing any part of the bus. 
G. Riding the bus with knees on the seat, body facing toward the rear of the bus, or placing feet in the aisle after being 

seated. 
H. Disregarding laws such as keeping windows above line, storing material by the bus driver or in the aisle, putting any part 

of the body or any material out of the bus, etc. 
I. Riding a bus other than the one assigned or getting on or off at a stop other than the student’s regular stop is not allowed 

without prior arrangements being made. If an alternate stop is needed, the parent/guardian must send a note, call the 
student’s school, or call the transportation office at: 864-5233. Changes cannot be made by the student calling their 
parent/guardian via cell phone once the student is on their assigned bus. 

J. Talking/noise making at railroad tracks. 
K. Using hands or feet to annoy or injure another person on the bus such as hair pulling, shoulder tapping, kicking, fighting, 

etc. 
L. Physically or verbally showing disrespect for the bus driver such as not following the driver’s directives. 
M. Possessing weapons (as defined by policy). 
N. Possessing play guns, scouting knives or other sharp instruments. 
O. Bringing an animal on the school bus. 
P. K-6 cell phones/recording devices must remain in backpack or pocket while on the bus. 
Q. Other behavior that the administration deems threatening to the safe operation of the bus and/or its occupants. 

III. Bus Discipline Procedures 
The bus driver may verbally reprimand any student, or the bus driver may make a written request to the administration that a 
student be disciplined or suspended from riding the bus. Only the administration or School Board may suspend students from 
riding a school bus. 

 
Students are subject to a suspension or expulsion from the bus for serious or repeated misconduct. The length of the bus 
suspension will be determined at the building level by the principal/assistant principal on a case-by-case basis. Students may 
be suspended from riding the school bus for up to 10 consecutive school days for violating school rules or for engaging in 
other gross disobedience or misconduct. The School Board may suspend the student from riding the school bus for a period 
in excess of 10 days for safety reasons. The district’s regular suspension procedures shall be used to suspend a student’s 
privilege to ride a school bus. 

A parent may request a suspension review meeting to review the appropriateness of the bus suspension. The suspension 
review meeting will be conducted by the Board or a hearing officer appointed by the Board. If a hearing officer is appointed, 
he shall prepare a written summary of the evidence presented and present it to the Board. The Board shall review the hearing 
officer’s report and take such action as it finds appropriate. This request would need to be in written form and sent to the 
District office. 

 
A student who is suspended from riding the school bus and who does not have alternate transportation to school shall be 
allowed the opportunity to make up all missed work for equivalent academic credit. It is the responsibility of the student’s 
parent/legal guardian to notify the District that the student does not have alternative transportation to school. 

 
CAFETERIA 
All students will go to the cafeteria during their lunch period where they may eat either prepared lunches or lunches brought 
from home. Milk or juice can be purchased by students bringing sack lunches. Glass containers are not allowed for safety 



21 
 

reasons. Students may not leave the cafeteria, for any reason, without prior permission from a supervisor, teacher or 
administrator. 

 
With parent/custodial permission, a student will be allowed to leave school for lunch with a parent or designated adult. 

 
Food Service Program - District #3 Overview 
The food service program for grades K-12 offers a lunch meal daily consisting of a meat/meat alternative, vegetable, fruit, 
bread, and milk. A breakfast meal is offered to students in grades K-12 each day before school. Ala Carte items are available 
for purchase during lunch each day for grades 4-12. 

 
There may be times when school is not in session due to snow/emergency days. When students return to school, the lunch 
menu may change due to closing. The lunch scheduled for the snow/emergency day will be served on the day school 
resumes. The lunch originally planned for the return day will be skipped. Following the first day back, the monthly menu will 
resume as scheduled. The school office and teachers will notify students of the changes either during the daily 
announcements or in class. Parents/guardians may also inquire by calling the Food Service office on that day at 864-2114. 

 
Lunch & Breakfast Prices 
Please refer to the Back-to-School publication for lunch and breakfast pricing or call the Food Service office at 864-2114. 

 
Debit Account Overview 
Nutrition and Technology team-up in the Mt. Zion School District with an automated meal purchasing system. This program 
provides a positive identification process used to access a student debit account and record purchases of food service items. 
A debit account will be established for each user and sharing of accounts will not be allowed. 

 
Students, parents, and staff may deposit advance sums of money to cover food service purchases. Advance deposits allow 
the user to draw from an individual debit account rather than having to handle cash during the lunch serving time. Payments 
and purchases are recorded daily. 

 
Efunds 
An alternative electronic method of payment is efunds. This system makes payments for school expenses in real time. You 
must create an account with efunds using the link provided in the family access food service page or the link on the school 
web page. Once you create an account with efunds, you can select your child’s name and make the appropriate payment by 
checking account transfer or credit card. This payment will go directly into the proper account. A convenience fee of 
$1.25 per transaction for checking or $2.85 per $100 transaction for credit card will be charged by efunds. 

 
Policy for Student Debit Account Deposits 
Grades K-6 
A. Funds may be deposited using efunds electronic payment system, and the account will be debited automatically. 
B. Payments will be accepted each morning school is in session and should equal at least one week of food service 

purchases. 
C. Payments should be sent in an envelope with student's name, student's ID number, and teacher's name. 
D. Payments should include lunch, milk, and a la carte money. 
E. Payments should include break-milk money for students in Kindergarten. 
F. Payments will be posted to student's debit account on day received and the cashier will maintain records of cash 

deposits. 
 

Policy for Student Debit Account Deposits 
Grades 7-12 
A. Funds may be deposited using efunds. 

electronic payment system, and the account will be debited automatically. 
B. Payments will be accepted before 10:00 a.m. each morning school is in session. Locked drop boxes are available 

in three locations in the Jr. & Sr. High Buildings. This method of payment collection will insure posting of deposit and 
funds will be available in the student's debit account before lunch serving time (10:20 a.m.). 

C. Payments made after 10:00 a.m. will be posted the following school day. Students will not be allowed to purchase ala 
carte items until payments are posted. 

D. Payments by check or money order are preferred and must contain student name and ID number to insure proper 
posting. 

E. Payments of cash will be accepted in a sealed envelope, available at drop box locations. Envelope must be labeled with 
student name, ID number, and amount of cash deposit. 

F. No change will be given to students. 



22 
 

G. School cashier will maintain records of cash deposits. 

Policy for Student Debit Account in Arrears 
Grades K-6 
A. When a student's debit account reaches $10.00, $5.00, and $0.00 an email will be sent. If no email is listed in Skyward 

a notice will be sent home with the student. 
B. When a student's debit account is in arrears, NO Ala Carte purchases will be allowed. 

 
Grades 7-12 
A. When a student's debit account balance reaches $10.00, a verbal notice will be given to the student and an email will 

be sent. The computer screen will be in student's view for self-monitoring of debit account balance. 
B. When a student's debit account is in arrears, NO Ala Carte purchases will be allowed. 

 
Student Debit Account Refund Policy 
A. Upon student withdrawal from Mt. Zion School District #3, a parent or guardian may submit written request for refund of 

the debit account balance. The refund request should be directed to the Food Service Office. The request will be 
processed and mailed from the District's Administration Office. 

B. At year-end, all student debit account balances will be forwarded to the subsequent school year. If a student debit 
account balance is $10.00 or more, a parent or guardian may submit written request for refund. The refund request 
should be directed to the Food Service Office. The request will be processed and mailed from the District's Administration 
Office. 

C. Parents/Guardians of graduating senior students will receive notification by mail in May explaining refund options of debit 
account balance. Requests will be processed and distributed accordingly at year-end. 

 
Free/Reduced Meal Applications 
Free and reduced lunch and breakfast applications, along with letters containing guidelines are available during registration 
and throughout the school year in each school's office. A parent/guardian wishing to apply must complete and return the 
application to their student's school office. Verification of income may be requested and a letter of approval or denial will be 
sent by the mail to the parent/guardian. A student’s eligibility for free and reduced-price food services shall be determined by 
the income eligibility guidelines, family-size income standards, set annually by the U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, and distributed 
by the Ill. State Board of Education. 

 
Pursuant to the Hunger-Free Students’ Bill of Rights Act, the school is required to provide a federally reimbursable meal or 
snack to a student who requests one, regardless of whether the student has the ability to pay for the meal or snack or owes 
money for earlier meals or snacks. Students may not be provided with an alternative meal or snack and the school is 
prohibited from publicly identifying or stigmatizing a student who cannot pay for or owes money for a meal or snack. 

 
When a student’s funds are low or there is a negative balance, reminders will be provided to the staff, students, and their 
parent(s)/guardian(s) at regular intervals during the school year. State law allows the Building Principal to contact 
parents(s)/guardian(s) to attempt collection of the owed money when the amount owed is more than the amount of five 
lunches. If a parent/guardian regularly fails to provide meal money for the child(ren) that he/she is responsible for in the 
District and does not qualify for free meal benefits, the Building Principal or designee will direct the next course of action. 
Continual failure to provide meal money may require the District to notify the Ill. Dept. of Children and Family Services (DCFS) 
and/or take legal steps to recover the unpaid meal charges, up to and including seeking an offset under the State Comptroller 
Act, if applicable. 

 
Debit Account Policy for Students with Free/Reduced Status 
A. Students with free/reduced status may only purchase a la carte items if his/her debit account has funds available to cover 

such items. 
B. Kindergarten students with free/reduced status wishing to purchase milk/juice for break time should make payment 

to cover such ($.35 per carton) on a weekly or monthly basis. 
C. Students with free/reduced status may only receive one (1) free/reduced lunch and one (1) free/reduced breakfast per 

day. 
 

CLASS CHANGES 
High School: Please refer to the High School Student Course Planning Handbook. 

Junior High/Intermediate: Changes will not be made after the first two weeks of school unless it is in the best interest of the 
student and school. The final decision rests with the principal after the parent/guardian has had a conference with the teacher 
and a change of class form has been completed. 



23 
 

CLOSED CAMPUS 
In the morning, upon arrival on school property, students at the Junior/Senior High Complex must enter the building. At the 
lower elementary levels, weather permitting, students will play outdoors until the bell rings. No one may leave the building 
until scheduled to leave. Students are not allowed to go home for items they forgot or medication. Parents must bring it to 
them. 

 
Any students in violation of this regulation will be considered truant and subject to appropriate disciplinary action. 

 
Students may not leave the building and go to the parking lot during school hours or during the lunch period for any reason 
without prior permission from the office. Intermediate students may occasionally walk to the high school for various reasons, 
under the supervision of school personnel. 

 
CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES 
Students are encouraged to participate in one or more school or community sponsored activities. Activity participation enables 
the student to achieve experience in social activities, develop leadership qualities, pursue leisure-time interests, develop new 
interests, enlarge friendships, learn the art and policy of government, and have fun! 

 
At the Junior and Senior High Schools, athletic and non-athletic clubs and activities are varied and serve a wide range of 
student interests. At the elementary level, a few school-sponsored activities are available, and the community sponsors 
athletic programs for children, grades 4-6. Students are not allowed to leave and return to the building/athletic complex during 
extracurricular activities unless accompanied by their parent. 

 
CO-CURRICULAR CODE (Grades 5-12) 
Students and parents will be required to sign a co-curricular code that will be distributed at the beginning of the school year. 
Students that have a medical exemption from participating in Physical Education will not be allowed to participate in 
any co-curricular activity that requires physical exertion. The school district will consult with medical professionals to provide 
adaptive Physical Education activities. 

 
CO-CURRICULAR CONFLICTS 
Because of the increasing amount of activities (performances, games, contests, trips, projects, etc.) of both athletic and non- 
athletic co-curricular groups, students who wish to participate in more than one major activity are going to experience 
simultaneous demands on their time by two or more teams/clubs/ organizations to which they may belong. 

 
The decision on an individual student’s ability to participate in potentially conflicting activities, without jeopardizing the other 
participants, is to rest with the sponsors of the activities. If, however, an agreement cannot be reached which is mutually 
satisfactory, the principal and/or assistant principal will make a final decision. 

 
COLLEGE ENTRY EXAMS AND INFORMATION 
National Testing Dates for ACT/SAT: It is required that college bound juniors, by graduation, take the national SAT ACT. 
College bound juniors may also choose to take the ACT SAT depending on the colleges they are applying to. These test 
results are one of the several criteria used by colleges to determine admission status and/or proper placement in specific 
courses. Up to date costs and online registration information for the ACT can be found at www.actstudent.org. Up to date 
costs and online registration information for the SAT can be found at www.collegeboard.org. 
Registration deadlines are approximately one month before the testing date. 

 
INFORMATION SHARING 
Counselors will periodically visit classrooms, update web page postings, distribute newsletters, and send emails or school 
reach messages. To ensure that all email communication gets to you, please be sure that our records indicate your correct 
email address. Also, please become familiar with the guidance department web page and check the daily announcements 
for the most up to date information. 

 
COMPUTER NETWORK SYSTEM 
GUIDELINES FOR ACCEPTABLE USE 
A. Acceptable Use 
The use of computers and related services and media in the Mt. Zion School District must at all times be consistent with the 
objectives of the District. Every user of computers and computer network services (the "computer network system" or 
"system") in the District must comply with these guidelines. The Superintendent or designee may revise these guidelines 
from time to time as needed for, or useful to, sound operation and management of the system. 

http://www.actstudent.org/
http://www.collegeboard.org/


24 
 

B. Privileges 
The network is provided to conduct research and communicate with others; the Internet is to be used for educational research 
and/or academic purposes only. This includes when using personally-owned devices on the school campus and at school 
activities. Access of the district computers and networks, including the internet, is a privilege and not a right. Inappropriate 
use of the system may result in discipline, including loss of computer use privileges. 

 
C. Authorization for Internet Access 
Each staff member, student and parent/guardian, and adult user of the network must sign the District's Authorization for 
Internet Access as a condition for using the District's Internet connection. Failure of any student, staff member, or adult user 
to follow the terms of the Authorization for Internet Access, or the policy, will result in the loss of privileges, disciplinary action 
and/or appropriate legal action. All use of the Internet may be tracked student, staff member, and adult. 

 
Child Internet Protection Act (CIPA) 

 
The Mt. Zion School District will use Internet filtering mechanisms on all internet enabled computers to restrict the access of 
minors and adults to inappropriate Internet sites. Filtered sites will include obscene, child pornography, and 
other sites harmful to children. All online activities including electronic messaging or electronic communication by minors and 
adults will be monitored. Unauthorized disclosure, use, and dissemination of personal identification information regarding 
minors are prohibited. Unauthorized online access, including "hacking" and other unlawful activities, is prohibited. 

 
It shall be the responsibility of all members of the Mt. Zion CUSD #3 staff to educate, supervise, and monitor appropriate 
usage of the online computer networks and access to the Internet in accordance with this policy, the Children's Internet 
Protection Act, the Neighborhood Children's Internet Protection Act, and the Protecting Children in the 21st Century Act. 

 
D. Email/Student Web Pages 
Email provided to students by the District is primarily for internal educational communications. Student email is not private 
andstudents should have no expectation of privacy when utilizing school provided email. Student email addresses should 
not be available to the public unless deemed appropriate by the administration for educational purposes. Student personal 
use of District provided email resources is prohibited. Any use should be in the scope of the educational curriculum and 
teacher expectations of utilizing the tool for instructional purposes. Student to student, student to teacher, and student to 
administrator email correspondence should follow proper etiquette guidelines and be within the scope of educational 
communication. 

 
Any web pages created by a student using the System must be part of a district-sponsored activity, or otherwise be authorized 
by the appropriate district administrator. All content, including links of any web site created by a student using the system must 
receive prior approval by the classroom teacher or an appropriate district administrator. All contents of a website created by 
a student using the System must conform to the Acceptable Use Guidelines. 

 
E. Security of System and Responsibilities of System Users 
Security in the system must be a high priority for all users. Do not disclose your log in ID or password to anyone, or attempt 
to log into the system as another person. The user is responsible for anything that occurs under their log in. If you become 
aware of any improper use of the system, or violation of security rules, you must notify an administrator, teacher, or the 
computer network system administrator immediately. 

 
Users should not expect that files stored on school-based computer or district-controlled cloud storage environments (ie. 
Google Drive) will be private. Electronic messages and files stored on school-based computers may be treated like school 
lockers. Administrators and faculty may review files and messages to maintain the integrity of the system and ensure that 
users are acting responsibly. Files will be scanned on a regular basis. 

 
F. District Issued Devices 
Students receiving a district-issued device should strive to keep it in like-new condition. The device should be kept in the 
district issued case when transporting or storing the device. Students will be responsible for loss and/or any needed repairs 
outside the scope of normal wear-and-tear in the same manner as a textbook. All district devices are monitored for acceptable 
use regardless of location, whether on school premises or not, and student use of the device should always fall under the 
scope of this document. Students who misuse or abuse the device may face disciplinary action. 

 
District issued devices may be used with headphones during study hours. Students should keep in mind that their supervising 
teacher has access to view all browsing activities and take screen shots of the student’s screen at any given time during the 
school day. Students who are considered to be in violation of the Acceptable Use Policy may lose the privilege to utilize their 
device for a length of time up to the remainder of the school year. 



25 
 

In addition to the guidelines set forth in this document in regards to district-issued devices, students should strictly adhere to 
the “Use of Technology – Chromebook Procedures and Information for Students and Parents” document signed electronically 
via online registration prior to receiving the device, also available on the district webpage at http://www.mtzschools.org in the 
“Technology” section under the “Students” tab. 

 
G. Prohibited Uses 
The following activities are unacceptable and prohibited, and shall result in disciplinary action which, in the case of students, 
may include disciplinary measures as provided under the Mt. Zion School Student Code of Conduct, as well as suspension 
or denial of computer network system privileges. 
Students are prohibited from accessing and/or distributing at school any pictures, written material, or electronic material, 
including material from the Internet or from a blog, that: 

 
1. Will cause substantial disruption of the proper and orderly operation and discipline of the school or school activities; 
2. Violates the rights of others, including but not limited to material that is libelous, invades the privacy of others, or 

infringes on a copyright; 
3. Is socially inappropriate or inappropriate due to maturity level of the students, including but not limited to material that 

is obscene, pornographic, or pervasively lewd and vulgar, or contains indecent and vulgar language; 
4. Is primarily intended for the immediate solicitation of funds; or 
5. Is primarily prepared by non-students, unless it is being used for school purposes. Nothing herein shall be interpreted 

to prevent the inclusion of material from outside sources or the citation to such sources as long as the material to be 
distributed or accessed is primarily prepared by students. 

 
Do not use the system to: 
1. Retrieve, view or disseminate obscene, indecent or vulgar materials, or C.D.'s. 
2. Retrieve, view or disseminate any material in violation of any federal or state regulation or school policy. This includes, 

but is not limited to, improper use of copyrighted material and improper use of passwords or access codes. 
3. Transfer files or any software to or from a school computer without prior approval from an authorized staff member. No 

jump drives are to be used on the network without approval of the Technology Director. It is the District's intention to 
prevent the spread of technological viruses. 

4. Engage in for-profit commercial activities, including advertising or sales. 
5. Harass, threaten, intimidate, or demean any person or group of people. 
6. Disrupt the educational process, or to interfere with the rights of others at any time, either during school days or 

after school hours. This includes Cyber Bullying as addressed in the district Bullying Policy. 
7. Disrupt information network traffic, or to interfere with network and/or connected systems. 
8. Gain access without permission to the files of others, or vandalize another user's data or files. 
9. Gain unauthorized access to resources, entities or the network operations system. 

10. Gain access to unapproved software programs. Improperly forge or alter electronic mail messages, or use an account 
owned by another user. 

11. Invade another person's privacy. This includes but is not limited to disclosing the full name, home address, or phone 
number of any other person. To protect their own privacy, users should not use the system to disclose their own names, 
addresses, or phone numbers, either. 

12. Download, copy, print or otherwise store or possess any data, which might be considered in violation of these rules. 
13. Activate chat-rooms, e-mail (students) unless approved by the administration or a faculty member. 
14. Video or audio record staff or other students during the school day without teacher or administration permission. 

 
H. Vandalism 
Any type of vandalism or attempted vandalism (physical or electronic) to District computers, the District network, files of 
others or to the computer network system is prohibited, and may result in immediate cancellation of computer network system 
privileges, disciplinary action and potential legal action. Vandalism includes, but is not limited to, physical damage to district 
owned devices, as well as the downloading, uploading, or creation of computer viruses. 

I. Sanctions 
If a user intentionally engages in any of the prohibited acts listed above, the user may be disciplined in accordance with 
the Mt. Zion School District Student Code of Conduct and may be subject to the following disciplinary actions: 

1. Suspension of Internet access or privileges; 
2. Revocation of Internet access or privileges; 
3. Suspension of computer network access; 
4. Revocation of computer network access; 

http://www.mtzschools.org/


26 
 

5. Detention through recommendation for Expulsion up to 2 years; 
6. Referral to legal authorities for prosecution. 

J. Disclaimer 
Mt. Zion School District No. 3 makes no warranties of any kind whether expressed or implied, for the computer network 
system which is provided for students and adults of the District. The District will not be responsible for any damages suffered 
including the loss of data resulting from delays, non-deliveries, misdeliveries, or service interruptions. Use of any information 
obtained via the system is at the user's own risk. The District denies any responsibility for the accuracy or quality of 
information obtained through the system. The District is not responsible for any unauthorized charges resulting from access 
to the Internet. 
 

 
School Web Page 
The Mt. Zion Community School District #3 provides a School Web Page for each school allowing for student work, 
pictures from field trips, and other activities to be posted on the Internet. 

When using student work or pictures, NO last names will be used. If a picture or sample of student work is used, it will only 
be identified by group or student's first name. A parent who does not want a child's picture and/or work on the Internet must 
file the proper form in the school office. 

 
CONCUSSIONS AND HEAD INJURIES 
Student athletes must comply with Illinois’ Youth Sports Concussion Safety Act and all protocols, policies and bylaws of the 
Illinois High School Association or Illinois Elementary School Association before being allowed to participate in any athletic 
activity, including practice or competition. 

 
A student who was removed from practice or competition because of a suspected concussion shall be allowed to return only 
after all statutory prerequisites are completed, including without limitation, the School District’s return-to-play and return-to- 
learn protocols. 

 
CRISIS MANAGEMENT 
If a crisis occurs in the school setting, the District will provide Crisis Intervention through individual and/or group crisis 
intervention. 

 
DANCES 
Grades 7-12 only: When chaperoned by an adequate staff of responsible adults, dances and other social night activities are 
encouraged. Such activities and plans must be cleared through the class sponsor, who in turn must clear them through the 
principal to avoid any conflict in dates. 

 
Senior High students may bring guests; however, all guests must be of high school age (under 21) and have a guest 
permission form on file in the office before the dance. Each student may bring only one guest. All guests will adhere to Mt. 
Zion High School's Student Code of Conduct. Guests will not be admitted at the door unless accompanied by the student 
registering the guests. At the Junior High level, guests will not be permitted. 

 
Any student or guest who leaves during the dance will not be readmitted. 

 
DELIVERIES 
Deliveries of flowers, candy, balloons, food from delivery drivers, etc., for students will not be accepted at any Mt. Zion School 
District building. 

 
DETENTIONS 
Detentions may be given for a variety of misconducts including, but not limited to, tardiness, class disruption, food and/or 
gum where and when prohibited, and certain types of misconducts on school grounds. In grades K-6, notification will be sent 
home for parent signature and may indicate the need for transportation arrangements. In grades 7-12, students will be given 
24-hour notice to make arrangements for their own transportation. Detentions are to be served with the building 
administrator’s directives within five (5) days of issuance. Detentions cannot be served during class time. 

 
Teacher Detentions (Grades 7-12 only): A teacher detention may last up to 30 minutes after the school day ends and will 
be served with the teacher who issued the detention. 

 
Office Detentions (Grades 7-12 only): An office detention will last for 60 minutes and will be recorded in the office. 
 



27 
 

DIGITAL CITIZENSHIP POLICY 

Introduction 

The Mt. Zion CUSD 3 provides access to digital resources and networks to support the educational mission of the district. The 
use of these resources is a privilege, not a right, and carries responsibilities. This policy outlines acceptable use, promotes 
digital citizenship, and ensures a safe and productive learning environment. 

Digital Citizenship 

In essence, digital citizenship is about being a good citizen in the digital world, just as in the physical world. Digital citizenship 
includes but is not limited to: 

1. Using technology in a safe, legal, respectful, and ethical manner with integrity. 
2. Understand that things shared/posted online will always be there and may have consequences. 
3. Understand that things found on the Internet may not be verified or accurate and it is the responsibility of the user to verify 
accuracy.  
4. Responsible use of online tools, including artificial intelligence 

Acceptable Use of Technology 

1. All use of district digital resources must align with the district's educational objectives. 
2. Users must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and district policies. 
3. Access to district networks and resources may be monitored and tracked. 
4. Users are responsible for maintaining the security of their accounts and passwords. Sharing login credentials or 
attempting to access another user's account is prohibited. 
5. Users should not expect privacy for files stored on school-based computers or district-controlled cloud storage 
environments. Administrators and faculty may review files and messages to ensure responsible use. 

Artificial Intelligence (AI) Usage 

“Artificial intelligence” or “AI” is intelligence demonstrated by computers, as opposed to human intelligence. “Intelligence” 
encompasses the ability to learn, reason, generalize, and infer meaning. Examples of AI technology include Gemini, 
ChatGPT, and other chatbots and large language models. 

Mt. Zion CUSD 3 recognizes that artificial intelligence (AI) is a rapidly evolving technology with the potential to significantly 
impact education. The district is committed to a thoughtful and proactive approach to exploring the impacts of AI on teaching 
and learning. During the 2025-2026 school year, we will engage faculty and staff in professional development and 
collaborative discussions. Our aim is to create a learning environment that empowers students to thrive in an AI-driven world 
while maintaining the core values of human interaction, critical thinking, and ethical responsibility. We are committed to 
thoughtfully integrating AI to benefit our students while maintaining a focus on core educational values. 

1. AI is not a substitute for schoolwork that requires original thought.  
2. Students may not claim AI generated content as their own work.  
3. The use of AI to take tests, complete assignments, create multimedia projects, write papers, or complete schoolwork 

without permission of a teacher or administrator is strictly prohibited.  
4. The use of AI for these purposes constitutes cheating or plagiarism.  
5. In certain situations, AI may be used as a learning tool or a study aid. Students who wish to use AI for legitimate  

educational purposes must have permission from a teacher or an administrator.  
6. Students may use AI as authorized in their Individualized Education Program (IEP).  
7. Students may not use AI, including AI image or voice generator technology, to violate school rules or school district    

  policies.  
8.   In order to ensure academic integrity, tests, assignments, projects, papers, and other schoolwork may be checked by AI     

  content detectors and/or plagiarism recognition software. 

District-Issued Devices 

1. Students are responsible for the care and maintenance of district-issued devices. 
2. Devices should be kept in the provided case when not in use. 
3. Students are liable for loss or damage beyond normal wear and tear. 
4. District-issued devices are subject to monitoring, regardless of location. 
5. Use of headphones is permitted during study hours, as directed by supervising staff. 



28 
 

6. Supervising staff have the ability to monitor browsing activity and take screenshots. 
7. Students must adhere to the "Use of Technology – Chromebook Procedures and Information for Students and Parents"    
       document. 
 

Prohibited Uses 

The following activities are prohibited and will result in disciplinary action: 

1. Accessing or distributing content that: 
a. Disrupts the educational environment. 
b. Violates the rights of others (e.g., libel, invasion of privacy, copyright infringement). 
c. Is obscene, pornographic, or contains inappropriate language. 
d. Is primarily intended for solicitation of funds. 

2. Retrieving, viewing, or disseminating obscene, indecent, or vulgar materials. 
3. Violating federal, state, or district regulations (e.g., copyright infringement, unauthorized access). 
4. Transferring files or software without authorization. 
5. Engaging in commercial activities. 
6. Harassing, threatening, or intimidating others (including cyberbullying). 
7. Disrupting network traffic or interfering with system operations. 
8. Gaining unauthorized access to files or accounts. 
9. Forging or altering electronic communications. 
10. Invading another person's privacy (e.g., disclosing personal information). 
11. Downloading, copying, printing or storing data in violation of these rules. 
12. Activating unauthorized chat rooms, including within documents  
13. Emailing students or staff for non-educationally related activities 
14. Video or audio recording staff or students without permission. 
15. Physical or electronic vandalism of district resources. 

Child Internet Protection Act (CIPA) 

1. The district utilizes internet filtering to restrict access to inappropriate content. 
2. All online activities are subject to monitoring. 
3. Unauthorized disclosure of minors' personal information is prohibited. 
4. Unauthorized online access (e.g., hacking) is prohibited. 
5. All staff are responsible for supervising and monitoring student internet use. 

Email and Student Web Pages 

1. Student email is for educational purposes only and is not private. 
2. Student email addresses should not be publicly available without administrative approval. 
3. Personal use of district email resources is prohibited. 
4. Student web pages must be part of a district-sponsored activity or have administrative approval. 
5. All web page content must be approved by a teacher or administrator. 

Sanctions 

Violations of this policy may result in the following disciplinary actions: 

1. Suspension or revocation of internet access. 
2. Suspension or revocation of network access. 
3. Detention to expulsion (up to 2 years). 
4. Referral to legal authorities. 

Disclaimer 

Mt. Zion School District No. 3 makes no warranties of any kind whether expressed or implied, for the computer network 
system which is provided for students and adults of the District. The District will not be responsible for any damages suffered 
including the loss of data resulting from delays, non-deliveries, misdeliveries, or service interruptions. Use of any information 
obtained via the system is at the user's own risk. The District denies any responsibility for the accuracy or quality of 



29 
 

information obtained through the system. The District is not responsible for any unauthorized charges resulting from access 
to the Internet. 

Authorization 

Use of district digital resources constitutes acceptance of this policy. 

 

DIRECTORY INFORMATION 
Directory information may be disclosed without prior notice or consent unless the parent/guardian or eligible student notifies 
the Records Custodian or other official in writing, before October 1 of the current school year, that he does not want any or 
all of the directory information disclosed. Directory information includes the student's name, address, telephone listing, date 
and place of birth, major field of study, participation in officially recognized activities and sports, weight and height of members 
of athletic teams, dates of attendance, degrees and awards received, and the most recent previous educational agency or 
institution attended. 

 
Military Recruiters' Access to Directory Info 
As per federal law, the Mt. Zion High School Principal (or designee) will, upon the written request of a military recruiter, provide 
access to the Directory Information referred to in the above paragraph, unless written notice to the contrary is submitted to 
the Records Custodian or other official in writing, before October of the current year. 

 
DISCIPLINE CODE OF CONDUCT - STUDENTS 
Philosophy 
Discipline has been defined as: “Controlled behavior to develop within an individual responsibility for his/her own action 
in accordance with socially accepted conduct.” 

 
Schools have developed disciplinary policies with this definition as a guide, but in recent years it has become apparent that 
these policies have not always produced the desired results. Therefore, it has become necessary to review disciplinary 
policies and to develop a philosophy and policy which will enable schools to provide an atmosphere for the development of 
effective citizens for the society in which they exist. 

 
The Board of Education of Mt. Zion Community Unit School District No. 3 believes that the primary function of its 
schools must be the preparation of all students for meaningful, rewarding participation in our democratic society. 
Each student has a right to those educational experiences which will enable him/her to meet his/her present and future needs 
and to realize his/her individual potential for participation. This right will be respected so long as it does not result in behavior 
which denies to others the same right. This is a basic concept of democracy which must be progressively nurtured in all of 
our students during their school years as a part of their normal physical, social and emotional maturation. 

 
Every school district has the inherent right to require cooperation of its members, staff and students, in the performance of 
its educational function and to take appropriate action when the conduct of any of its members impedes, obstructs or 
threatens the harmony of the institution or the realization of its educational objectives. 

 
It must be recognized from the outset that schools cannot do the job alone. The influence of the family, community and 
preschool training of children cannot be minimized. Parents cannot evade the important role they play in the development of 
the behavioral characteristics of their children. The parent is the child's first teacher and remains the most important teacher 
throughout the formative years. 

 
The Mt. Zion School District is committed to the goal of safe schools and an orderly process of instruction. This commitment 
requires that everyone - students, parents, teachers, school administrators, central office personnel, and members of the 
Board of Education - assumes his/her share of responsibility toward the attainment of that goal. To do otherwise would be a 
great disservice to the young people of Mt. Zion. 

 
Rights, Responsibilities and Regulations 
This code is intended, in general terms, to describe some of the rights and responsibilities of students in the Mt. 
Zion Community Unit Schools and to set forth regulations governing school behavior. 

 
This code does not define ALL types and aspects of student behavior. 

 
Establishment of Policies, Rules, Regulations 
The Board of Education and the Superintendent of Schools, through the authority granted by Illinois School Code Chapter 
122, Article 10, Sect. 20.5, may establish written policies, rules and regulations of general application governing student 



30 
 

conduct in all schools. 
 

In addition, each principal, within his or her school, may establish certain written rules and regulations not inconsistent with 
those established by the Board of Education and the Superintendent of Schools. 

Areas of Prohibited Student Conduct 
The Board of Education subscribes to the theory that a democratic society can function successfully only when there is an 
intelligent citizenry. 

 
The Board of Education also places strong emphasis upon individual student responsibility for both learning and behavior, 
but it is also essential that rules and regulations imperative in governing the relationship between the school and its members 
be communicated in clear, concise policies. Therefore, the Board of Education has enumerated some of the main areas of 
conduct which may lead to disciplinary action, including possible suspension for a period of ten (10) school days or expulsion 
not to exceed two (2) school years. The Superintendent of Schools is authorized to suspend and/or recommend to the Board 
of Education expulsion in cases of gross disobedience and misconduct. Gross disobedience and misconduct include, but not 
limited to the violations listed in the discipline policy. 

 
Grounds for disciplinary action apply whenever the student's conduct is on school property or reasonably related to school 
or school activities including, but not limited to conduct occurring: 

 
1) On, or within sight of, school grounds before, during, or after school hours; 
2) Off school grounds at a school-sponsored activity, or event, or any activity or event which bears a reasonable 

relationship to school; 
3) Traveling to or from school or a school activity, function or event, in school provided and/or school authorized 

transportation; 
4) Anywhere, if the conduct interferes with, disrupts, or adversely affects the school environment, school operations, or 

an educational function, including, but not limited to, conduct that may reasonably be considered to: (a) be a threat or 
an attempted intimidation of a staff member; or (b) endanger the health or safety of students, staff, or school property. 

 
DISCIPLINE POLICY & PROCEDURES FOR STUDENTS 
RANGE OF ADMINISTRATIVE CONSEQUENCES 
The following displays the range of consequences for misbehavior. It begins with the least severe consequence and ends 
with expulsion. The chart does not imply a required sequence of disciplinary actions. 

 
Warning 

Parent Contact Parent Conference 
Detention/Saturday School Technology/Device Revocation Restitution 

Social Probation 
Office Supervision 

In School Suspension 
Referral to Outside Agencies 
Out of School Suspension (1-10 Days) Mental Health Assessment 

Referral to an Alternative Ed Program 
Expulsion 

 
Parent notification may occur at all levels in the "Range of Administrative Discipline Consequences”, but will occur from the 
“Parent Contact” through “Expulsion” levels. 

 
DEFINITIONS OF CONSEQUENCES 
Warning 
Students are told that repeated offense(s) will result in more severe disciplinary action. 

 
Parent Contact 
Parent is notified of the discipline concern by phone, mail or in person. 

 
Parent Conference 
A formal scheduled meeting with parent/guardian to discuss a student’s behavior. 

 
 

Detention/Saturday School 
Time assigned the student by a staff member or administrator to be served at the discretion of the administrator. 



31 
 
 

Technology/Device Revocation 
Students who engage in a pattern of technology violations (two or more instances) may have their district-issued Chromebook 
confiscated for up to the remainder of the year. Students will still have access to a loaner Chromebook when needed for in- 
class work, but loaners are not to leave the building. Students are still responsible for all online work including that which 
needs to be completed outside of school hours. 

Restitution 
The parent/guardian and student may be billed by the business office for the cost of damages. Students may be required to 
perform simple work consistent with the nature of the offense committed to remedy the damage which they or others have 
caused to property or grounds, for example: removal of gum from under desks and seats, repair of damaged property, 
removal of gang identifiers painted on buildings, repair of grounds damaged by vehicles, etc. 

 
Social Probation 
Exclusion from participation in and/or attendance at an extracurricular school-sanctioned activity. 

 
Office Supervision 
Temporary holding situation: Students are placed in a supervised area for one or two class periods after a staff member has 
removed them from a class or situation for disciplinary reasons. During a supervision period, the student will work on class 
assignments under the supervision of a district employee. 

 
In-School Suspension 
Alternative to out-of-school suspension, not to exceed ten days at a time. Students assigned for a full day will be required to 
attend seven hours of closely supervised instruction designed to help the student make appropriate behavior modifications 
and receive 100% credit. Students are excluded from all activities sanctioned by the Mt. Zion School District until time served 
is completed. 

 
Referral to Outside Agencies 
Referral for services to community agencies including, but not limited to, the local police department, the truancy office 
at Macon-Piatt Regional Office of Education, medical professionals, etc. 

 
Out-of-School Suspension 
A temporary exclusion of a student from school (including all activities sanctioned by the Mt. Zion School District), from all 
school district property, from riding the school bus or from a class or classes for a period of time not to exceed ten (10) 
attendance days and receive 100% credit for work made up and submitted to the teacher. Students who have been 
suspended for 4-10 days may receive support services during the out-of-school suspension. Student will receive re- 
engagement services as determined by administrators upon their return to school. If suspension was a result of a threat, a 
student may be determined by the administration to require an evaluation from a mental health professional before returning 
to school. If such a determination is made, the building principal and the parent will meet and then a letter discussing the 
need for a mental health evaluation will be sent home with the parent. 

 
Bus Suspension 
A student may be suspended from riding the school bus in excess of ten (10) attendance days for safety reasons. If a student 
does not have alternative transportation to school, it is the parent/guardian’s responsibility to inform the school that no such 
alternative transportation is available. If the District receives notice from the parent that no alternative transportation is 
available, that student can receive 100% credit for work made up and submitted to the teacher. 

 
Referral to an Alternative Education Program 
Referral to an alternative education program, which students attend in place of their regular attendance center. 

 
Expulsion 
Board of Education approved exclusion of a student for a period of time greater than ten (10) attendance days but not to 
exceed two (2) calendar years. Expelled students are not allowed on Mt. Zion School District property or allowed to attend 
any activity sanctioned by the Mt. Zion School District until their term of expulsion has been completed. Students will receive 
re-engagement services as determined by administrators upon their return to school. 

 
DISCIPLINE VIOLATIONS AND RANGES OF CONSEQUENCES 
Discipline is determined on a case-by-case basis and is at the discretion of school administrators and Board of Education. 
The level of consequences imposed will be consistent with the Illinois School Code. 

 
a. The guidelines do not allow for zero-tolerance discipline except as required by federal law or in the Illinois School 

Code. The asterisk (*) also indicates violations that may be reported to the police. All parents/guardians and students 
should be aware that some of the acts listed below as well as violations of the District Handbook, can also bring 



32 
 

criminal prosecutions and penalties in addition to school disciplinary action. The school, the police or state’s attorney, 
parents/guardians, and/or students can also bring legal action against a student/parent for certain offenses. The District 
will notify the police department of any act involving drugs, weapons, and assault of district employees. Students 
should notify the administration of any violation of the discipline policy. 

Out of school suspensions and expulsions are only used for legitimate educational purposes. The District will make 
all reasonable efforts to resolve threats, address disruptions and minimize the length of exclusion to the greatest 
extent possible before disciplining a student with a suspension or expulsion. 

 
1. Alarms, False (Including Bomb Threats)* 

Making a false fire alarm or any other knowingly false and disruptive rumor or report. 
 

2. Use, Under the influence or possession, Sale or Distribution of Drugs Including Alcohol* 
Any student exhibiting signs of possessing, using, selling, buying, transmitting, or secreting any alcoholic beverage, 
narcotic or hallucinogenic drug, marijuana (including CBD oils and/or other substances with THC) unless the student is 
authorized to be administered a medical cannabis infused product under Ashley’s Law, barbiturate, amphetamine, 
intoxicant, inhalant, drug paraphernalia and/or any other controlled substance including any look-alike drug and/or any 
look-alike non-alcoholic beverage, while on the campus, at a school activity, or in a vehicle used for transportation to 
school and parked on or in the vicinity of the campus, or at any time under school jurisdiction, shall be subject to discipline, 
up to and including suspension/expulsion. The sale, distribution, intent to sell or deliver drugs including look alike drugs 
and alcohol in the school building, on campus, school activity, or in a vehicle used for transportation to school and parked 
on or in the vicinity of the campus or at any time under school jurisdiction is prohibited. Police or juvenile authorities and 
the Superintendent of Schools shall be notified. 

 
3. Arson * 

 
4. Bullying/Hazing 

Bullying includes cyberbullying and means any severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct, including 
communications made in writing or electronically, directed toward a student or students that has or can be reasonably 
predicted to have the effect of one or more of the following: 

1. Placing the student or students in reasonable fear of harm to the student’s or students’ person or property; 
2. Causing a substantially detrimental effect on the student’s or students’ physical or mental health; 
3. Substantially interfering with the student’s or students’ academic performance; or 
4. Substantially interfering with the student’s or students’ ability to participate in or benefit from the services, activities, 

or privileges provided by a school. 

Bullying includes, but is not limited to, aggressive or negative gestures, or written, verbal or physical acts that place 
another student in reasonable fear of harm to person or property, or that has the effect of insulting or demeaning any 
student in such way as to disrupt or interfere with the school’s educational missions or education of any student. Please 
reference the bullying policy on Pages 18-19 for more details. 

 
5. Bus Misconduct (K-12) 

In the interest of safety, the Mt. Zion School District expects students who ride buses to follow its expectations for their 
behavior on the bus. 

 
6. Cheating 

Cheating is defined as engaging in academic dishonesty, intentionally plagiarizing, using a writing service and/or 
generative artificial intelligence technology in place of original work unless specifically authorized by staff, wrongfully 
giving or receiving help during an academic examination, altering report cards, and wrongfully obtaining test copies or 
scores. 

• Plagiarism - is intellectual theft and fraud. It is the intentional or even unintentional submission of work that is 
not your own. 
o Examples of plagiarism: 

• Copying information from google utilizing either the copy/paste feature or direct transcription. 
• Submitting work from another student or any other person as your own either through the copy paste 

feature or direct transcription. 
• Failing to properly cite information that you obtained from another source. This can happen on 

purpose or even accidentally. 
• Borrowing information from a source and failing to cite that source because you 

changed a few words or used some synonyms in place of that author’s original work. 
 

7. Destruction of or Damage to Public or Private Property/Vandalism (K-12) * 



33 
 

Willfully or negligently defacing, destroying, damaging, stealing (or attempting to steal), or causing the same to be done 
to any school property or another person’s personal property is prohibited. Police or juvenile authorities may be notified. 
The student will be held financially responsible for the cost of replacing or restoring such property to its original condition. 

8. Detention, Failure to Serve (K-12) 

9. Disruptive Behavior/Horseplay (K-12) 
 

10. Electronic Communication/ Entertainment Devices/Cell Phones/Wearable Technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.): 
The use of cell phones/devices/ wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.) on school property by students is 
considered a privilege. Failure to follow the rules related to the use and possession of cell phones/devices/wearable 
technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.) may result in the loss of the privilege. 

Mt. Zion CUSD #3 is not responsible for lost, damaged, or stolen electronic communication/entertainment devices/ cell 
phones/wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.). Students are prohibited from connecting their 
communication/entertainment devices/cell phones/wearable technology to school wireless networks during school hours 
without consent of administration for educational purposes. Mt. Zion CUSD #3 is not responsible for monetary charges 
for students using data plans or other cell phone/device services. This is the responsibility of the owner of the cell phone/ 
device. 

 
Cell Phones/Wearable Technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.) and other Electronic/ Communication Devices: 

 
High School: (7:45 a.m. - 2:30 p.m.) Cell phones/devices may be carried by the students, but they must be out of sight 
and silenced. During the school day, cell phones/device and wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, earbuds, etc.) 
may not be used unless authorized by administration or a faculty member. Students in grades 9-12 are allowed to use 
their cell phone/device wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, earbuds, etc.) during passing periods and during their 
lunch time as long as it is not disruptive to the educational process or infringing on the rights of others. Unauthorized use 
of a cell phone/device/wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, earbuds, etc.) during the school day will result in 
consequences. 

 
During class time, authorized use of a cell phone/device/wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, earbuds, etc.) includes 
the consent of the classroom teacher for academic purposes only. Unsupervised/unauthorized use of a cell 
phone/device/wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.) during class time is prohibited. 

 
For the protection of students, employees, and the educational process, the use of cell phones/devices/wearable 
technology (i.e. smart watches, earbuds, etc.) is strictly prohibited for the locations and situations described below: 

 
1. A student video or audio recording of staff or other students during the school day without teacher or 

administration permission 
2. The use of a cell phone/device in a locker room or a restroom is prohibited. Circumstances may warrant a violation 

of this stipulation to be treated the same as sexual harassment/misconduct. 
3. The use of a cell phone/device/wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, earbuds, etc.) during quizzes or tests 

may be treated the same as cheating/academic dishonesty. 
4. Students serving In-school suspension, Detention, or Saturday School are prohibited from using a cell 

phone/personal device/wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.). 
5. Personal listening devices (i.e. headphones, earbuds, etc.) are prohibited during class time, unless approved by a 

teacher for academic purposes. 
 

Jr. High: (7:35 a.m. - 2:30 p.m.) Cell phones/devices may be carried by the students, but they must be out of sight and 
silenced. During the school day, cell phones/devices may not be used and wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.) 
may not be worn unless authorized by administration. Students in grades 7-8 are allowed to use their cell phones during 
their lunch time as long as it is not disruptive to the educational process or infringing on the rights of others. The use of 
cell phones/devices in restrooms and locker rooms is strictly prohibited. Unauthorized use of a cell 
phone/device/wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.) during the school day may result in disciplinary 
consequences. 

 
K-6: (8:00 a.m. - 3:15 p.m.) Cell Phones/Devices/Wearable Technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.) must be turned off and 
kept in either the student’s locker or backpack. Cell Phones/Devices/Wearable Technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.) may 
not be carried or worn by students at any time during the school day. 

11. Failure to Follow Directions/ Insubordination 
Willful failure to comply with the directions of teachers, student teachers, school aides, bus drivers, principals, or 
other authorized school personnel. 

 
12. Forgery/False Reports to Staff (K-12) 



34 
 
 

13. Gambling (K-12) 
Gambling is prohibited on school premises or at school events. 



35 
 

14. Gang-Like Activities* (K-12) 
As used herein, a gang is referred to as any group of two (2) or more persons whose purpose includes the commission 
of illegal acts that violate any local, state, or federal law. No student on school grounds, on a school bus or at any school 
or school-related activity shall engage in any gang related activity including wearing or displaying of known gang symbols 
(colors, signs, signals, gestures, graffiti, etc.). 

 
15. Harassment-Other Than Sexual (K-12) 

 
16. Harassment-Sexual 

Sexual harassment is defined as conduct on the basis of sex that satisfies one or more of the following: 

(1) An employee of the recipient conditioning the provision of an aid, benefit, or service of the recipient on an individual's 
participation in unwelcome sexual conduct; 
(2) Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive that it 
effectively denies a person equal access to the recipient's education program or activity; or 
(3) “Sexual assault” as defined in 20 U.S.C. 1092(f)(6)(A)(v), “dating violence” as defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(10), 
“domestic violence” as defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(8), or “stalking” as defined in 34 U.S.C. 12291(a)(30). 

 
17. Illegal Entry* (K-12) 

 
18. In an Unauthorized Area 

 
19. Inappropriate Dress (K-12) 

Dressing, grooming, or behaving, in a manner which presents a clear and present danger to a student’s health and 
safety, or in a manner that causes an interference with schoolwork or which creates a classroom or school disruption. 

 
20.  Inappropriate Public Display of Affection (K-12) 

 
21. Inappropriate Sexual Conduct (K-12) 

 
22. Computer Acceptable Use Policy Violations 

 
23. Parking Lot Violations 

 
24. Participation in Acts Designed to Disrupt School (strikes, mass defiance etc.) (K-12) 

 
25. Physical Confrontation/Physical Violence with Students 

Causing or attempting to cause physical injury to any student, or other person is unacceptable in the Mt. Zion Schools. 
The District expects all students to exhibit no violent behavior. 

 
26. Physical Confrontation/Physical Violence with Staff * 

Causing or attempting to cause physical injury to any employee, or authorized adult, including touching of the 
employee/person who is attempting to stop the confrontation, is unacceptable in Mt. Zion Schools. The District expects 
all students to exhibit no violent behavior. 

27. Profanity 
Profane and obscene language, gestures, or drawings and possession of magazines/literature with an overt sexual 
content are not tolerated. 

28. Saturday School, Failure to Serve 
 

29. Sex Texting (Sexting) (K-12) 
Soliciting, sending, or displaying explicit materials. 

 
30. Unexcused Tardiness-Classroom (K-12) 

Students are expected to comply with state and local attendance laws including, but not limited to, truancy from specific 
classes and tardiness in general or to specific classes. 

31. Unexcused Tardiness - Late to School 
Students who are late to school are required to sign in at the office. 



36 
 

32. Theft * 
 

33. Threats to Staff * 
Threatening or intimidating any teacher, other school employee or visitor is prohibited. An open previously published letter 
to parents depicts this theory. Interfering with school purpose or with the orderly operation of the school by using, 
threatening to use, or counseling other persons to use violence, force, coercion, threats, intimidation, fear, or disruptive 
means. This includes verbal, written or implied threats and/or discussions about using weapons, guns, bombs, etc. which 
could alarm, disturb, or interfere with the orderly operation of the school. 

 
34. Threats to Students * 

Threatening or intimidating any student. An open previously published letter to parents depicts this theory. Interfering with 
school purpose or with the orderly operation of the school by using, threatening to use, or counseling other persons to 
use violence, force, coercion, threats, intimidation, fear, or disruptive means. This includes verbal, written or implied 
threats and/or discussions about using weapons, guns, bombs, etc. which could alarm, disturb, or interfere with the 
orderly operation of the school. 

 
35. Use, Possession, Distribution, Purchasing or Selling Tobacco/Nicotine, Electronic/ Vapor Cigarettes or 

Tobacco/Nicotine Materials in any form 
The use, possession, distribution, purchase or sale of tobacco/Nicotine related products/paraphernalia on school grounds 
during school hours and during school functions is prohibited. 

 
36. Truancy 

Students are expected to comply with state and local attendance laws including, but not limited to, truancy from specific 
classes. Truancy includes being more than 5 minutes late to a class as well as no parent contact in relation to a student 
absence. Truancy will result in parent contact through referral to Macon-Piatt Regional Office of Education. 

 
37. Verbal Confrontation with Staff 

Obscenity and/or indecent conduct or language, including any verbal abuse of a teacher, secretary, food service worker, 
custodian, bus driver, and/or supervisor at school activities or on or off school property. 

 
38. Verbal Confrontation with Student 

Obscenity and/or indecent conduct or language, including any verbal abuse of a student at school activities or on or 
off school property. 

 
39. Weapon Related * 

Students are prohibited from possessing the following objects at school, any school-sponsored activity or event, or any 
activity or event that bears a reasonable relationship to school: 

1. A firearm, meaning any gun, rifle, shotgun, or weapon as defined by Section 921 of Title 18 of the United States 
Code (18 U.S.C. § 921), firearm as defined in Section 1.1 of the Firearm Owners Identification Card Act (430 
ILCS 65/), or firearm as defined in Section 24-1 of the Criminal Code of 1961 (720 ILCS 5/24-1). 

2. A knife, brass knuckles, or other knuckle weapon regardless of its composition, a billy club, or any other object if 
used or attempted to be used to cause bodily harm, including look-alikes of any firearm as defined above. 

40. Any Other Acts That Endanger the Well-Being of Students, Teachers, or Any Other Employees (K-12) 
 

Students Suspended from Other Schools 
Any student suspended or expelled for any reason from any other public or private school in Illinois or any other state 
must complete the entire term of the suspension or expulsion before admission to this School District is permitted. 

 
Other Discipline Alternatives 
Other discipline measures which can be taken by teachers and/or appropriate administrative personnel include, but are not 
limited to the following: (1) verbal reprimand, (2) parent conferences, (3) time out, (4) detention, (5) Saturday School, (6) 
withdrawal of privileges, (7) behavioral contract, (8) peer counseling, (9) referral to counselor, (10) referral to social worker, 
(11) letter of apology/essay about proper conduct, (12) referral to police liaison officer, (13) rearrangement of class schedules, 
(14) directed study (in-house suspension), (15) restitution, (16) seizure of contraband, (17) mandatory counseling, and (18) 
social probation. 

 
Corporal punishment shall not be used. Corporal punishment is defined as slapping, paddling, or prolonged maintenance of 
students in physically painful positions, or intentional infliction of bodily harm. Corporal punishment does not include, and 
certificated personnel are permitted to use, reasonable force as needed to maintain safety for other students, school 



37 
 

personnel, or persons, or for the purpose of self-defense or the defense of property. 
 

Co-curricular Misconduct 
While participating in co-curricular activities (either as a participant or as a spectator), students will adhere to the Mt. Zion 
Community Unit School District No. 3 Discipline Code as well as all federal, state, and local laws. Student misconduct during 
co-curricular activities may be handled similarly to misconduct taking place during school hours on district premises. 
Appropriate discipline measures may be taken by the sponsor/teacher/coach as well as referrals to the administration for 
disciplinary action. This may cause the student to be removed from co-curricular activities and/or positions of leadership 
(e.g., Student Council, FFA, FBLA). 

 
Students and parents are reminded that participation in activities is a privilege. Students must assume responsibility for 
their behavior during their participation and abide by any rules and codes as may be implemented. 

 
41. Mt. Zion Village Ordinances 
The city ordinances are voted on by the Village of Mt. Zion. These are not rules or policies that Mt. Zion School District has 
any control over. They have been included to inform parents and students. For a complete list of Village ordinances please 
use the following link: https://mtzion.com/ordinances. 

 
42. Isolated Time Out 
School officials have the right to use isolated time-outs and physical restraints as defined in the school code and 
regulations. Isolated time-outs and physical restraints are to be used only to maintain a safe and orderly environment for 
learning and preserve the safety of students and others, not as a form of punishment or a means of disciplining a student. 
A parent can request a copy of the district’s policy by contacting the Superintendent. 

 
43. Corporal Punishment 
Corporal punishment is banned. Corporal punishment does not include reasonable force as needed to maintain safety for 
students, staff, or other persons, or for the purpose of self-defense or defense of property. Reasonable force or physical 
guidance may be used to restrain students in limited circumstances that include: a) for their safety, b) if they are a threat to 
others, c) to prevent damage to school property, or d) if a student behavior interferes with a classroom or other scheduled 
program. 

 
DRESS AND APPEARANCE 
Students in the Mt. Zion School District are expected to wear clothing in a neat, clean and well-fitting manner. Students are 
to use discretion in their dress and are not permitted to wear apparel that is distractive or obscene. Dress and grooming shall 
neither present a risk to the health, safety, or general welfare of students in the school nor interfere or disrupt the educational 
environment or process. Students who are in violation with these guidelines will be asked to change their attire immediately 
and will be given a warning. Subsequent violations may result in further disciplinary action. 

• Dress and grooming shall not be contrary to curriculum goals and/or educational objectives or advertise, promote, or 
picture alcoholic beverages, illegal drugs, or illegal or violent behavior. 

• Dress and grooming including accessories, shall not display lewd, vulgar, obscene or plainly offensive language or 
symbols, including gang symbols. 

• Clothes must be worn in a way such that all private parts are fully covered with opaque fabric. 
• The following items are considered inappropriate: plunging necklines, bare midriffs, shirts with spaghetti straps, halter 

tops, strapless shirts, clothing made of see-through material that allow undergarments to be visible, clothes that do not 
cover hips and backside, sunglasses, head apparel that covers ears or rests below eye brows, hoods worn up and 
pajama bottoms. 

 
Interpretation of dress code violations is up to building administration and is determined based on safety and appropriateness. 

 
DUAL CREDIT STUDENTS 
Mt. Zion students enrolled in the dual credit program and attending classes at Richland Community College must adhere to 
all rules and regulations contained in the Mt. Zion School District No. 3 Handbook/Calendar and the District Board Policy 
Manual. Refer to the Student Course Planning Handbook on the Guidance Department website at: 
https://www.mtzschools.org/guidance regarding all details and policies related to dual credit opportunities for students. 

 
Students absent from classes at Richland due to illness during the school day will not be admitted to after school extra- 
curricular activities. However, excused appointments as delineated in the appointment section of this handbook will not affect 
the option of attending after school functions. 

http://www.mtzschools.org/guidance


38 
 

RICHLAND TRANSFER ACADEMY 
Richland Community College has partnered with area high schools to offer an opportunity for students to earn up to 38-41 
transferable college credits in a two-year Dual Credit Program. 

 
Much like the students who attend the technical academy, students who enroll in the RTA will be at Mt. Zion High School 1/2 
day and will attend RCC and be enrolled in three college level courses the remainder of the day, earning 9-10 college credits 
each semester. Courses offered to students in this program are "approved" by the Illinois Articulation Initiative to transfer as 
General Education Core Curriculum (GECC) to other 4-year colleges and universities in the State of Illinois. (For more 
information on the Illinois Articulation Agreement visit their website at http://www.itransfer.org.) 

 
Requirements for Admission: 
In order to enroll in the Richland Transfer Academy students must meet the following criteria: 

1. Minimum 3.70 weighted cumulative HS GPA. 
2. Junior or senior during the school year for which the student is applying. 
3. Missed no more than 10 days of school the previous two semesters. 
4. No Out of School disciplinary issues the previous two semesters. 
5. Sophomore applicants: Have earned 9 credits by January of Grade 10. 

Junior applicants: Earned 15 credits by January of Grade 11. 
6. Option 1: Successfully pass both the English and Math placement tests required by RCC. 
7. Option 2: Earn approved ACT scores for placement into transferable coursework. Math 22, English 19, and reading 19. 

Students taking the ACT should have their scores sent directly to RCC. 
8. Complete the MTZ - Richland Transfer Academy Application and have it turned in by the deadline. 

 
NOTE: Meeting the application criteria does not guarantee admission. Participation in the RTA can further be limited by 
Mt. Zion CUSD #3 or RCC based on the number of applicants, scheduling concerns, and other administrative considerations. 

 
Fee Information: 
The Mt. Zion School District pays for tuition and fees associated with enrollment in the Richland Transfer Academy. Students 
will be responsible for purchasing their own books for the program. Individual students will pay a program fee of $400 per 
year for participation in the program. The program fee is due at the time of registration in August. 

 
GPA Information: 
It is important to note students do start their college GPA with enrollment in the dual credit courses, and this GPA may transfer 
to their intended 4-year college or university. 

 
Students enrolled in the RTA would be expected to follow the attendance calendar of Richland Community College. 

 
Students enrolled in the RTA would still be expected to meet the graduation requirements set forth by the Mt. Zion Board of 
Education to receive a Mt. Zion High School Diploma. 

 
HEARTLAND TECHNICAL ACADEMY 
The Heartland Technical Academy offers 18 different programs to students who have specific career/college interests. Fifteen 
of these programs offer dual credit and most are taught at the Richland Community College campus. Parents and interested 
students can consult the website: www.tech-academy.org for program descriptions and further details. 

 
Requirements for Admission: 
Admission to the Heartland Technical Academy is based on the following guidelines: 

1. Junior or senior during the school year for which the student is applying. 
2. Academic success defined as a 1.8 overall GPA. 
3. Missed no more than 10 days of unexcused school days the previous two semesters. 
4. Counselor recommendation 
5. Administrator recommendation pending review of discipline records for prior two semesters. Serious and/or repeat 

discipline offenses resulting in out of school suspension can result in loss of admission. Students must complete an 
application and transcripts are sent with that application. 

Fee Information: 
Students attending the Technical Academy will be charged $200 per year which is due in August at the time of 
registration. Students on reduced lunches will be charged $100 and students on free lunches will be charged $50. 

http://www.itransfer.org/
http://www.tech-academy.org/


39 
 

EARLY BIRD 
Early Bird education classes will be offered from 6:50 a.m. to 7:35 a.m. to allow students more flexibility in their schedules. It 
is the student’s responsibility to provide his/her own transportation for this class. Early Bird is considered part of the normal 
school day. The Junior High offers one section of early bird Spanish to those students in a vocal or instrumental music class. 
Once scheduling is complete, the remaining seats will be offered to students in electives other than study hall. 

 
ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENT POLICY 
Grades 5-12 
High school students must pass six academic classes per week in order to maintain "activities eligibility" in Mt. Zion High 
School. Weekly eligibility is determined by the total points accumulated for the current semester. Students who are 
not passing 6 classes will be prohibited from missing school for trips taken during the school day, provided the trip is not part 
of the grade earning process. Per IESA eligibility rules, students participating in junior high activities must pass all subjects 
to maintain "activities eligibility" and participate in out of classroom activities. 

 
Students WOULD be allowed to participate in those activities which are part of the “grade earning” process. These would 
include band and choir concerts performed within the District. However, all such NECESSARY activities must be determined 
by the teacher AND the principal prior to the beginning of any grade period. 

 
High School athletes are also required to maintain IHSA eligibility - a student must have passed and received credit toward 
graduation for 5 courses of high school work for the entire previous semester to be eligible at all during the ensuing semester. 

 
Junior High School athletes are also required to maintain IESA eligibility - a student shall be doing passing work as 
determined by the local school district in all subjects. 

 
EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSINGS 
When the decision is made to close schools for the day, the Districts parent communication system will be activated. 
Parents/guardians/staff will receive notification via home phone, cell phone, work phone and/or e-mail. Radio and television 
stations will also be notified. 

 
WXFM 99.3 FM Radio-Mt. Zion WDZQ 95.1 FM Radio-Decatur 
WDKR 107.3 FM Radio-Decatur WSOY 1340 AM Radio-Decatur 
WZNX (The Fox) 106.7 FM Radio-Decatur WSOY (Y103) 102.9 FM Radio-Decatur 
WYDS (D93) 93 FM Radio-Decatur WAND 10/17 TV-Decatur 
WEJT (Live 105) 105.1 FM Radio-Decatur WCIA 3 TV-Champaign 
WDZ 1050 AM Radio-Decatur WICS 2/20 TV-Springfield 

 
School officials will make every attempt to determine if conditions call for school closing by 6:30 a.m. at the latest. If there is 
no announcement, school will be open as usual. 

 
In the event school is dismissed early or closed for the day due to weather conditions, the cancellation of all co-curricular 
activities and/or practices will be determined by the administration. 

 
EQUAL EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES 
The Mt. Zion School District is committed to providing educational programs and services designed to meet all students’ 
individual needs and abilities. The District’s educational environment will not discriminate against any individual for any 
protected status. Individuals who feel they have been discriminated against for any reason have the right to express their 
concern using the District grievance procedure. 

 
 

EXAM WAIVER PRIVILEGE - MT. ZION HIGH SCHOOL 
All students at Mt. Zion High School are expected to take semester exams. The exception to this requirement is the final 
exam waiver privilege, which may be earned by students based on the following criteria: 

 
Exam Waiver Privilege 
A senior student may waive (not take) a semester exam(s) if the following 3 out of 4 criteria are met: 

 
 

1. Behavior Requirements: No out-of-school suspensions or in-school suspensions issued by the office for major infractions 
(ie. drugs, alcohol, tobacco/nicotine, weapons, physical/verbal aggression) for the semester. This requirement must be 
one of the three met in order to waive any exams. 

2. Attendance Requirement: Three or fewer absences for the semester in order for attendance to be one of the three 



40 
 

requirements met. If a student has four or five absences from a course, they must meet requirements 1, 3, and 4 to be 
able to earn the exam waiver privilege in that course. Students that have more than five absences in a course are not 
eligible to waive the exam in that course regardless of meeting requirements 1, 3, and 4. Excused college days and 
other school-related activities during the school day will not count against the student. 

3. Tardy Requirement: The student has had two or fewer tardies to school at the start of the school day for the semester. 
4. Academic Requirements: The student maintains at least a “B” or higher academic average for the semester grade in 

the course. 

Second semester exams for seniors may be scheduled prior to the regularly scheduled final exams for grades 9-11. 

A junior student may waive (not take) up to two final exams second semester only if the three out of four of the following 
criteria are met: 

 
1. Behavior Requirements: No out-of-school suspensions or in-school suspensions issued by the office for major infractions 

(ie. drugs, alcohol, tobacco/nicotine, weapons, physical/verbal aggression) for the semester. This requirement must be 
one of the three met in order to waive any exams. 

2. Attendance Requirement: Three or fewer absences for the semester in order for attendance to be one of the three 
requirements met. If a student has four or five absences from a course, they must meet requirements 1, 3, and 4 to be 
able to earn the exam waiver privilege in that course. Students that have more than five absences in a course are not 
eligible to waive the exam in that course regardless of meeting requirements 1, 3, and 4. Excused college days and 
other school related activities during the school day will not count against the student. 

3. Tardy Requirement: The student has had two or fewer tardies to school at the start of the school day for the semester. 
4. Academic Requirements: The student maintains at least a “B” or higher academic average for the semester grade in the 

course. 
 

EXCHANGE PROGRAMS 
Mt. Zion High School will enroll no more than four students during any given semester. All exchange programs must 
be I.H.S.A. approved to be considered for placement at Mt. Zion High School. Placements must be for two semesters in the 
same academic year or a fall semester only. Placement requests must be made by May 15th of the prior year. All exchange 
student applicants must be 16 years old or older. Mt. Zion High School classifies all exchange students as a senior in high 
school. Every effort will be made to have no more than one student from a particular country during any given school 
semester. Acceptance of foreign exchange students is always to the discretion of administration. Exchange students 
attending Mt. Zion High School will be responsible for any and all costs charged to our student population. 

 
FAMILY ACCESS PROGRAM 
The Family Access Program allows parents to view information about their student(s) via the Internet. Parents/guardians of 
students enrolled in Grades 1-12 will have "real-time" grades and can login to this secure web site (after obtaining a user 
login and family password). 
To access the system, go to the district web site: www.mtzschools.org and select Family Access. The Mt. Zion Public Library 
provides computer Internet access for those residents that may not have a computer at home. 

 
The information available is for the current school year; previous school year information is not available. You only need one 
login even if you have multiple students in the school district. You can access all of your students from the same screen. 

 
Access will be allowed to student information as long as at least one student is enrolled in the Mt. Zion School District. When 
the last student of a family officially leaves the district, the account will be disabled. 

 
E-mail rockeyw@mtzschools.org regarding questions and concerns about Family Access. 

 
 
 

FEES 
 

Instructional Fees 
Instructional fees for this school year are as follows: 
Grades K-1 $70.00 $85.00 
Grades 2-6 $85.00 $100 
Grades 7-12 $100.00 

http://www.mtzschools.org/
mailto:rockeyw@mtzschools.org


41 
 

FEES Continued 
 

High School Course Fees 
High School course fees for this school year are as follows: 
Agricultural Construction & Technology $25.00 
Nutrition & Culinary Arts I & II $10.00 
Driver’s Education $40.00 

 

High School Program & Misc Fees 
High School Program Fees 
Heartland Technical Academy $200.00 
Richland Transfer Academy $400.00 
Parking Permit $40.00 (Family Cap $60.00) 
Second Set of Books $65.00 

 

Chromebook Protection Plan 
Chromebook Protection Plan $25.00 

 

Athletic Fees 
Athletic fees for this school year are as follows: 
Grades 5-8 $40.00 per sport 
Grades 9-12 $60.00 per sport 
One Family $260.00 maximum limit 
NOTE: Following September 1st, students with outstanding instructional or 
athletic fees will not be permitted to participate in any extracurricular activities 
or any school sponsored events. 

 

Athletic Pass Admission Prices 
Adult $50.00 
Student $20.00 
Family (Children K-12 only) $120.00 
Senior Citizens (Living in MTZ District) No Charge 
Senior Citizens (Outside District) $20.00 
NOTE: Each individual’s pass will admit him/her to all home High School and 
Junior High School sporting events except conference and I.E.S.A. and 
I.H.S.A. tournaments. 

 
Single Event Admission Prices 
High School Events (Grades 9-12) 
Football, Soccer, Basketball, Volleyball, and Wrestling: 
Adult $4 
Student $2 *All Mt. Zion HS Students – No Charge* 
Golf, Cross Country, Track, Baseball, Softball, Tennis: No Charge 

 

Junior High /Mt. Zion Intermediate Events (Grades 5-8) 
Basketball, Volleyball, and Wrestling: 
Adult $2 
Student $1 *All Mt. Zion JH Students – No Charge* 
Track, Baseball, Softball, Cross Country: No Charge 
NOTE: Special Promotion Nights may be held from time to time; admission prices may be 
changed for those events upon the approval of the Athletic Director and Building Principal. 

 
BASAP Fees 
Fees for BASAP this school year are as follows: 
Morning or Afternoon only $35.00 
Both $50.00 
Summer $80.00 



42 
 

FEES Continued 
School Lunch Prices 
School lunch prices for this school year are as follows: 
Breakfast 
     K-12 
     Staff 

 
$2.35 
$2.45 

Lunch 
     K-3 
     4-12 
     Staff 
 
Extra Entrée 
Double Lunch 

 
$3.05 
$3.25 
$3.65 
 
$2.45 
$6.90 

 
Electronic Payment Process 
The district accepts electronic payment for student food service accounts, registration fees, and other payments made to the 
school district. This system usually takes up to a week to process so it is not intended for lunch balances below $10.00 or other 
payments that need to be made immediately. Credit will not be applied to your child's account until the District has actually 
received the check from the bank. To utilize this free electronic payment system: 

1) Go to your local banks online bill pay system. Enter a school building's name and address from the following list, as the 
company you wish to pay. For children in different buildings please make separate entries and the bank will send separate 
checks. If you are making a payment for Registration and Food Service to the same building we would again ask that 
you make separate entries and the bank will send separate checks. This will allow the District to better track the payments 
being made by the bank on your behalf. 

2) On your banks online bill pay system, enter the amount of the payment you wish to make. 
3) On your banks online bill pay system, enter in the memo line/description line the reason for the payment. Please be 

specific and provide as much information as possible (student's name, student's ID#, reason for payment-food service, 
registration fee, etc.). 

 
Required Addresses 

 

MTZ-HS Food Service 
305 S. Henderson St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1323 

MTZ High School Office 
305 S. Henderson St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1323 

 

MTZ-JH Food Service 
315 S. Henderson St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1323 

MTZ JH-School Office 
315 S. Henderson St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1323 

 

MTZ INT-Food Service 
310 S. Henderson St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1384 

MTZ INT- School Office 
310 S. Henderson St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1384 

 

MZG-Food Service 
725 West Main St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1335 

MZG-School Office 
725 West Main St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1335 

 

McG-Food Service 
1320 West Main St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1348 

McG-School Office 
1320 West Main St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1348 

Sample Notes And/Or Memo to Include On The Check 
• Please post to Acct. #123456-John Smith 
• Lunch Acct. for John Smith 
• Registration Fee for John Smith 
• Athletic Fee for John Smith 

Pay Rider Fee for John Smith 

MTZ-District Office  
1595 W. Main St. 
Mt. Zion, IL 62549-1314 



43 
 

Efunds 
An alternative electronic method of payment is efunds. This system makes payments for school expenses in real time. You 
must create an account with efunds using the link provided in the family access food service page or the link on the school 
web page. Once you create an account with efunds, you can select your child’s name and make the appropriate payment by 
checking account transfer or credit card. This payment will go directly into the proper account. A convenience fee of $1.25 
per transaction for checking or $2.85 per $100 transaction for credit card will be charged by efunds. 

 
Waiver of School Fees 
Students shall not be denied educational services or academic credit due to the inability of parent(s)/guardian(s) to pay fees 
and certain charges. Students whose parents are unable to afford student fees may receive a waiver of some fees. However, 
these students are not exempt from charges for lost and damaged books, locks, materials, supplies, and equipment. To 
maintain the quality of our educational programs, Mt. Zion School District will make every effort to secure payment of student 
fees from each parent/guardian who is able to pay. 

Students shall be eligible for a fee waiver when the student currently lives in a household that meets the same income 
guidelines, with the same limits based on household size, that are used for the federal free and reduced meals program. 
Building principal or Assistant Superintendent of Business Operations will give additional consideration where one or more 
of the following factors are present: 

• Illness in the family; 
• Unusual expenses such as fire, flood, storm damage, etc.; 
• Unemployment; 
• Emergency situations; 
• When one or more of the parents/guardians are involved in a work stoppage. 

For the purposes of this Administrative Regulation, "School Fees" shall be defined as any monetary charges to be collected 
by the Mt. Zion Community Unit School District #3 from a student, parent, or guardian of a student as a prerequisite for the 
student's participation in a school/district program. "School Fees" shall not include those supplies required and necessary for 
ordinary educational purposes (e.g., pencil, paper, notebook, physical education attire, etc.). 

 
The following shall serve to provide specific reference for implementation and operation of this regulation: 

 
A. "School Fees" shall include, but not be limited to: 

1. Charges for textbooks and instructional materials. 
2. Charges for field trips made during school hours, or made after school hours if the field trip is a scheduled and/or 

customary part of a class or extra-curricular activity (e.g., annually scheduled trips to museums, concerts, places 
of business and industry or field trips related to instruction in social studies, the fine arts, career/vocational 
education or the sciences). Financial losses will not be refunded to students due to ineligibility, absence, etc. 

3. Athletic Participation Fees. 
4. Graduation Fees (e.g., caps, gowns). 

 
B. "School Fees" shall not include: 

1. Library fines and other charges assessed for the loss, misuse, or destruction of school property (e.g., musical 
instruments, library books, textbooks, athletic equipment or uniforms). 

2. Charges for the purchase of class rings, yearbooks, pictures, diploma covers or similar items. 
3. Charges for optional travel undertaken by a school organization or group of students outside of school hours (e.g., 

a trip to Spain by the Spanish Club or a Junior High School class trip.) 
4. Charges for admission to school dances, athletic events or other social events. 

 
C. Standards for determination of eligibility include: 

1. A qualification for free lunches under the School Breakfast and Lunch Program Act [105 ILCS 125] 
2. Eligibility for reduced price lunches 
3. Significant loss of income due to severe illness or injury in the family or unusual expenses such as fire, flood, or 

storm damage; or similar emergency situations. 
 

D. Notification to parents will be as follows: 
1. The waiver of school fees regulation will be communicated in writing to the parents of all students enrolled in the 

district at the start of the school year to the parents and guardians of all students enrolling in the district for the first 
time. A fee waiver application form will be included with this notice when it is sent to parents. The notification will 
be in English or otherwise translated for the home language of the parents to ensure their understanding of the 
district's policy. If translation of the notice is not feasible, interpreters, other students, family or neighbors capable 
of communicating this policy and related regulation will be utilized. The notice shall describe: 



44 
 

a. the district's policy, including the criteria and other circumstances under which the district will waive school fees; 
b. the fees subject to waiver under the district's policy; 
c. the procedure to be used by parents or guardians in applying for a waiver of school fees, including the availability 

of forms that may be used to request a fee waiver and the documents whose use is required by the school district 
in verifying income; and 

d. the procedure to be used by parents in resolving disputes concerning the waiver of school fees. 
 

2. The first announcement or notice sent to parents or guardians who owe fees shall state: 
a. that the district waives fees for persons unable to afford them in accordance with its policy; and 
b. the procedure for applying for a fee waiver, or the name, address and telephone number of the person to contact 

for information concerning a fee waiver. 

 
E. Procedures for the resolution of disputes will be: 

1. All initial requests for waivers of fees will be decided by the building principal. When such a request is denied, 
notice of the decision will be mailed to the parents or guardians within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the 
request. The decision will state the reason for the denial and will inform the parents or guardians of their right to 
appeal, including the process and timelines for that action. The denial notice will also include a statement informing 

 
the parents or guardians that they may reapply for a waiver any time during the school year, if circumstances 
change. 

2. All appeals will be decided by the Associate Superintendent of Schools. An appeal shall be decided within thirty 
(30) calendar days of the receipt of the parents' or guardians' request for an appeal. Parents and guardians will 
have the right to meet with the Associate Superintendent, who will decide the appeal in order to explain why the 
fee waiver should or should not be granted. If the appeal is denied, then the district will mail a copy of its decision 
to the parents. The decision will state the reason for the denial. 

3. No fee shall be collected from any parent or guardian who is seeking a fee waiver in accordance with this regulation 
until the Building Principal and/or Associate Superintendent have acted on the initial request or appeal (if any is 
made), and the parents or guardians have been notified of the decision. 

 
F. If this fee waiver policy and/or procedure are substantially amended, then parents or guardians of students enrolled in 

the district will be notified in writing within thirty (30) calendar days following the adoption of the amendment(s). 
 

G. School records that identify individual students as applicants for or recipients of fee waivers are subject to the Illinois 
School Student Records Act (Ill.Rev.Stat. 1989, Ch. 122, par. 50-1 et seq.). Information from such records is confidential 
and may be disclosed only as provided in the Act. 

 
H. No discrimination or punishment of any kind, including the lowering of grades or exclusion from classes, may be exercised 

against a student whose parents or guardians are unable to purchase required textbooks or instructional materials or to 
pay required fees. (Section 28-19.2(a) of The School Code). 

 
FIELD TRIP TRANSPORTATION/OVERNIGHT TRIPS 
All students will be required to ride provided school bus transportation to and returning from an activity or event unless 
prior written permission is obtained from the administration 24 hours in advance. 

 
GUIDELINES FOR OVER NIGHT TRIPS 
• All overnight trips for athletic teams, music groups, co-curricular groups, and other school organizations must be 

approved by the Principal or Athletic Director in advance of announcing trip reservations for students and or parents 
and chaperones. 

• All trips must occur within the Continental USA, unless approved by the Superintendent. 
• Overnight trips (when school days are missed) must be related to competitions, athletic events, state or national 

organization conventions, meetings, parades, activities such as “half-time shows,” or some unique performing and 
educational opportunity (evaluated by the Principal and/or Superintendent). 

• Coaches/Sponsors are encouraged to link trips over extended weekends, in-service days, etc., to reduce the amount 
of time students are away from class. The following maximum limits (per trip) will be in effect (unless approved by the 
Superintendent): 

• 2.5 student attendance days (if the trip includes an in-service or school improvement day). 
• 3 student attendance days (if the trip does not include an in-service or school improvement day). 

• A tentative trip itinerary and proposed schedule of activities should be submitted at the time of the request. 
• All security and chaperone related issues should be outlined for the Administration prior to leaving for the trip. 



45 
 

• The 8th grade trip will not depart until after the 5th emergency day. 
 

MT. ZION FOUNDATION FOR QUALITY EDUCATION 
Foundation's Mission The mission of the Mt. Zion Foundation for Quality Education is to enhance the quality of 
educational programs and services available to all Mt. Zion students through the generation, attraction and distribution of 
financial and other resources to the Mt. Zion Schools. These resources shall be used to provide students with expanded 
and enriched learning opportunities. 
What Is the Purpose of the Foundation? The Foundation has been created to enrich the lifelong learning programs of the 
Mt. Zion Community Unit School District #3. It will provide funds beyond the normal operating budget for community 
educational programs not available through tax revenues. 
 
Where Do the Funds Come From? 
Foundation funds are obtained from individual and corporate tax-deductible contributions, as well as from other 
foundations. The contributions can general in nature or can be given to support a particular project. 

 
What Types of Projects Will Be Funded? 
The Foundation Board has determined that funds will be awarded to a variety of programs and identified educational 
needs including, but not necessarily limited to, technology, fine arts and other educational opportunities. 

Who Decides How the Money Will Be Spent? 
All donations to the Foundation are spent with the approval of the Board of Trustees. The use of the funds must be consistent 
with the Foundation's mission and goals. The Foundation Board encourages program suggestions and recommendations 
from district employees, alumni and community patrons. 

Your Support of the Foundation Is Vital! 
Contributions can be made to the Foundation in several ways. Make a gift of cash, check, securities and/or personal property 
in any amount. You may choose to pledge a certain dollar amount selecting either monthly or annual payments. Designate 
gifts as a memorial to loved ones, living or deceased. Include the Foundation as a beneficiary in your estate planning 

 
What Are the Goals Of The Foundation? 
To encourage student development: 

A. Provide enrichment programs and activities designed to offer students opportunities to excel. 
B. Provide students with expanded services in areas such as career counseling, study skills development and other 

academic needs. 
C. Provide resources for the acquisition and implementation of advanced educational technology in areas such as 

telecommunications. 
D. Provide opportunities for enhancing student appreciation and skill levels in the fine arts. 

 
To encourage excellence through professional growth of staff and teachers: 

A. Provide resources to teachers and staff for the development of innovative ideas and programs within the school 
environment. 

B. Recognize outstanding achievements and contributions by of the educational community. 
C. Provide opportunities and resources for the ongoing professional development of staff and teachers. 

 
To encourage school/community partnerships: 

A. Provide a vehicle for organizations and individuals to share resources with the schools for the purpose of enriching 
and expanding learning opportunities. 

B. Promote knowledge and awareness both within and without the community about educational challenges and 
opportunities. 

 
*Please use the following link for more information regarding the Mt. Zion Foundation: 
https://www.mtzschools.org/cms/lib/IL02218373/Centricity/ModuleInstance/1367/mtzqed1.pdf 
https://www.mtzschools.org/district/foundation 

 

FUNDRAISING 
All school related fundraisers must be approved by the building principal. 

 
GRADE REPORTING 
Grades 2-12 report cards will be posted on Family Access each 9 weeks. Parents need to notify the school office if they 

http://www.mtzschools.org/cms/lib/IL02218373/Centricity/ModuleInstance/1367/mtzqed1.pdf


46 
 

would like a print out of these reports. The calendar attached provides the anticipated dates that report cards are posted. 

K-1 report cards will be sent home at the end of each 9-week period. 
 

GRADES 
The regular grading system uses the letters A, B, C, D, and F to report the achievement in each marking period. The final 
grade for the semester at the High School is the average of the reported period grades including the final examination. 
A student must pass a course in order to receive credit. An explanation of the letter grades follows: 

 
A: Superior (90-100): The student’s achievement in all areas of the subject is clearly superior and 

the quality and quantity of work are consistently excellent. 
B: Above Average (80-89): Achievement in many areas of the subject is above average, and quality 

and quantity of work are consistently excellent. 
C: Average (70-79): Achievement in most areas of the subject is average and the quality and 

quantity of work are generally acceptable. 
D: Below Average (60-69): Achievement in the subject is barely passing and the quality and quantity 

of work are the minimum acceptable for credit. 
F: Poor (59 & below): Achievement is poor or progress is lacking, minimum requirements have not 

been met, and credit is not granted. 

Grade reporting will be available through Family Access. 
 

Audit Policy 
A student who has earned a "D" in a course may choose to audit that course to prepare for the next sequential course and/or 
to earn a better grade needed for admission to post-secondary programs. Also, a student that has failed a course 2nd 
semester but passed 1st semester has the option to audit that course. A student must have a counselor recommendation 
and administrative approval. 

When a student audits a class: 
1) No additional credit is earned. 
2) The new grade (if higher than the original grade) will replace the previous grade. 
3) Audit courses may only be taken the next consecutive year or semester of the original course. 
4) The student must be enrolled in 7 courses. 

Honor Roll 
An honor roll recognizes student academic achievements in grades 5-12. 

 
Grades 5-8 
● Students whose grade point average is 3.00-3.50 will be placed on the honor roll. 
● Students whose grade point average is 3.51-4.00 will be placed on high honor roll. 

 
Grades 9-12 
● SUMMA CUM LAUDE - A’s in all courses. 
● HIGH HONOR ROLL - 3.51-4.80 average in all courses. 
● HONOR ROLL - 3.00-3.50 average in all courses. A “D” or “F” in any subject disqualifies a student from any honor roll. 

 
GRADUATION HONORS 
Each year a valedictorian and salutatorian are chosen from the graduating class. Each must have attended Mt. Zion High 
School four semesters in order to qualify. The senior with the highest "weighted" grade point average at the end of the eighth 
semester is the valedictorian and second highest is the salutatorian. In naming the valedictorian and salutatorian, students 
who take the same number of weighted classes and receive A's in the extra non-weighted classes will not be penalized; co- 
valedictorians and/or co-salutatorians could be named (i.e., a student must be enrolled at Mt. Zion High School prior to the 
beginning of his/her second semester of the sophomore year). 

 
GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS 
Mt. Zion High School students must earn 24 credits to graduate. The following courses must be part of those credits: 
● 4 credits of English: 

English I, II, III and IV, or RCC ENG 101 and RCC ENG 102, and/or Advanced English I, II, III, and English Literature & 
Composition AP 

● 3 credits of Mathematics: 
One course must be Algebra and another course must include Geometry content 



47 
 

● 3 credits of Science: 
Including 1 credit of Biological Science and 1 credit of Physical Science, effective the graduating class of 2021 

● 2 credits of Social Science: 
Including 1 credit of U.S. History during 11th grade, 1/2 credit of Civics, and 1/2 credit of Modern World History 

● 2 credits of Physical Education: 
Students must take Wellness/PE every semester unless a waiver applies and is approved 

● 1 credit of Fine Arts: 
May be: Music, Art, Foreign Language, or Vocational Education 

● 1/2 credit of Keyboarding 
● 1/2 credit of Health 
● 1/4 credit of Consumer Education 
Additional Graduation Guidelines: 
1. A student must be enrolled at Mt. Zion High School the semester immediately preceding graduation. With the 

approval of the High School Principal, a senior student who lacks credits to be graduated with his or her class may 
attend summer school or take correspondence courses following his or her senior year and then receive a diploma. 
However, said students may not participate in graduation activities prior to the completion of all graduation requirements. 

2. All students whose class has not graduated must be enrolled for a full day program with a minimum load of six (6) 
classes. Exceptions may be granted by the high school principal only when a scheduling conflict exists. 

3. Diplomas will be issued at the time of regular graduation to those who have met the requirements. Students 
who complete their work at mid-year will receive a diploma at the time of the regular graduation and may take part in 
graduation exercises at the end of the year. Any student that has outstanding debts (suspensions, detentions, fees, 
fines,etc.) will not be allowed to participate in graduation/promotion ceremonies. 

4. Anyone who attended Mt. Zion High School, failed to graduate, and subsequently passed entrance requirements to an 
approved college or university and, thereafter, successfully completed one full year of college study, shall be issued a 
Mt.Zion High School diploma upon receipt of an official college transcript which verifies the successful completion of 32 
semester hours of college credit. 

5. All students whose class has graduated may enroll as special students in those classes needed to fulfill 
graduation requirements and shall receive their diplomas when the requirements are met. Said students may 
enroll in credit classes and transfer those credits to Mt. Zion High School for graduation requirements. 

6. Not more than four total credits earned through correspondence course work may count toward regular high school 
graduation (graduation with one's class). All credits earned in another state-recognized high school will transfer to Mt. 
Zion High School. Students transferring to Mt. Zion High School from approved schools will have their transcripts 
evaluated by the Guidance Department; previous coursework may be substituted for one or more of the Mt. Zion 
graduation requirements, subject to the approval of the High School Principal. However, the substituted coursework 
must have been successfully completed prior to enrollment at Mt. Zion High School. 

7. A student with a disability whose Individualized Education Program ("IEP") prescribes special education, transition 
planning, transition services, and related services beyond the student's four years of high school, and who has 
completed four years of high school by the end of the school year, will be allowed to participate in the graduation 
ceremony of the student's high school graduating class and receive a certificate of completion. Notification to the high 
school principal of intent to participate in the graduation ceremony under these guidelines must occur by February 1. 
Nothing in the policy or procedures prohibits the Superintendent or designee from prohibiting a student from participating 
in the graduation ceremony of his/her graduating class or a subsequent graduating class for other reasons (such as 
disciplinary sanctions or non-payment of fees), which would disqualify students without disabilities from participating in 
the graduation ceremony. 

8. Mt. Zion Junior High School students will not receive High School credit for courses (Spanish I and II, French I and II, 
Algebra, and Geometry) taken while enrolled at Mt. Zion Junior High School; however, these courses will be listed on 
their High School Transcript. 

 
For All Students: 
High School credits will be awarded as follows: 

a. 1 credit will be awarded for the successful completion of other courses meeting five days per week, one period 
each day for one year. 

b. 2 credits will be awarded to work program students for one full year of work experience. 
Two (2) credits of physical education are required unless the student has a physical education exemption signed by a doctor. 

For the Vocational Education Program: 
2 credits (4 semesters) of vocational classes must be completed prior to admission to the Work Program or Decatur 
Area Vocational Center. The Keyboarding requirement will account for 3 semesters of this stipulation. 

 
For the College Preparatory Program: 
The Illinois Board of Higher Education recommends these credits prior to admission to any state college or university 



48 
 

for entering freshman beginning with the class of 1990: 

✓ 4 credits of English, 
✓ 3 credits of math (Algebra I or above), 
✓ 3 credits of science (laboratory sciences), 
✓ 3 credits of social science, and education 

Re-alignment of the above requirements is permitted at some colleges and universities; check with the appropriate admissions 
office. Rules governing dual credit students are outlined herein. See section on Dual Credit. 

Diplomas for Veterans 
A school board of any district maintaining grades 10-12 is allowed to award a diploma to any honorably discharged veteran who: 
served in the armed forces of the United States during World War II, the Korean Conflict or the Vietnam Conflict; resided within an 
area currently within the district; left high school before graduating in order to serve in the armed forces of the United States; 
and has not received a high school diploma. For further information, please contact the Illinois Department of Veteran’s Affairs 
at: 1-800-437-9824. 

 
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE- DISCRIMINATION 
No student shall, based on any protected status, be denied equal access to programs, activities, services, or benefits or be 
limited in the exercise of any right, privilege, advantage, or denied equal access to educational and extracurricular programs 
and activities. Inquiries concerning the application of Title IX (sex equity), Section 504 (handicapped) or Title VI (minorities) 
should be directed to the C.U.S.D. No. 3 District Office. Any student may file a sex equity complaint by using the Uniform 
Grievance Procedure. A student may appeal to the School Board’s resolution of the complaint to the Regional Superintendent 
of schools and, thereafter, to the State Superintendent of Education (pursuant to 105 ILCS 5/2-3.8 of The School Code). 

 
HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE 
Mt. Zion School District #3 buildings are handicap accessible. Please contact the building Principal or office if you should 
need any assistance. 

 
HEALTH/MEDICAL 
Administrative Code 
The School Code of Illinois requires parents to show proof that their student has met physical, dental, and eye 
examinations, and immunization requirements. Failure to meet the physical exam and immunization requirements by October 
15 of the current school year results in exclusion from Illinois schools until these requirements are met. A student may return 
once completed paperwork is submitted to the school offices. Health/Medical forms are available on the school district 
website or in the school offices. Dental exam requirements are due by May 15 of the current school year. 

 
Physical Examinations 
A physical examination is required for a student’s first entrance into Preschool, Kindergarten or 1st grade, 6th grade, 
9th grade, or when transferring from an out of state school into an Illinois school. The exam must be dated within one 
year prior to the date the student enters school and is due on the first day of school, but no later than October 15 of the 
current school year, or within 6 weeks from enrollment, if enrolling after the start of the school year. 

 
In order to be a valid Health Physical Exam, the exam must be documented on the proper State of Illinois form, the 
“Certificate of Child Health Examination”, available for download from the district website. Also, the “Health History” 
portion(Yes/No questions on the back of the form) must be completed and signed by the parent/guardian. (An exam 
completed on a “Sports Physical” form is not an acceptable school physical exam, however, the school exam form may 
be used to meet the requirement of a sports physical.) 

 
Immunizations 
Minimum Immunization requirements must be met and submitted on the first day of school, but no later than October 
15 of the current school year. An approved medical or religious immunization exemption form must be submitted and 
on file with the school if you are claiming exemption to Immunizations or exams. 

 
Proof of immunization against meningococcal disease is required for students in grades 6 and 12. The required health 
examinations must include a diabetes screening (diabetes testing is not required) and a statement from a physician assuring 
“risk-assessed” or screened for lead poisoning. 

New students who register mid-term shall have 30 days following registration to comply with the health examination and 
immunization regulations. If a medical reason prevents a student from receiving a required immunization by October 15, the 
student must present, by October 15, an immunization schedule and a statement of the medical reasons causing the delay. 
An appropriate medical professional must sign the schedule and statement of medical reasons. Students who are not 



49 
 

compliant with physical examination and immunization requirements and have not submitted a waiver to be exempt from 
immunizations will be excluded from school and will not be permitted to make-up work for academic credit for their absences. 

 
In accordance with rules adopted by the IDPH, a student will be exempted from this policy’s requirements for: 

1. Religious grounds, if the student’s parents/guardians present the IDPH’s Certificate of Religious Exemption form to the 
District office. When a Certificate of Religious Exemption form is presented, the District will inform the parents/guardians 
of exclusion procedures pursuant to Board policy 7:280, Communicable and Chronic Infectious Disease, and State 
rules if there is an outbreak of one or more diseases from which the student is not protected. 

2. Health examination or immunization requirements on medical grounds, if the examining physician, advanced practice 
registered nurse, or physician assistant provides written verification. 

3. Eye examination requirement, if the student’s parents/guardians show an undue burden or lack of access to a physician 
licensed to practice medicine in all of its branches who provides eye examinations or a licensed optometrist. 

4. Dental examination requirement, if the student’s parents/guardians show an undue burden or a lack of access to a 
dentist. 

Asthma 
An Asthma Action Plan is to be submitted annually from parents/guardians of a student with Asthma. An example/copy 
of an Asthma Action Plan for your student is available for download on the district website. Students may carry, or leave 
their prescribed Emergency/Rescue Inhalers in the nurse’s office. The inhaler needs to be labeled with the student's name 
on it, and a copy of or the actual prescription label must be submitted to the school nurse annually. 

The Mt. Zion School District now has an Asthma Episode Emergency Action Protocol; a copy of the protocol is located 
on the district website. 

 
Diabetes 
Students diagnosed with Type 1 Diabetes (IDDM) are required, by law, to submit a Diabetic Medical Management Plan 
(DMMP) at the start of every school year. The plan should be updated as needed throughout the school year if/when 
changes are made to treatment and care by the attending physician/practitioner. A copy of a DMMP is available for 
download from the district website. 

 
Dental Examinations 
Dental examinations are required for students entering Kindergarten, 2nd, 6th, and 9th grade for the first time. Dental 
exams must be performed by a licensed dentist and are due by May 15 of the current school year and must be dated within 
18 months of the May 15 due date. Dental exams are to be completed on the “State of Illinois Proof of School Dental 
Examination Form”, available for download from the website. Dental exam waiver forms are available if a dental exam is 
unobtainable for a specific reason. Please refer to the waiver form for the specifics. 

 
Eye/Vision Examinations 
Eye/vision examinations are required for all students’ first entry into Kindergarten or upon first entry to an Illinois school 
at any grade level. The form, “State of Illinois Eye Examination Report” is the acceptable form to be used and is available 
for download from the district website. Eye exams are due on or before October 15 of the current school year, or within 6 
weeks from the date of enrollment. An eye exam waiver form is available if an exam is unobtainable for specific reasons. 
Please refer to the waiver form for specifics. 

 
Hearing and Vision Screenings 
Impaired vision and hearing in children can seriously impede learning and may contribute to the development of emotional 
and behavior problems. Screening of a child’s vision and hearing can lead to early discovery and treatment which can prevent 
or alleviate many of these problems. The State of Illinois mandates vision and hearing screenings as outlined in the 
“Rules and Regulations of the Child Vision and Hearing Test Act”. These mandated vision and hearing screenings are 
provided to students during school hours at no charge to the parent/guardian. The screens are performed by State of Illinois 
certified vision and audiometric technicians. The purpose of these screenings is to identify those children who might 
have vision and/or hearing problems and to then refer those children for further medical evaluation. Further medical 
evaluation, regarding the referral concern, is at the parent/guardian’s expense. Should you not want your child to participate 
inthe vision and hearing screenings at school, please put the request in writing and provide to the school office and/or 
school nurse at the start of each school year. 

 
Vision screenings are provided annually for all preschool children 3 years of age or older, and all children in 
kindergarten, 2nd and 8th grades, teacher referrals, students who are new to the district and all students receiving 
special education services. (Kindergarten students who have met the required eye exam will not be screened.) 

 



50 
 

Hearing screenings are provided annually for all preschool children 3 years of age or older, and all children in 
kindergarten, 1st, 2nd and 3rd grades, teacher referrals, students new to the district and all students receiving 
special education services. 

 

HEALTH INFORMATION - CONTAGIOUS DISEASE REFERENCE CHART 

The following are general recommendations by the Illinois Department of Public Health. It should be noted that these diseases are primarily 
transmitted by direct contact with the infected individual through coughing, sneezing, or unsanitary conditions. 

Disease 
Incubation 

Period Early Signs & Symptoms Exclude Until 

 
Chicken 

Pox 
 

14-21 days 
Slight fever, followed by rash which looks like small 
blisters. Blisters dry up to form scabs and fall off in 
about 14 days. 

 
For not less than 6 days after the appearance of last 
eruption - no temperature and blisters dry. 

Rubella 
(3-day) 
Measles 

 
14-21 days 

 
Slight fever and swelling of glands on back of neck. 
Pinkish-red blotches, beginning on face. 

 
For not less than 5 days after appearance of rash. 

 
Measles 

 
10-14 days 

Starts like a cold with fever, watery eyes and nose and 
cough. Within 3-5 days a rash of dull red blotches 
appears, starting on face, spreading downward on 
body. 

 
No nasal or ear discharge, at least 1 week. 

 
Mumps 

 
12-26 days 

 
Fever and nausea. Pain and swelling at angles of the 
jaw and in front of the ears. 

 
Until all swelling disappears - at least 9 days. 

 
Scarlet Fever  1-3 days 

Sudden fever, sore throat, and red tongue with white 
spots. Red pinpoint dot rash, first on neck and upper 
chest. Scarlatina is a light case of scarlet fever. 

 
Minimum 24 hours after antibiotics are started. 

 
Whooping 

Cough 
10 days, 

commonly 
7 days 

Starts with symptoms of a cold and cough; 
characteristic “whoop” develops in cough, followed 
byvomiting. 

 
Has received 5 days of treatment or appropriate 
antibiotic. 

ILLNESS GUIDELINES: The child’s temperature should be normal for 24 hours before returning to school 
(under 100 degrees without the aid of any fever medication). 

 
Medications at School 
Medications will be administered at school under the guidelines outlined under School Board Policy. The school nursing 
staff, principal, and secretary may administer or supervise self-administration of medications only with specific directions 
from a physician. Both prescription and non-prescription medications, including emergency medications require the 
following: 

● Medication Authorization Form signed by both the physician and the parent/guardian (valid for one school year only). 
● The Medication Authorization form is available via download from the district website. 
● Medication Authorization for each individual medication that is to be administered. 
● A Medication authorization form is required each school year for each medication to be administered. 
● Self-administration and self-carrying of certain emergency medications will be allowed under certain conditions: 

Parents must sign a written release of liability, the student must demonstrate responsibility, it must be authorized 
by the physician and the building principal. 

 
Additionally: 

● All prescription medications must be labeled by the pharmacist or the prescriber with the name of the child, name 
of the medication, the amount to be given, the time to be given, name of the prescriber, and the date of the prescription. 

● Over the counter medications (OTC or non-prescription) should be brought in with the manufacturer’s original label 
with the list of active ingredients and the child’s name affixed or written clearly on the label. 

● Medications must be picked up by a parent/guardian at the end of the school year, medication will not be sent home 
with a child. Medications not picked up will be destroyed. 

 
Students should not take medication during school hours or during school-related activities unless it is necessary for a 
student’s health and well-being. When a student’s licensed health care provider and parent/guardian believe that it is 
necessary for the student to take a medication during school hours or school-related activities, the parent/guardian must 
request that the school dispense the medication to the child and otherwise follow the District’s procedures on dispensing 
medication. 
No student shall possess or consume any prescription or non-prescription medication on school grounds or at a school- 



51 
 

related function other than as provided for in Board policy and procedures. 

Nothing in Board policy shall prohibit any school employee from providing emergency assistance to students, including 
administering medication. 

 
A student may possess and self-administer an epinephrine injector, e.g., EpiPen®, and/or asthma medication prescribed for 
use at the student’s discretion, provided the student’s parent/guardian has completed and signed the Medication 
Authorization form. An Emergency Action Plan will be developed for each self-administering student. 

 
A student may self-administer medication required under a qualifying plan, provided the student’s parent/guardian has 
completed and signed the Medication Authorization form. A qualifying plan means: (1) an asthma action plan, (2) an Individual 
Health Care Action Plan, (3) an Ill. Food Allergy Emergency Action Plan and Treatment Authorization Form, (4) a plan 
pursuant to Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973, or (5) a plan pursuant to the federal Individuals with 
Disabilities Education Act. 

 
The District shall incur no liability, except for willful and wanton conduct, as a result of any injury arising from a student’s self- 
administration of medication, including asthma medication or epinephrine injectors, or medication required under a qualifying 
plan. A student’s parent/guardian must indemnify and hold harmless the District and its employees and agents, against any 
claims, except a claim based on willful and wanton conduct, arising out of a student’s self-administration of an epinephrine 
injector, asthma medication, and/or a medication required under a qualifying plan. 

 
The Compassionate Use of Medical Cannabis Program Act allows a medical cannabis infused product to be administered 
to a student by one or more of the following individuals: 

1. A parent/guardian of a student who is a minor who registers with the Ill. Dept. of Public Health (IDPH) as a designated 
caregiver to administer medical cannabis to their child. A designated caregiver may also be another individual other 
than the student’s parent/guardian. Any designated caregiver must be at least 21 years old and is allowed to administer 
a medical cannabis infused product to a child who is a student on the premises of his or her school or on his or her 
school bus if: 
a. Both the student and the designated caregiver possess valid registry identification cards issued by IDPH; 
b. Copies of the registry identification cards are provided to the District; 
c. That student’s parent/guardian completed, signed, and submitted a School Medication Authorization Form - 

Medical Cannabis; and 
d. After administering the product to the student, the designated caregiver immediately removes it from school 

premises or the school bus. 
2. A properly trained school nurse or administrator, who shall be allowed to administer the medical cannabis infused 

product to the student on the premises of the child’s school, at a school-sponsored activity, or before/after normal school 
activities, including while the student is in before-school or after-school care on school-operated property or while being 
transported on a school bus. 

3. The student him or herself when the self-administration takes place under the direct supervision of a school nurse or 
administrator. 

 
Medical cannabis infused product (product) includes oils, ointments, foods, and other products that contain usable cannabis 
but are not smoked or vaped. Smoking and/or vaping medical cannabis is prohibited. 

 
The District retains the right to use its discretion to regulate the administration of the product, which may not be administered 
in a manner that, in the opinion of the District or school, would create a disruption to the educational environment or cause 
exposure of the product to other students. A school employee shall not be required to administer the product. 

 
Discipline of a student for being administered a product by a designated caregiver, or by a school nurse or administrator, or 
who self-administers a product under the direct supervision of a school nurse or administrator pursuant to this policy is 
prohibited. The District may not deny a student attendance at a school solely because he or she requires administration of 
the product during school hours. 

 
The District reserves the right to restrict or otherwise stop allowing the administration of medical cannabis to a child if the 
District or school would lose federal funding as a result. 

Food Allergies 
Food allergies can be life threatening. The risk of accidental exposure to food allergens can be reduced when schools, 
students, parents and physicians work together to minimize the risk for exposure, providing a safe environment for food- 
allergic students. 



52 
 

● Notify the school of your child’s allergies. Be sure to provide food allergy information to the school cafeteria, school 
bus personnel, before and after school programs and coaching staff. 

● Provide written medical documentation, instructions, and medications as directed by a physician. Use of the 
Food Allergy Action Plan is highly recommended and is available via download on the school website. 

● Emergency medications should be provided as per district policy with a Medication Authorization form signed 
by the physician and parent/guardian, and labeled as required. 

● Provide accurate and updated emergency contact information. 
 

Fever 
Students with a temperature over 100.4 degrees or higher cannot be at school. If a student has a temperature, 
vomiting, and/or diarrhea due to illness at school, a parent/guardian will be notified and the student must be 
picked up from school. Students cannot return to school until they are symptom free for 24 hours, without the 
use of medications. 

 
Head Lice 
The Illinois Dept. of Public Health, Center for Disease Control (CDC) and Illinois State Board of Education all 
support children remaining in school. The school will observe recommendations of the Illinois Department of Public 
Health regarding head lice. Following identification by the school nurse, the parents will be notified and the child will be 
sent home. The student may return to school the morning after the first treatment with medicated shampoo for the head 
lice and medicated shampoo for scabies. Student absences after being sent home due to head lice will be excused for 
two days, any day following will be counted as an unexcused absence. We prefer you notify your doctor and use the 
product he/she recommends. 

 
Illness/Injury/Accident 
Any illness, injury or accident should be reported to the school office. If the illness or injury appears to warrant it, parents 
will be contacted for information and instruction. It is important that all pertinent information regarding emergency contact 
information be kept current. 

 
Parents of students with special medical needs (e.g. hemophilia, diabetes, epilepsy/seizures, life threatening allergies, 
etc.) should inform the school nurse or building principal of such conditions so that appropriate action can be taken when 
and if necessary. Information pertaining to health conditions and/or physical restrictions should be supplied by the 
student’s physician. 

 
HOMELESS STUDENTS - RIGHTS 
Mt. Zion School District shall provide an educational environment that treats all students with dignity and respect. Every 
homeless student shall have equal access to the same free and appropriate educational opportunities as students who 
are not homeless. This commitment to the educational rights of homeless children, youth, and youth not living with a 
parent or guardian, applies to all services, programs, and activities provided or made available as prescribed in the 
McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act. Generally, a homeless student is a student who does not have a regular, 
fixed place of residence. Homeless students have special rights in regard to school choice, transportation, and proof of 
residency. 

 
In an effort to comply with the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act, Mt. Zion School District affirms that all 
Homeless Students will not be denied the benefits of, or be subject to, discrimination under any educational program or 
activity as students who are not homeless. 

 
HOMEWORK 
Some learning experiences may be enhanced by extending class work through the assignment of work to be done outside 
regular class times. Teachers may give homework to pupils to aid in their development. 

 
The type, frequency, and quantity of homework should be based on the needs of the individual student as determined by 
the professional judgement of the teacher. Homework shall be an application or adoption of a classroom experience and 
shall not be assigned for disciplinary purposes. 

 
HONORS AND AWARDS 
Mt. Zion High School will follow the NASSP approved programs booklet for awards and honors. 

 
INDEPENDENT STUDY COURSES 
Mt. Zion Schools believe that the best model for learning is achieved through direct instruction, peer to peer interaction and 
in person learning that actively engages students. Therefore, Mt. Zion High School discourages independent study courses; 



53 
 

however, upon administrative approval independent study courses may be entered into under the following guidelines: 
 

• Students may only enroll in 1 independent study course each semester. 
• Teachers are not required to take on independent study students. 
• Teachers who are new to Mt. Zion Schools are not eligible to teach an independent study course. 
• Courses that are in a piloting phase (the first year that a course is offered) are not eligible for independent study. 
• If an instructor agrees to hold the course, then it must also be offered to any other student who wishes to enroll in 

the Independent Study 
• Independent Study courses will not receive weight. 
• To ensure the integrity of course requirements, Richland Dual Credit Courses or EIU Dual Credit Courses will not 

be offered as independent study courses. 
• Independent studies are not guaranteed. 
• Courses such as Art III/IV and French IV/V are not considered independent study courses as the material is 

connected and the students receive differentiated instruction, not an entirely different course. 
 

INSURANCE - SUPPLEMENTAL STUDENT ACCIDENT 
All students enrolled at Mt. Zion Community Unit School District #3 are covered under the district's supplemental student 
accident insurance. The student Accident Policy provides an annual maximum of $50,000 coverage for medical expenses 
as a result of an accident while attending regular school sessions. 

 
Excess Provision - This coverage is provided as secondary insurance to parents and students in the district. If there is 
other insurance, benefits are paid on the unpaid balances after the primary insurance has paid. If there is no other 
insurance, this becomes primary coverage. 

 
Benefit Period - Expenses incurred after one year from the date of injury are not covered, even though the service is a 
continuing one or one that is necessarily delayed beyond one year from the date of injury. Benefit claim forms are available 
in each school's office. The District assumes no responsibility for any accident or for the filing of claims. Claims must be 
filed immediately after an accident by the student/parent. 

 
Guidelines for Sending Claims 
In regard to making a claim, the parent/guardian must observe the following procedures and time limits: 
1) Within 30 days from the date of the injury, a licensed medical physician must treat the student. 
2) Within 30 days of a covered accident or as 

soon as possible parents must complete and file a School Insurance Claim Form, which can be obtained from the 
office at each school. 

3) Return the completed Claim Form with any billings that you might have received from the physician and/or facility 
and mail to the address on the form. 

4) Parents may submit copies of itemized bills and other carriers' explanation of 
benefits as long as treatment does not exceed one year from the date of the 
accident. 

5) If the student and/or parent have any questions regarding claims, they may contact Brian Rhoades, Associate 
Superintendent at: 864-2366. 

 
LIBRARIES 
Libraries are open to students during the hours determined by each principal and librarian. Students are reminded that 
self-discipline is necessary so as not to disrupt or prevent anyone’s use of the library. Talking must be kept to a minimum 
and always conducted in a low voice. Proper care of library materials and equipment is necessary at all times. 

 
All library materials must be checked out properly and according to the librarians' directions. C.D.'s and "R" rated films 
are not to be checked out through the library. Materials may be used in the library without checking them out; reference 
materials are not to leave the library. 

 
Fines will be assessed for overdue materials; it is important to return materials on or before the due date. 

 
LOCKERS 
Grades 4-12: Students are assigned a corridor locker for their books and other personal belongings. Each locker is 
equipped with a combination lock. Locker combination directions are: 



54 
 

1) Clear the lock by turning it past zero two times. 
2) Stop at zero. 
3) Turn to the RIGHT to your first number. 
4) Turn to the LEFT past your second number. 
5) Stop at the second number the second time. 
6) Turn to the RIGHT to your third number. 

In case of lock failure, the student should report to the main office for assistance. 
School officials reserve the right to examine both the locker and the contents of the locker at any time. The purpose of such 
examination shall include, but not be limited to, attempts to locate fire and/or other hazards, for normal maintenance 
and other sanitary conditions, attempts to locate lost or stolen articles, and efforts to locate prohibited and/or dangerous 
materials. 

 
The school is not responsible for items lost out of lockers. Students should not reveal locker combinations to other 
students and are expected to use only their assigned lockers. 

 
Gym Lockers (Grades 7-12 only): Each student must have a padlock (preferably a combination lock) for his/her 
assigned locker. The school is not responsible for items lost from gym lockers. 

 
LOST AND FOUND 
Inquiries concerning misplaced articles should be directed to the principal’s office and an appropriate form will be 
completed by the student. If any article is found, it should be turned in to the office. Please label all personal property, 
clothing, books, equipment, bags, lunch boxes, etc. 

 
NATIONAL HONOR SOCIETY SELECTION PROCEDURES 
Selection to NHS is a privilege, not a right. Students do not apply for membership in the National Honor Society; instead 
they provide information to be used by the local selection committee to support their candidacy for membership. 
Membership is granted only to those students selected by the Faculty Council. This is not an election, nor is membership 
automatically conveyed simply because a student has achieved a specified level of academic performance. NHS is more 
than just an honor roll. Each student's academic, leadership, service, and character records are carefully considered by 
the Faculty Council. 

 
Membership is open to qualified juniors and seniors who have been in the school equivalent of one semester. This period 
is necessary for students to establish themselves and for the faculty to get to know them. Students with a 3.75 grade point 
average or above are considered for NHS. 

 
After a student has been determined to have the necessary academic requirements, he/she is required to complete a 
student activity information form. These surveys are not applications for membership, and the review of information 
gathered does not guarantee election. The Faculty Council reviews each information form. 

 
The following items are to be documented (during high school) on the student’s information form for the Faculty Council 
to review: 

1. Documentation of scholastic achievement (GPA of 3.75 or higher) 
2. Documentation of 20 or more non-profit community service hours 
3. Documented involvement in at least 4 community/school activities or sports 
4. Documented leadership position in school and/or community activities 
5. Letter of recommendation (submitted with student information form) 
6. Honorable character (demonstrated by the student’s behavior, via student information form & review of 

discipline records) 
 

Per Section 4 of the National NHS Constitution, a student does not become a member of NHS until he/she has been 
inducted at a formal ceremony. Inductees are highly encouraged to attend the formal ceremony. However, in the event 
that extenuating circumstances prevent an inductee from being able to attend the formal ceremony, he/she can be 
inducted by reciting the NHS Pledge and signing the NHS Member Book in the presence of the NHS Sponsor and Chapter 
President. 

 
Any student inducted into National Honor Society is expected to uphold the NHS virtues of scholarship, leadership, 
service, and character. Members or inductees may be given a probationary notice or removed from NHS for failure to 
uphold any of the NHS virtues. Failure to uphold the NHS virtues includes but is not limited to any type of suspension for 



55 
 

disciplinary reasons, accumulating consequences for several small disciplinary infractions, violating the District’s Co- 
Curricular Handbook, failure to accumulate required hours for community service, and a cumulative grade point average 
that drops below a 3.75. 

 
PASSES 
Students in grades 7-12 will use the school issued planner/passbook for passes out of class. Students in grades 7-8 are 
limited to 15 passes per quarter while students in grades 9-12 are limited to 10 passes per quarter. If a student loses their 
passbook they must buy another one ($10). 

 
PASSIVE ALCOHOL SENSOR/HAND HELD METAL DETECTOR 
Any student may be expected to submit to a passive alcohol sensor or handheld metal detector while on school property 
or at any school event. Any student having a positive reading may be subject to disciplinary action. 

 
PEST MANAGEMENT 
Mt. Zion School District #3 has an Integrated Pest Management (IPM) Policy which incorporates building maintenance, 
sanitation, physical barriers, and as a last resort, the most safe, effective means of pesticide application. Although we 
have no intention of spraying or fogging with pesticides, in the unlikely event that this is found necessary, we are creating 
a voluntary registration. By putting your name on this list, you are asking to be notified two days before an airborne 
pesticide application. In the event of an extreme emergency when pesticides must be used immediately, we will notify 
you as soon as possible. Contact your school's office if you wish to be added to the registry. 

 
If you have any further questions, please feel free to contact Dr. Travis R. Roundcount at: (217) 864-2366. 

 
PHYSICAL EDUCATION 
Physical Education Waiver Policy 
Illinois School Code requires that all high school students take P.E. every semester; however, students may be exempt 
from P.E. for the semester if they meet any of the following criteria: 

 
1) The student is in grade 7-8 and is a participant in interscholastic or extracurricular athletics. 
2) The student is in grade 9 -12 and 1) is a participant in Marching Band program for credit (1st semester exemption only) 

2) Ongoing participation in an interscholastic or extracurricular athletic program 
3) The student is in grade 11 or 12 and must 

enroll in a class that, if not taken, would prevent the student from graduating. 
4) The student is in grade 11 or 12 and must enroll in a class that, if not taken, would prevent the student from admission 

to an institution of higher learning of the student’s choice. 
5) The student presents an appropriate excuse from his or her parent/guardian or from a person licensed under the Medical 

Practice Act. The excuse may be based on medical or religious prohibitions. An excuse because of medical reasons 
must include a signed statement from a person licensed under the Medical Practice Act that corroborates the medical 
reason for the request. An excuse based on religious reasons must include a signed statement from a member of the 
clergy that corroborates the religious reason for the request. 

 
All students must obtain 2 credits of P.E. with no option of waiver except for students with a physician documented 
medical condition that would prevent a student's ability to participate in P.E. 

 
A student who is eligible for special education may be excused from physical education courses in either of the following 
situations: 1) He or she (a) is in grades 3-12, (b) his or her IEP requires that special education support and services be 
provided during physical education time, and (c) the parent/guardian agrees or the IEP team makes the determination; or 
2) He or she (a) has an IEP, (b) is participating in an adaptive athletic program outside of the school setting, and (c) the 
parent/guardian documents the student’s participation as required by the Superintendent or designee. A student requiring 
adapted physical education will receive that service in accordance with the student’s Individualized Education Program. 
Special activities in physical education will be provided for a student whose physical or emotional condition, as determined 
by a person licensed under the Medical Practices Act, prevents his or her participation in the physical education course. 

 
State law prohibits the School District from honoring parental excuses based upon a student’s participation in athletic 
training, activities, or competitions conducted outside the auspices of the School District. Students who have been 
excused from physical education shall return to the course as soon as practical. The following considerations will be used 
to determine when a student shall return to a physical education course: 1) The time of year when the student’s 
participation ceases; and 2) The student’s class schedule. 



56 
 

HS Gym Uniforms 
Students are required to have a regulation gym uniform to participate in Physical Education. This uniform shall consist of 
plain black shorts or sweatpants and a plain red crewneck t-shirt, long sleeve t-shirt, or sweatshirt. The red top or black 
bottom may have an MTZ graphic. Socks and gym shoes are also required. 

 
JH Gym Uniforms 
Every student is required to have a regulation gym uniform to participate in Physical 

 
Grades K-6 only 
All students must wear gym shoes to participate in Physical Education. 

 
POSTERS/CIRCULARS 
Any sign, poster, or notice displayed or circulated on school property must be approved or initialed by the Superintendent 
or designee. Notices pertaining to school associated activities will most generally be approved. 

 
Any poster, sign or notice posted without the administration’s approval will be removed. 

 
PUBLICATIONS 
Each building offers a yearbook to its students each year. Cost and acquisition information will be distributed to all 
students. Schools also publish monthly/weekly newsletters which provide information about events, activities, curriculum, 
and other items of interest. 

 
RECESS/P.E. K-6 
Students will be permitted to stay inside for recess with a note from a parent or guardian for three (3) consecutive days 
or less. Any student needing to remain inside longer than three (3) consecutive days must obtain a note from the doctor; 
subsequently, prior to returning to recess, a physician's release will be required. 

 
Students will be excused from P.E. activities with a note from a parent or guardian for three (3) consecutive days or less. 
Any student needing to remain out of P.E. longer than three (3) consecutive days must obtain a note from the doctor. 
Prior to returning to P.E., a physician's release will be required. Additionally, any student excused from P.E. will also be 
excused from all recess activities. 

 
RECORDS ACCESS - STUDENTS 
The Superintendent of Schools is the official records custodian of the Mt. Zion Community Unit School District 
#3 Schools. 

 
The following information pertains to the rights and obligations of parents, students and the school under the Illinois 
School Student Records Act (ISSRA) and the Rules promulgated thereunder by the Illinois State Board of Education, 
which can be found at 23 Illinois Administrative Code 375. 

 
1) The student permanent record consists of basic identifying information, academic transcript, attendance 

record, health record, record of release of permanent record information, scores received on state 
assessment tests, evidence required under the Missing Children Records Act, and may also consist of 
records of awards and participation in school-sponsored activities. No other information will be placed in the 
student permanent record. The permanent record will be kept for 60 years after graduation, transfer, or permanent 
withdrawal. 

2) The student temporary record consists of all information that is of clear relevance to the education of the 
student, but is not required to be in the student permanent record. It may include family background information, 
intelligence test scores, aptitude test scores, psychological and personality test results, teacher anecdotes, and 
disciplinary information. 
A record of release of temporary record information must be included in the student temporary record. The temporary 
record will be reviewed for elimination of out-of-date, inaccurate or unnecessary information every 4 years or upon 
a student’s change in attendance centers, whichever occurs first. The temporary record may be transferred to 
the custody of the parent or to the student if the student has succeeded to the rights of the parents after. 

3) Parents or any person specifically designated as a representative by a parent have the right to: 
a. Inspect and copy all permanent and temporary records within a reasonable time and in no case later than 15 

days after the date of receipt of such request by the official records custodian. A student shall have the right to 
inspect and copy his or her school student permanent record. No parent or student shall be denied a copy of 



57 
 

school student records due to inability to bear the cost of such copying. 

b. Have present at the option either of the parent or the school, a qualified professional, who may be a psychologist, 
counselor, or other advisor, and who may be an employee of the school or employed by the parent, to interpret 
the information contained in the student record. If the school requires that a professional be present, the school 
shall secure and bear any cost of the presence of the professional. If the parent so requests, the school shall 
secure and bear any cost of a professional employed by the school. 

c. Challenge the accuracy, relevancy or propriety of any entry in the school student records, exclusive of grades 
and references to expulsions or out-of-school suspensions, if the challenge is made at the time the student’s 
school student records are forwarded to another school to which the student is transferring, by requesting a 
hearing with the school. 
(i) The request of a hearing shall be submitted in writing to the school and shall contain notice of the specific 

entry or entries to be challenged and the basis of the challenge. 
(ii) An informal conference will be held within 15 school days of receipt of the request for a hearing. 
(iii) If the challenge is not resolved by the informal conference, a formal hearing shall be initiated. 
(iv) Formal hearing: A hearing officer, who is not employed in the attendance center in which the student is 

enrolled, shall be appointed by the school and shall conduct a hearing within a reasonable time but no later 
than 15 days after the informal conference, unless an extension of time is agreed upon by the parents and 
school officials. The hearing officer shall notify the parents and school officials of the time and place of the 
hearing. Each party shall have the right to present evidence, and to call witnesses, the right to cross-examine 
witnesses, and the right to counsel. A record of the hearing shall be made by tape recording or by a court 
reporter. The decision of the hearing officer shall be rendered no later than 10 school days after the 
conclusion of the hearing and shall be transmitted to the parents and the school district. The hearing officer’s 
decision shall be based solely on the evidence presented at the hearing and shall order (a) retention of the 
challenged contents of the student record, or (b) removal of the challenged contents of the student record; 
or (c) change, clarification or addition to the challenged contents of the student record. The parties shall 
have the right to appeal the decision of the hearing officer to the Regional Superintendent of Schools. 

(v) Appeal: Notice of appeal must be presented to the Regional Superintendent of Schools within 20 school 
days after the decision of the hearing officer. The opposing party shall be notified of the appeal at the same 
time. Within 10 school days, the school shall forward a transcript of the hearing, a copy of the record entry 
in question and any other pertinent materials to the Regional Superintendent of Schools. Upon receipt of 
such documents, the Regional Superintendent of Schools shall examine the documents and record, make 
findings and issue a decision to the parents and the school district within 20 school days of receipt of the 
documents. If the subject of the appeal involves accuracy; relevance or propriety of any entry in special 
education records, the Regional Superintendent of Schools should seek advice from appropriate special 
education personnel who were not authors of the entry and whose special education skills are relevant to 
the subjects of the entry in question. The school shall be responsible for implementing the decision of the 
Regional Superintendent of Schools. Such decision shall be final, and may be appealed to the Circuit Court 
of the county in which the school is located. 

4) No school student records or information contained therein may be released, transferred, disclosed or 
otherwise disseminated, except as follows: 
a. to a parent or student or person specifically designated as a representative by a parent; 
b. to an employee or official of the school or school district or the State Board of Education with a current 

demonstrable or educational or administrative interest in the student, in furtherance of such interest 
c. "Federal law permits the school district to disclose personally identifiable information in the student's education 

records to "school officials with legitimate educational interests." School officials include persons employed by 
the district as an administrator, supervisor, teacher, or support staff member (including but not limited 
to...transportation personnel...);...or a person, agency, or company with whom the District has contracted, or 
otherwise arranged to perform a special task or service...Such individuals may have a legitimate educational 
interest to review an education record in order to fulfill his or her professional and/or official responsibility. 
A legitimate educational interest also exists where the staff member or other individual works directly with students 
and needs to review education records to increase his/her awareness of steps necessary for the safety and 
welfare of students and staff members"; (IDEA, Sec. 300.572 (d)) 

d. to the official records custodian of another school in which the student has enrolled or intends to enroll, provided 
that the parent receives prior written notice of the nature and substance of the information to be transferred and 
opportunity to inspect copy and challenge such information. If the address of the parents is unknown, notice may 
be served upon the records custodian of the requesting school for transmittal to the parents. Such service shall 
be deemed conclusive, and 10 school days after such service, if the parents make no objection, the records may 
be transferred to the requesting school; 

e. to any person for the purpose of research, statistical reporting or planning provided that no student of parent can 
be identified from the information released and the person(s) requesting the use of such information has signed 
an affidavit agreeing to comply with all rules and statutes regarding school records; 

f. pursuant to a court order, provided that the parent shall be given prompt written notice upon receipt of such order, 
the nature and substance of the information proposed to be released in compliance with such order and an 



58 
 

opportunity to inspect, copy and challenge the contents of the school student records; 
g. to any person as specifically required by state or federal law, provided that such person shall provide the school 

with appropriate identification and a copy of the statute authorizing such access and that the parent receives prior 
written notice of the nature and substance of the information to be released and an opportunity to inspect, copy 
and challenge such information. If the release of information relates to more than 25 students, such prior notice 
may be given in a local newspaper of general circulation or other publication directed generally to parents; 

h. subject to regulations of the State Board, in connection with an emergency to appropriate persons if the knowledge 
of such information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other persons, provided that the 
parents are notified no later than the next school day after the date the information is released, the date of release, 
the person, agency or organization, and the purpose of the release; 

i. to any person with the prior specific, dated and written consent of the parent designating the person to whom the 
records may be released and the designated records or designated portions of the information to be released. 
The parent has the right to inspect, copy and challenge the records and to limit any such consent to designated 
records or designated portions of the information contained within the records. 

5) Parents may insert in their child’s school student record a statement of reasonable length setting forth their 
position on any disputed information contained in that record. The school shall include a copy of such statement 
in any subsequent dissemination of the information in dispute. 

6) Parents will be given reasonable prior notice before any school student record is destroyed or information deleted 
therefrom and an opportunity to copy the record or information proposed to be destroyed or deleted. 

7) Except for the student and his parents, no person to whom information is released and no person specifically 
designated as a representative by a parent may permit any other person to have access to such information without 
a prior consent of parent obtained in accordance with ISSRA, 

8) A record of any release of information shall be maintained for the life of the school student records and shall 
be available only to the parents, student, and the official records custodian. The record of release shall include 
the nature and substance of the information released, the name of the person requesting such information, the 
capacity in which such a request has been made, the purpose of such request, the date of the release, the name and 
signature of the official records custodian releasing such information and a copy of any consent to such release. 

9) All rights and privileges accorded a parent under the ISSRA shall become exclusively those of the student 
upon his 18th birthday, graduation from secondary school, marriage or entry into military service whichever 
occurs first. Such rights and privileges may also be exercised by the student at any time with respect to the student’s 
permanent school record. 

10) The following is designated as directory information and may be released to the general public unless the 
parent requests that any or all such information not be released: student’s name and address, grade level, birth 
date and place, parent’s name and address, academic awards, degrees and honors, information in relation to school- 
sponsored activities, organizations and athletics, the student’s major field of study, and period of attendance in the 
school. 

11) No person may condition the granting or withholding of any right, privilege or benefit or make as a condition of 
employment, credit or insurance the securing by any individual of any information from a student’s temporary record 
which such individual may obtain through the exercise of any right secured under the Illinois School 
Student Records Act. 

12) Upon graduation or permanent withdrawal of a student with a disability, special education files and other 
information contained in the student temporary record which may be of continued assistance to the student 
may, after five years, be transferred to the custody of the parent or student if the student has succeeded to 
the rights of the parents. The school will explain to the student and the parent the future usefulness of records. 

13) Any policies of the school relating to school student records which are not included in the Act or Rules are considered 
a part of this handbook. 

14) Copies of the Illinois School Student Records Act, 23 Illinois Administrative Code 375 (Student Records), and district 
or school policies relating to school student records which are not included in the Act or Rules are available for 
review in the office of the school records custodian and the district superintendent. 

 
RECORDS ACCESS - FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY ACT 
The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) affords students certain rights with respect to their education 
records. They are: 

1) The right to inspect and review the student's education records within 10 business days of the day the District receives 
a request for access. The degree of access a student has to his or her records depends on the student’s age. Students 
less than 18 years of age have the right to inspect and copy only their permanent record. Students 18 years of age 
or older have access and copy rights to both permanent and temporary records. A parent/guardian or eligible student 
should submit to the Records Custodian, Principal, or other appropriate official, written requests that identify the 
record(s) they wish to inspect. The District official will make arrangements for access and notify the parent/guardian 
or eligible student of the time and place where the records may be inspected. The District may extend the response 
timeline to 15 business days in accordance with ISSRA. The District charges $.35 per page for copying but no one 



59 
 

will be denied their right to copies of their records for inability to pay this cost. 
 

These rights are denied to any person against whom an order of protection has been entered concerning a student. 
105 ILCS 5/10-22.3c and 10/5a; 750 ILCS 60/214(b)(15). 

 
2) The right to request the amendment of the student's education records that the parent/guardian or eligible student 

believes are inaccurate, irrelevant, or improper. A parent/guardian or eligible student may ask the District to amend a 
record that they believe is inaccurate, irrelevant, or improper. They should write the District official responsible for the 
record, clearly identify the part of the record they want changed, and specify the reason. 

 
If the District decides not to amend the record as requested by the parent/guardian or eligible student, the District will 
notify the parent/guardian or eligible student of the decision and advise the parent/guardian or eligible student of their 
right to a hearing regarding the request for amendment. Additional information regarding the hearing procedures will 
be provided to the parent/guardian or eligible student when notified of the right to a hearing. 

 
3) The right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the eligible student's education 

records, except to the extent that FERPA or ISSRA authorizes disclosure without consent. 
 

One exception which permits disclosure without consent is disclosure to school officials with legitimate educational 
interests. A school official is a person employed by the District as an administrator, supervisor, instructor, or support 
staff member (including health or medical staff and law enforcement unit personnel); a person serving on the School 
Board. A school official may also include a volunteer, contractor, or consultant who, while not employed by the school, 
performs an institutional service or function for which the school would otherwise use its own employees and who is 
under the direct control of the school with respect to the use and maintenance of personally identifiable information 
from education records (such as an attorney, auditor, medical consultant, therapist, or educational technology 
vendor); or any parents/guardians or student serving on an official committee, such as a disciplinary or grievance 
committee, or assisting another school official in performing his or her tasks. Individual board members do not have 
a right to see student records merely by virtue of their office unless they have a current demonstrable educational or 
administrative interest in the student and seeing his or her record(s) would be in furtherance of the interest. 

 
A school official has a legitimate educational interest if the official needs to review an education record in order to 
fulfill his or her professional responsibilities or contractual obligations with the District. 

 
Upon request, the District discloses education records without consent to officials of another school in which a student 
seeks or intends to enroll, as well as to any person as specifically required by State or federal law. Before information 
is released to these individuals, the parents/guardians will receive prior written notice of the nature and substance of 
the information, and an opportunity to inspect, copy, and challenge such records. 

 
When a challenge is made at the time the student’s records are being forwarded to another school to which the 
student is transferring, there is no right to challenge: (1) academic grades, or (2) references to expulsions or out-of- 
school suspensions. 

 
Disclosure is also permitted without consent to: any person for research, statistical reporting or planning, provided 
that no student or parent(s)/guardian(s) can be identified; any person named in a court order; appropriate persons if 
the knowledge of such information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other persons; and 
juvenile authorities when necessary for the discharge of their official duties who request information before 
adjudication of the student. 

 
4) The right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning alleged failures by the District to comply 

with the requirements of FERPA. The name and address of the Office that administers FERPA is: Student Privacy 
Policy Office, U.S. Department of Education, 400 Maryland Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20202-4605. 

5) The right to a copy of any school student record proposed to be destroyed or deleted. The permanent record is 
maintained for at least 60 years after the student transfers, graduates, or permanently withdraws. The temporary 
record is maintained for at least five years after the student transfers, graduates, or permanently withdraws. 
Temporary records that may be of assistance to a student with a disability who graduates or permanently withdraws, 
may, after five years, be transferred to the parent(s)/guardian(s) or to the student, if the student has succeeded to the 
rights of the parent(s)/guardian(s). Student temporary records are reviewed every four years or upon a student’s 
change in attendance centers, whichever occurs first. 

 
6) The right to prohibit the release of directory information concerning the parent’s/ guardian’s child. Throughout the 

school year, the District may release directory information regarding its students, limited to: student’s name and 



60 
 

address, grade level, birth date and place, parent’s name and address, academic awards, degrees and honors, 
information in relation to school-sponsored activities, organizations and athletics, the student’s major field of study, 
and period of attendance in the school. Any parent/guardian or eligible student may prohibit the release of any or all 
of the above information by delivering a written objection to the Building Principal within 30 days of the date of this 
notice. No directory information will be released within this time period, unless the parent/guardian or eligible student 
is specifically informed otherwise. 

 
No photograph highlighting individual faces is allowed for commercial purposes, including solicitation, advertising, 
promotion or fundraising without the prior, specific, dated and written consent of the parent or student, as applicable; 
and no image on a school security video recording shall be designated as directory information. 

 
7) The right to request that military recruiters or institutions of higher learning not be granted access to your 

secondary school student’s name, address, and telephone numbers without your prior written consent. 
Federal law requires a secondary school to grant military recruiters and institutions of higher learning, upon 
their request, access to secondary school students’ names, addresses, and telephone numbers, unless 
the student’s parent/guardian, or a student who is 18 years of age or older, submits a written request that 
the information not be released without the prior written consent of the parent/guardian or eligible student. 
If you wish to exercise this option, notify the Building Principal where your student is enrolled for further 
instructions. 

8) The right contained in this statement: No person may condition the granting or withholding of any right, privilege 
or benefits or make as a condition of employment, credit, or insurance the securing by any individual of any 
information from a student’s temporary record which such individual may obtain through the exercise of any 
right secured under State law. 

 
Model Notification of Rights Under the Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment 

(PPRA) 
 

PPRA affords parents certain rights regarding our conduct of surveys, collection and use of information for marketing 
purposes, and certain physical exams. These include the right to: 

 
Consent before students are required to submit to a survey that concerns one or more of the following protected areas 
("protected information survey") - 
1) Political affiliations or beliefs of the student or student's parent; 
2) Mental or psychological problems of the student or student's family; 
3) Sex behavior or attitudes; 
4) Illegal, anti-social, self-incriminating, or demeaning behavior; 
5) Critical appraisals of others with whom respondents have close family relationships; 
6) Legally recognized privileged relationships, such as with lawyers, doctors, or ministers; 
7) Religious practices, affiliations, or beliefs of the student or parents; or 
8) Income, other than as required by law to determine program eligibility. 

 
Receive notice and an opportunity to opt a student out of - 
1) Any other protected information survey, regardless of funding; 
2) Any non-emergency, invasive physical exam or screening required as a condition of attendance, administered by the 

school or its agent, and not necessary to protect the immediate health and safety of a student, except for hearing, vision, 
or scoliosis screenings, or any physical exam or screening permitted or required under State law; and 

 
3) Activities involving collection, disclosure, or use of personal information obtained from students for marketing or to sell 

or otherwise distribute the information to others. 
 

Inspect, upon request and before administration or use - 
1) Protected information surveys of students; 
2) Instruments used to collect personal information from students for any of the above marketing, sales, or other 

distribution purposes; and 
3) Instructional material used as part of the educational curriculum. 

 
These rights transfer from the parents to a student who is 18 years old or an emancipated minor under State law. 
The Mt. Zion School District has developed procedures, in consultation with parents, regarding these rights, as well as 



61 
 

arrangements to protect student privacy in the administration of protected information surveys and the collection, 
disclosure, or use of personal information for marketing, sales, or other distribution purposes. The Mt. Zion School District 
will directly notify parents of these policies at least annually at the start of each school year and after any substantive 
changes. The Mt. Zion School District will also directly notify, such as through U.S. Mail or email, parents of students who 
are scheduled to participate in the specific activities or surveys noted below and will provide an opportunity for the parent 
to opt his or her child out of participation of the specific activity or survey. The Mt. Zion School District will make this 
notification to parents at the beginning of the school year if the District has identified the specific or approximate dates of 
the activities or surveys at that time. For surveys and activities scheduled after the school year starts, parents will be 
provided reasonable notification of the planned activities and surveys listed below and be provided an opportunity to opt 
their child out of such activities and surveys. Parents will also be provided an opportunity to review any pertinent surveys. 
Following is a list of the specific activities and surveys covered under this requirement: 

 
• Collection, disclosure, or use of personal information for marketing, sales or other distribution. 
• Administration of any protected information survey not funded in whole or in part by ED. 
• Any non-emergency, invasive physical examination or screening as described above. Parents who believe their 

rights have been violated may file a complaint with: 
 

Student Privacy Policy Office 
U.S. Department of 
Education400 Maryland 
Avenue, SW Washington, 
D.C. 20202-5901 

 
In accordance with ESEA Section 1111(h) (6) PARENTS RIGHT TO KNOW, the Mt. Zion School District is notifying every 
parent of a Title I school that you have the right and may request information regarding the professional qualifications of your 
child’s teacher or paraprofessional. 

 
This information regarding the professional qualifications of your child’s teacher including, at a minimum, the following: 

1. Whether the teacher has met the State qualification and licensing criteria for the grade levels and subject areas in 
which the teacher provides instruction. 

2. Whether the teacher is teaching under emergency or other provisional status through which State qualifications or 
licensing criteria have been waived. 

3. Whether the teacher is teaching in the field of discipline of the certification of the teacher. 
4. Whether the child is provided services by paraprofessionals and, if so, their qualifications. If at any time your child has 

been taught for four or more consecutive weeks by a teacher not highly qualified, the school will notify you. 

Student Survey Rights 
If a parent or guardian would like to opt their child out of participating or request access to surveys given, please contact 
building administration or district office. 

 
RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS 
In accordance with the Illinois School Code, permanent records must indicate that the parent/legal guardian resides within 
the boundaries of this school district. 
1. Present a certified birth certificate for the student. 
2. Present proof of residency within the District by providing the required number of documents from each of the 

following categories within thirty (30) days of the student’s enrollment date: 

Category 1 (One document required) 
● Most recent property tax bill and proof of payment, e.g., canceled check or Form 1098 (homeowners) 
● Mortgage papers (homeowners) 
● Signed and dated lease and proof of last month’s payment, e.g., canceled check or receipts (renters) 
● Letter from manager and proof of last month’s payment, e.g., canceled check or receipts (mobile home resident) 
● Letter of residence from landlord in lieu of lease (See Building Principal) 

 
Category II (Two documents showing proper address are required) 

● Driver’s license 
● Vehicle registration 
● Voter registration 
● Most recent cable television and/or credit card bill 



62 
 

● Current public aid card 
● Current homeowner/renters insurance policy and premium payment receipt 
● Most recent gas, electric, and/or water bill 

Military Personnel Enrolling a Student for the First Time in the District. 
(Must provide one of the following within 60 days after the date of student’s initial enrollment) 

● Postmarked mail addressed to military personnel 
● Lease agreement for occupancy 
● Proof of ownership of residence 

 
RESPECT FOR PEERS/PROPERTY 
Physical conflict will not be tolerated. If a disagreement should develop between students, it is the student’s responsibility 
to seek assistance from any staff member in an effort to resolve the situation in a non-violent manner. 

Damages to the building, its equipment, or the property of others will not be tolerated. Restitution for any damages may 
be required. Students are expected to show respect for the property of others. 

 
RETENTION 
In striving to reach a decision in regard to retention, consideration will be given to: the possible effects of retention, 
the likelihood of gain resulting from retention, psychiatric advice if available, results of standardized tests, and grades. 

 
Retention is justifiable in cases where achievement is too far below standard and is caused by any of the following: 
frequent or prolonged absence, lack of effort by capable students, physical immaturity, and social immaturity. 

 
The decision to retain is the sole responsibility of the school, as per Illinois School Statutes and Mt. Zion Board Policy. 

 
SAFETY DRILLS 
Fire drills are held at regular intervals. The signal for the fire drill is a steady sounding of the fire horn. Procedures to be 
followed in case of a fire drill are posted in all classrooms and discussed by each teacher. When the fire alarm is sounded, 
all work should be stopped immediately, and people should move to the exit indicated and out of the building in a quiet 
and orderly manner. 

 
If a student should accidentally turn on a false alarm, he/she must report to the office immediately and give the location 
of the broken box. If a student deliberately pulls a false fire alarm, the punishment for such an offense may include 
suspension and/or expulsion from school, as well as being turned over to the police. 

 
Tornado drills are held at regular intervals. 

 
Again, procedures are posted in each classroom and discussed by the teacher. In case of a tornado drill or alert, the 
principal will give information over the intercom or, by messenger, in case of power failure. All students will be moved, 
according to their location, to an area considered safer than the classroom. Every student and teacher will participate in 
these drills. 

 
Earthquake procedures should be posted in each classroom and reviewed with the students. Earthquake drills will be 
conducted. 

 
The actual saving of lives may depend on obedience to instructions. There should be absolutely no talking during the 
drills, as it may be necessary to give different, emergency instructions. 

 
In addition, the District has a Crisis Intervention Plan for implementation in the case of extraordinary conditions which 
might endanger student safety and welfare. 

 
Bus evacuation and law enforcement drills to address the incident of a school shooting will also occur at least once per 
year. 

SCHOOL COUNSELORS 
Students may see school counselors as a result of self-referral, request by counselor, parent referral, 
administrative/teacher/staff referral, and/or friend referral. Parents can and are encouraged to call, make appointments, 
and attend guidance office events. School counselors provide services for academics, social emotional concerns, peer 
relations, family issues, crisis situations, special needs, health issues, individual/group counseling, test preparation 



63 
 

information, and college & post-secondary planning. 
 

SEARCH AND SEIZURE 
In order to maintain order and security in the schools, school authorities are authorized to conduct reasonable searches 
of school property and equipment, as well as of students and their personal effects. “School authorities” includes school 
liaison police officers. 

 
School authorities may inspect and search school property and equipment owned or controlled by the school (such as, 
lockers, desks, and parking lots), as well as personal effects left there by a student, without notice to or the consent of 
the student. Students have no reasonable expectation of privacy in these places or areas or in their personal effects left 
there. 

 
The Superintendent may request the assistance of law enforcement officials to conduct inspections and searches of 
lockers, desks, parking lots, and other school property and equipment for illegal drugs, weapons, or other illegal or 
dangerous substances or materials, including searches conducted through the use of specially trained dogs. 

 
School authorities may search a student and/or the student’s personal effects in the student’s possession (such as, 
purses, wallets, knapsacks, book bags, lunch boxes, etc.) when there is a reasonable ground for suspecting that the 
search will produce evidence the particular student has violated or is violating either the law or the District’s student 
conduct rules. The search itself must be conducted in a manner that is reasonably related to its objective and not 
excessively intrusive in light of the student’s age and sex, and the nature of the infraction. 

 
When feasible, the search should be conducted as follows: 

1. Outside the view of others, including students, 
2. In the presence of a school administrator or adult witness, and 
3. By a certificated employee or liaison police officer of the same sex as the student. 

 
Immediately following a search that results in an out of school suspension or any time when an out of school suspension 
results from a discipline situation, a written report shall be made by the school authority who conducted the search, 
and given to the Superintendent. 

 
If a search produces evidence that the student has violated or is violating either the law or the District’s policies or rules, 
such evidence may be seized and impounded by school authorities, and disciplinary action may be taken. When 
appropriate, such evidence may be transferred to law enforcement authorities. 

 
Notification Regarding Student Accounts or Profiles on Social Networking Websites 
In accordance with the Right to Privacy in the School Setting Act, 105 ILCS 75/: 

1. School officials may not request or require a student or his or her parent/guardian to provide a password or other 
related account information to gain access to the student’s account or profile on a social networking website. 

2. School officials may conduct an investigation or require a student to cooperate in an investigation if there is specific 
information about activity on the student’s account on a social networking website that violates a school disciplinary 
rule or policy. In the course of an investigation, the student may be required to share the content that is reported in 
order to allow school officials to make a factual determination. 

 
SEXUAL ABUSE AND ASSAULT AWARENESS AND PREVENTION EDUCATION 
Students will not be required to take or participate in any class or course in recognizing and avoiding sexual abuse if his 
or her parent or guardian submits a written objection. The parent or guardian’s decision will not be the reason for any 
student discipline, including suspension or expulsion. Nothing in this Section prohibits instruction in sanitation, hygiene or 
traditional courses in biology. 

 
Parents or guardians may examine the instructional materials to be used in any district sexual abuse education instruction. 

 
SEX EDUCATION 
The District does teach a traditional health curriculum, but does not adopt or teach a course in sex education at any grades 
related to the National Sex Education Standards. 

 
SEX OFFENDER NOTIFICATION 
Pursuant to Public Act 94-994, a school district is required to notify the parents of children attending schools within the 
district that they may access information regarding registered sex offenders that is available to the public. This law is 
intended to increase awareness of the Illinois Sex Offender Registry (I-SOR) and to encourage parents to review the 
information available to them. For your information, the Illinois Sex Offender Registry is available through a link on the 



64 
 

Illinois State Police website: http://www.isp.state.il.us/sor. 
 

SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY 
It is Board Policy to not discriminate on the basis of sex, marital status or pregnancy in District-operated or District- 
supported programs or activities. In addition, Board Policy prohibits sexual harassment or sexual intimidation of students 
by other students and District employees. No person, including a District employee or agent, or student, shall harass, 
intimidate or bully another student. The District will not tolerate harassing, intimidating conduct, or bullying whether verbal, 
physical, or visual, that affects the tangible benefits of education, that unreasonably interferes with a student’s educational 
performance, or that creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive educational environment. Examples of prohibited conduct 
include name-calling, using derogatory slurs, causing psychological harm, threatening or causing physical harm, or 
wearing or possessing items depicting or implying hatred or prejudice of one of the characteristics stated above. 

 
Complaints of harassment, intimidation or bullying are handled according to the provisions on sexual harassment below. 

 
Sexual Harassment Prohibited 
The District shall provide an educational environment free of verbal, physical, or other conduct or communications 
constituting harassment on the basis of sex as defined and otherwise prohibited by State and federal law. See policies 
2:265, Title IX Sexual Harassment Grievance Procedure, and 2:260, Uniform Grievance Procedure. 

 
Sexual harassment affects a student’s ability to learn and an employee’s ability to work. Providing an educational and 
workplace environment free from sexual harassment is an important District goal. The District does not discriminate on 
the basis of sex in any of its education programs or activities, and it complies with Title IX of the Education Amendments 
of 1972 (Title IX) and its implementing regulations (34 C.F.R. Part 106) concerning everyone in the District’s education 
programs and activities, including applicants for employment, students, parents/guardians, employees, and third parties. 
Sexual harassment of students as defined in Title IX is prohibited. Any person, including a district employee or agent, or 
student, engages in sexual harassment whenever that person engages in conduct on the basis of an individual’s sex that 
satisfies one or more of the following: 

 
1. A District employee conditions the provision of an aid, benefit, or service on an individual’s participation in 

unwelcome sexual conduct; or 
2. Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive 

that it effectively denies a person equal access to the District’s educational program or activity; or 
3. Sexual assault as defined in 20 U.S.C. §1092(f)(6)(A)(v), dating violence as defined in 34 U.S.C. §12291(a)(10), 

domestic violence as defined in 34 U.S.C. §12291(a)(8), or stalking as defined in 34 U.S.C. §12291(a)(30) 
4. any unwelcome sexual advances or requests for sexual favors made to a student, or any conduct of a sexual 

nature toward a student, when: (1) such conduct has the purpose of substantially interfering with the student’s 
educational performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive educational environment; or (2) the 
district employee or agent either explicitly or implicitly makes the student’s submission to or rejection of such 
conduct as a basis for making various enumerated education-related determinations. 

 
Examples of sexual harassment include touching, crude jokes or pictures, discussions of sexual experiences, teasing 
related to sexual characteristics, and spreading rumors related to a person’s alleged sexual activities, rape, sexual battery, 
sexual abuse, and sexual coercion. 

Definitions from 34 C.F.R. §106.30 
Complainant means an individual who is alleged to be the victim of conduct that could constitute sexual harassment. 
Education program or activity includes locations, events, or circumstances where the District has substantial control over 
both the Respondent and the context in which alleged sexual harassment occurs. 

 
Formal Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint means a document filed by a Complainant or signed by the Title IX 
Coordinator alleging sexual harassment against a Respondent and requesting that the District investigate the allegation. 
Respondent means an individual who has been reported to be the perpetrator of the conduct that could constitute sexual 
harassment. 

 
Supportive measures mean non-disciplinary, non-punitive individualized services offered as appropriate, as reasonably 
available, and without fee or charge to the Complainant or the Respondent before or after the filing of a Formal Title IX 
Sexual Harassment Complaint or where no Formal Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint has been filed. 

Title IX Sexual Harassment Prevention and Response 
The Superintendent or designee will ensure that the District prevents and responds to allegations of Title IX Sexual 

http://www.isp.state.il.us/sor


65 
 

Harassment as follows: 
1. Ensures that the District’s comprehensive health education program in Board policy 6:60, Curriculum Content, 

incorporates (a) age-appropriate sexual abuse and assault awareness and prevention programs in grades pre-K 
through 12, and (b) age-appropriate education about the warning signs, recognition, dangers, and prevention of teen 
dating violence in grades 7-12. This includes incorporating student social and emotional development into the 
District’s educational program as required by State law and in alignment with Board policy 6:65, Student Social and 
Emotional Development. 

2. Incorporates education and training for school staff as recommended by the Superintendent, Title IX Coordinator, 
Nondiscrimination Coordinator, Building Principal, Assistant Building Principal, Dean of Students, or a Complaint 
Manager. 

3. Notifies applicants for employment, students, parents/guardians, employees, and collective bargaining units of this 
policy and contact information for the Title IX Coordinator by, at a minimum, prominently displaying them on the 
District’s website, if any, and in each handbook made available to such persons. 

 
Making a Report 
A person who wishes to make a report under this Title IX Sexual Harassment grievance procedure may make a report to 
the Title IX Coordinator, Nondiscrimination Coordinator, Building Principal, Assistant Building Principal, Dean of Students, 
a Complaint Manager, or any employee with whom the person is comfortable speaking. A person who wishes to make a 
report may choose to report to a person of the same gender. 

 
School employees shall respond to incidents of sexual harassment by promptly making or forwarding the report to the 
Title IX Coordinator. An employee who fails to promptly make or forward a report may be disciplined, up to and including 
discharge. 

 
The Superintendent shall insert into this handbook policy and keep current the name, office address, email address, and 
telephone number of the Title IX Coordinator. 

 
Processing and Reviewing a Report or Complaint 
Upon receipt of a report, the Title IX Coordinator and/or designee will promptly contact the Complainant to: (1) discuss 
the availability of supportive measures, (2) consider the Complainant’s wishes with respect to supportive measures, (3) 
inform the Complainant of the availability of supportive measures with or without the filing of a Formal Title IX Sexual 
Harassment Complaint, and (4) explain to the Complainant the process for filing a Formal Title IX Sexual Harassment 
Complaint. 

 
Further, the Title IX Coordinator will analyze the report to identify and determine whether there is another or an additional 
appropriate method(s) for processing and reviewing it. For any report received, the Title IX Coordinator shall review Board 
policies 2:260, Uniform Grievance Procedure; 5:20, Workplace Harassment Prohibited; 5:90, Abused and Neglected Child 
Reporting; 5:120, Employee Ethics; Conduct; and Conflict of Interest; 7:20, Harassment of Students Prohibited; 7:180, 
Prevention of and Response to Bullying, Intimidation, and Harassment; 7:185, Teen Dating Violence Prohibited; and 
7:190, Student Behavior, to determine if the allegations in the report require further action. 
Reports of alleged sexual harassment will be confidential to the greatest extent practicable, subject to the District’s duty 
to investigate and maintain an educational program or activity that is productive, respectful, and free of sexual harassment. 

Formal Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Grievance Process 
When a Formal Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint is filed, the Title IX Coordinator will investigate it or appoint a 
qualified person to undertake the investigation. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall implement procedures to ensure that all Formal Title IX Sexual Harassment 
Complaints are processed and reviewed according to a Title IX grievance process that fully complies with 34 C.F.R. 
§106.45. The District’s grievance process shall, at a minimum: 

 
1. Treat Complainants and Respondents equitably by providing remedies to a Complainant where the Respondent 

is determined to be responsible for sexual harassment, and by following a grievance process that complies with 
34 C.F.R. §106.45 before the imposition of any disciplinary sanctions or other actions against a Respondent. 

2. Require an objective evaluation of all relevant evidence – including both inculpatory and exculpatory evidence 
– and provide that credibility determinations may not be based on a person’s status as a Complainant, 
Respondent, or witness. 

3. Require that any individual designated by the District as a Title IX Coordinator, investigator, decision-maker, or 
any person designated by the District to facilitate an informal resolution process: 
a. Not have a conflict of interest or bias for or against complainants or respondents generally or an individual 

Complainant or Respondent. 



66 
 

b. Receive training on the definition of sexual harassment, the scope of the District’s education program or 
activity, how to conduct an investigation and grievance process (including hearings, appeals, and informal 
resolution processes, as applicable), and how to serve impartially. 

4. Require that any individual designated by the District as an investigator receiving training on issues of relevance 
to create an investigative report that fairly summarizes relevant evidence. 

5. Require that any individual designated by the District as a decision-maker receive training on issues of relevance 
of questions and evidence, including when questions and evidence about the Complainant’s sexual 
predisposition or prior sexual behavior are not relevant. 

6. Include a presumption that the Respondent is not responsible for the alleged conduct until a determination 
regarding responsibility is made at the conclusion of the grievance process. 

7. Include reasonably prompt timeframes for conclusion of the grievance process. 
8. Describe the range of possible disciplinary sanctions and remedies the District may implement following any 

determination of responsibility. 
9. Base all decisions upon the preponderance of evidence standard. 
10. Include the procedures and permissible bases for the Complainant and Respondent to appeal. 
11. Describe the range of supportive measures available to Complainants and Respondents. 
12. Not require, allow, rely upon, or otherwise use questions or evidence that constitute, or seek disclosure of, 

information protected under a legally recognized privilege, unless the person holding such privilege has waived 
the privilege. 

 
Enforcement 
Any District employee who is determined, at the conclusion of the grievance process, to have engaged in sexual 
harassment will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including discharge. Any third party who is determined, at the 
conclusion of the grievance process, to have engaged in sexual harassment will be addressed in accordance with the 
authority of the Board in the context of the relationship of the third party to the District, e.g., vendor, parent, invitee, etc. 
Any District student who is determined, at the conclusion of the grievance process, to have engaged in sexual harassment 
will be subject to disciplinary action, including, but not limited to, suspension and expulsion consistent with student 
behavior policies. Any person making a knowingly false accusation regarding sexual harassment will likewise be subject 
to disciplinary action. 

 
This policy does not increase or diminish the ability of the District or the parties to exercise any other rights under existing 
law. 

 
Retaliation Prohibited 
The District prohibits any form of retaliation against anyone who, in good faith, has made a report or complaint, assisted, 
or participated or refused to participate in any manner in a proceeding under this policy. Any person should report claims 
of retaliation using Board policy 2:260, Uniform Grievance Procedure. 

 
Any person who retaliates against others for reporting or complaining of violations of this policy or for participating in any 
manner under this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including discharge, with regard to employees, or 
suspension and expulsion, with regard to students. 

 
SNACKS-CLASSROOM (Grades K-6) 
Often students bring treats or snacks to school to share on special occasions. While bringing snacks does not pose a 
problem, food allergies, health and sanitation concerns dictate what treats are acceptable. Store or Food Service bought 
treats are the only treats allowed. To order birthday party snacks from Food Service contact Darcie Hayes at 864-2114. 

 
If the administration/classroom teachers are made aware of students with food allergies, they will make every effort to 
prevent that type of product from being brought into the classroom. Our schools will continue to celebrate these special 
occasions with our students. 

 
SOCIAL SERVICES 
District social services are available for students and families. Typically, the social services assists students with 
weaknesses in three basic areas that are critical for positive educational and social growth: motivation (completing school 
work on time and making passing grades), behavior (following school and classroom rules), and social skills (fitting into 
groups and working cooperatively with others). Teachers often refer students for this service, and you are welcome to 
contact your school for more information about these services. 

 
SPECIAL EDUCATION 
It is the intent of the District to ensure that students who are disabled within the definition of Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 or the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act are identified, evaluated and provided with 



67 
 

appropriate educational services. 
 

The District provides a free appropriate public education and necessary related services to all children with disabilities 
residing within District, required under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) and implementing provisions 
of the School Code, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and the Americans with Disabilities Act. The term 
“children and disabilities means children between 3 and 21 for whom it is determined that special education services are 
needed. For additional information on the referral process or parents’ rights refer to the School Code, Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and the Americans with Disabilities Act or contact District administration. 

 
The District offers all eligible students between the ages of 3 and 21 a comprehensive program which includes systematic 
procedures to identify and evaluate those students eligible for special education and a continuum of placement options 
available to the specific needs of students. If necessary, students may be placed in private educational facilities. 

 
Parent(s) who believe that their child may require special services should contact the local building principal. If it is 
determined that a case study evaluation is needed to determine eligibility for special education services, parent(s) will be 
required to consent to such a case study evaluation being conducted and have the right to a report of the evaluation 
information and attend any meetings to determine eligibility for services. If parents have questions regarding their child’s 
referral for a case study evaluation, please direct questions to the building principal. If parents would like a copy of the 
Procedural Safeguards and Responsibilities for Parents/Guardians of Children with Disabilities, parents should contact 
the building principal. 

 
It is the intent of the District to ensure that students who are disabled within the definition of Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 are identified, evaluated, and provided with appropriate educational services. Students may be 
disabled within the meaning of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 even though they do not require services 
pursuant to the IDEA. Pursuant to Public Act 100-1112 students with disabilities who do not qualify for an individualized 
education program (IEP) may qualify for services under Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973 if the child 

(i) has a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities, 
(ii) has a record of a physical or mental impairment, or 
(iii) is regarded as having a physical or mental impairment. 

 
For students eligible for services under IDEA, the District shall follow procedures for identification, evaluation, placement, 
and delivery of services to children with disabilities provided in the Illinois State Board of Education’s Rules and 
Regulations to Govern the Administration of Special Education. For those students who are not eligible for services under 
IDEA, but, because of eligibility as defined by Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, need or are believed to need 
special instruction or related services, the District shall establish and implement a system of procedural safeguards. The 
safeguards shall cover students’ identification, evaluation, and educational placement. This system shall include notice, 
an opportunity for the student’s parent(s)/guardian to examine relevant records, an impartial hearing with opportunity for 
participation by the student’s parent(s)/guardian(s), and representation by counsel, and a review procedure. 

 
The parent/guardian of a student receiving special education services, or being evaluated for eligibility, is afforded 
reasonable access to educational facilities, personnel, classrooms, and buildings. This same right of access is afforded 
to an independent educational evaluator or a qualified professional retained by or on behalf of a parent or child. 

 
The District shall comply with the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 and the Illinois State 
Board of Education’s Special Education rules when disciplining special education students. No special education student 
shall be expelled if the student’s particular act of gross disobedience or misconduct is a manifestation of his or her disability 
as determined through a manifestation hearing. Any special education student whose gross disobedience or misconduct 
is not a manifestation of his or her disability may be expelled pursuant to the expulsion procedures. 

 
The District will provide accommodations for parents or guardians with disabilities at parent/guardian conferences, school 
programs, or school board meetings. Parents or guardians who require accommodations or who have questions about 
access should contact the building principal. 

 
STATE TESTING 
IAR & ISA TESTS 
The state has mandated that students in grades 3-8 be assessed in both English Language Arts and Mathematics each 
spring using an assessment known as the Illinois Assessment of Readiness (IAR). 

 
Also in the spring, according to the Illinois State Board of Education guidelines, students in grades 5 and 8 will take a 
science test known as the Illinois Science Assessment (ISA). 



68 
 

 
ACT SAT & PSAT/NMSQT TESTS 
During the school year, the state is requiring all Illinois students in grades 9-11 to take the PSAT 8/9Pre-ACT 9 Secure, PSAT 
10Pre-ACT 10 Secure, and ACT with Writing SAT test. The SATACT is widely used by many colleges and universities for 
admission purposes. It also can be used as an indicator for career readiness as well. The high school will notify students and 
parents of when, where, and how the SAT ACT will be administered. 

 
An optional test that is available to juniors is the PSAT/NMSQT (Preliminary Scholastic Aptitude Test/National Merit 
Scholarship Qualifying Test). This test is given at Mt. Zion High School on a specified Wednesday in October during school 
hours. A student must sign up in advance with the school counselor in order to take the exam. The PSAT/NMSQT test score 
is used by various companies to determine scholarship candidates. 

 
Please see the Guidance Department website at: https://www.mtzschools.org/guidance for further information about testing, 
post-secondary options, and career/college exploration resources. 
 
SUICIDE AND DEPRESSION AWARENESS AND PREVENTION 
Youth suicide impacts the safety of the school environment. It also affects the school community, diminishing the ability of 
surviving students to learn and the school’s ability to educate. Suicide and depression awareness and prevention are important 
Board goals.  More information on this topic can be obtained by contacting any district administrator or found on our district 
website. https://resources.finalsite.net/images/v1722267085/mtzschoolsorg/nat3jpuyul4uoqctsay0/7.pdf 

 
SURVEILLANCE/EMERGENCY EQUIPMENT 
Mt. Zion School District #3 uses video surveillance equipment on its premises for monitoring and safety purposes. A video 
and/or audio monitoring system may be in use on school buses and a video monitoring system and vape detection sensors 
may be in use in the school building. These systems have been put in place to protect students, staff, visitors and school 
property. If a discipline problem is captured on audiotape or videotape, these recordings may be used as the basis for imposing 
student discipline. If criminal actions are recorded, a copy of the tape may be provided to law enforcement personnel only. 

 
It is a crime if a person knowingly damages, sabotages, destroys, or causes a permanent or temporary malfunction in any 
physical or electronic security, fire, or life safety system or any component part of any of those systems. Any student caught 
defacing, damaging or destroying video surveillance cameras will have to make restitution, and may be suspended, expelled, 
and/or recommended to an Alternative School and/or may be charged with criminal damage to school property. 

 
SUSPENSION OR EXPULSION AND RIGHT TO HEARING 
General Discipline 
When a student commits an act of gross disobedience or misconduct as defined by the School Board, the student's right to 
an education may be temporarily withheld. But no governmental agency, such as a school, may deprive a student of rights 
without due process of law. A student is entitled to procedural due process and must be allowed to present a defense and 
explain the circumstances of the actions in question. 

 
The basic differences in suspension and expulsion are as follows: 
1) A suspension is not to exceed 10 school days. An expulsion is up to a maximum of two (2) school years. 
2) The Board of Education, the Principal, Assistant Principal, or the District Superintendent may suspend a student; only 

the local Board of Education can expel a student. 
3) A student may be EXPELLED after a formal hearing. 

 
Suspension 
1) The suspending school official must give the student oral or written notice of the charges and evidence to support 

the charges. 
2) If the student denies the charges, (s)he must be given an opportunity to present an explanation in a conference with 

the suspending school official. The school official must inform the student whether or not the suspension is to be imposed. 
 

A student whose presence poses a continuing danger to persons, property, or an ongoing threat of disruption of the academic 
process may be immediately removed from school. In such case, the requirements of a suspension proceeding should follow 
as soon as practical. 

 
1) A student may be suspended by the Administration. The student’s parents must be notified immediately by the 

Principal, Assistant Principal, or designee of the suspension, the number of days of suspension (may not exceed 10 
school days) and the right of review of the suspension by the local School Board. 

2) Upon request of the parents or guardian, the Board or a hearing officer appointed by the Board shall review such action 

http://www.mtzschools.org/guidance


69 
 

of the Superintendent or principal. At such review, the parents or guardian of the pupil may appear and discuss the 
suspension with the Board or its hearing officer. If a hearing officer is appointed by the Board, he/she shall report to the 
Board a written summary of the evidence heard at the meeting. After its hearing or upon receipt of the written report of 
its hearing officer, the Board may take such action as it finds appropriate. 

3) A record of the proceedings will be retained by the school and provided to the student or representative on request upon 
reasonable reimbursement of incurred expenses. 

4) If the suspension decision is reversed, all references to it in the student’s records must be removed. 
 

Social Probation 
Students on social probation are not allowed on school property outside of the school day. If a student has an outstanding 
detention (or fee not determined to be the responsibility of the parent or guardian) he/she may be placed on social probation 
until the matter is resolved. Students may also be placed on social probation for inappropriate behavior/ unsportsmanlike 
conduct during after school activities. 

 
In-school Suspension 
Most district students who are suspended will be assigned to a “directed study” area, as determined by the 
administration. Parental notification and due process will be given. During the period of in-school suspension, they will not 
be permitted to attend or participate in any activities, athletic events, programs, meetings, etc. The student is to remain off 
school premises, except during school hours. The student is expected to complete all assignments missed due to the 
suspension, including tests on a daily basis as required by the teacher. 

 
In-School Suspension Rules 
• No Talking. 
• No sleeping or laying head down. 
• Students should be completing assigned work while in in-school suspension. 
• Students are prohibited from using a cell phone/ personal device/ wearable technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.). 
• The restroom may be used during the third and fifth periods. as directed by teacher. 
• Students are not to leave in-school suspension without office permission. 
• The teacher will direct the students to lunch at 10:45 a.m. 

 
Out-of-School Suspension 
A student may be suspended for up to ten (10) school days for acts of gross disobedience or misconduct. Parental 
notification and due process are required. The student will not be permitted to attend or participate in any activities, athletic 
events, programs, meetings, etc. The student is to remain off school premises during the period of suspension. This includes 
weekend events, if applicable. 

 
Expulsion 
Expellable acts include, but are not limited to, serious misbehavior and/or illegal acts that threaten to impair the educational 
efficiency of the school and/or that most seriously disrupt the orderly educational process in the classroom and/or school. 
Expulsion may occur if misbehavior occurs on school property or at any school-sponsored or school-related activity on or off 
of school property that may cause a serious threat to the safety of the school community. Expulsion means removal of a 
student from school for more than ten consecutive school days and possible placement in an alternative setting for one (1) to 
two (2) school years. Placement in an alternative setting may not be offered under certain circumstances in accordance with 
the Illinois School Code. The terms of expulsion also mean that a student who has received out-of-school suspension, is 
being considered for expulsion, and/or has been expelled is prohibited from being on school/district grounds, at school- 
sponsored activities, or present at any function affiliated with the school district for the time span of the suspension/expulsion. 

 
In expulsion cases, the following is required: 

1) The student and the student’s parents will be notified of the reasons for the expulsion, including a full statement of the 
reasons, the length of the expulsion and the date, time and place of the expulsion hearing. The expulsion does not take 
place until after the School Board meeting. 

a) At the hearing conducted by the School Board or a Hearing Officer appointed by the Board, the student has a right to 
a lawyer at the student’s own expense, the right to question the person who made the recommendation to expel, the 
right to present evidence, call and question witnesses, and the right to make a statement on his/her own behalf. 

b) After presentation of the evidence or receipt of the hearing officer’s report, the Board shall decide the issue if the 
student committed the act of gross disobedience or misconduct and take such action as it finds appropriate. If the 
Board acts to expel the student, its written expulsion decision shall: 

• Detail the specific reason why removing the student from his or her learning environment is in the best interest 
of the school. 



70 
 

• Provide a rationale for the specific duration of the recommended expulsion. 
• Document that school officials determined that all appropriate and available behavioral and disciplinary 

interventions have been exhausted or whether school officials determined that no other appropriate and available 
interventions existed for the student. 

• Document that the student’s continuing presence in school would (1) pose a threat to the safety of other students, 
staff, or members of the school community, or (2) substantially disrupt, impede, or interfere with the operation of 
the school. 

2) A record of the proceedings will be retained by the school and provided to the student or representative upon request 
and on a reimbursable basis. 

The building principal or designee shall meet with a student returning to school from an out-of-school suspension, expulsion 
or alternative school setting. The goal of this meeting shall be to support the student’s ability to be successful in school 
following a period of exclusion and shall include an opportunity for students who have been suspended to complete or make- 
up missed work for equivalent academic credit. 

 
TEEN DATING VIOLENCE 
Engaging in teen dating violence that takes place at school, on school property, at school-sponsored activities, or in vehicles 
used for school-provided transportation is prohibited. Teen dating violence occurs whenever a student who is 13 to 19 years 
of age uses or threatens to use physical, mental, or emotional abuse to control an individual in the dating relationship; or 
uses or threatens to use sexual violence in the dating relationship. Parents, staff or students who have concerns regarding 
an incident of teen dating violence may file a complaint pursuant to the District’s Harassment Complaint Procedure. 

 
TELEPHONE 
Students are not called to the office to answer incoming calls except for an emergency. If parents need to have an urgent 
message delivered, office personnel will take the message and see that the student receives it. Students and parents are 
urged to keep all telephone messages to a minimum. Students may use the office telephone only after obtaining permission 
from the office staff. 

 
THERAPY DOGS 
Mt. Zion School District may have a therapy dog(s) on school premises. Please contact building administration 
with any questions or concerns. 

TRANSPORTATION - NOTICE TO PARENTS/GUARDIANS 
Parent(s) or legal guardian(s) who must provide transportation to and from school, because free transportation is not 
available for their children, may be eligible to receive money from the State to help offset some of the cost, for example bus 
fares, or mileage reimbursement for private automobiles at the current rate. 

 
If you can answer yes to the following questions for the school year, you may be eligible to receive reimbursement if providing 
transportation. 

 
1) Will the pupil be under the age of 21 at the close of the school year? 
2) Is the pupil a full-time student in grades kindergarten through 12? 
3) Does the pupil either live 1-1/2 miles or more from school or live less than 1-1/2 miles from school but must be 

transported due to a serious safety hazard resulting from vehicles? (See following paragraphs.) 
4) Does the pupil attend a school within Illinois which meets Illinois compulsory attendance laws? 
5) Did the parent/guardian incur transportation expenses resulting from transporting the pupil to and from school? 

 
If you answered yes to the above questions, lived in Illinois and wish to file a claim, you must go to the school where each of 
your children is enrolled by June 30, to complete a claim application. Claim forms should be available from February through 
June. 

 
Parent(s)/guardian(s) who have pupils living less than 1-1/2 miles from the school attended must verify that a safety 
hazard due to vehicular traffic exists by completing an Application for Determination of Serious Safety Hazard at 
the Regional Superintendent of Schools Office for the county in which they live by February 1 of the current school 
year. The Regional Superintendent of Schools is required to send the application to the Illinois Department of Transportation 
within 15 days. The Illinois Department of Transportation reviews and approves or denies the application and 
returns it to the Regional Superintendent of Schools within 30 days. 

 
Upon receipt of the reviewed application, the Regional Superintendent of Schools will mail it to the parent/guardian who 
requested the safety hazard be verified. If the safety hazard is verified, the parent/guardian must go to the school the pupil 



71 
 

attends and complete the claim form. Parents who received verification of a safety hazard during or after October 1, 1999, 
and whose children will attend the same school and live at the same address, do not have to reapply for safety hazard 
verification. 

 
Once all claims are completed at the school, the claim forms will be sent to the Illinois State Board of Education. If your 
claim is approved, you should receive a check directly from the State for the lesser of the cost of transporting your 

 
child/children or the average per pupil reimbursement paid to public schools for transporting regular education pupils. If 
insufficient funds are appropriated by the General Assembly, all claims will be pro-rated. 

 
If you have any questions, please call or come to the school as soon as possible. 

 
TUITION STUDENTS 
Beginning with the 2025-2026 school year, families who pay tuition instead of residing within the Mt. Zion School District 
must have a signed tuition agreement by August 1st of the upcoming school year. Tuition agreements are valid for one 
calendar year only. After that year, families must reside within the Mt. Zion School District residential boundaries for their 
children to continue attending any Mt. Zion school. 
  

 
VALUABLES 
All articles and valuables are brought to school at the owner’s risk. Money and valuables should not be kept in lockers. If you 
have valuables when you report to physical education, put them in your physical education locker and lock the locker or give 
them to the physical education teacher. 

 
VEHICLE RULES AND REGULATIONS 
The Illinois Motor Vehicle Code shall in all respects be complied with by users on school property. The following regulations 
shall apply 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, to all operators of vehicles entering onto Mt. Zion Community Unit School District 
#3 property. 
1) Speed Limit: 10 (ten) miles per hour. 
2) Reckless driving is prohibited and shall be defined for the purpose of this policy to include any person who drives a 

motor vehicle on school property disregarding the rights of others or in a manner as to endanger any person or property. 
(Determination shall be made by the Administration.) 

3) Vehicles must come to a complete stop at all stop signs. 
4) Operators of motor vehicles must yield the right of way to school buses. 
5) Operators of motor vehicles shall observe all signs posted or painted on driveways. 
6) Throwing or dumping any waste materials such as garbage, cans, bottles, wires, glass, or paper from any motor 

vehicle is prohibited. 
7) Driving or parking vehicles on non-paved areas is prohibited. 
8) Operating any motor vehicle without the knowledge or consent of the owner or other person in control of the vehicle is 

prohibited. 
9) Operating a motor vehicle in a speed contest, including those commonly known as "drag racing", is prohibited. 
10) No illegal matter such as drugs, alcohol, weapons, explosives, or stolen property may be transported, secreted, or kept 

in any motor vehicle brought on school property. The school district has the right to a reasonable search of any vehicle 
entering or parked on school property suspected of carrying such matter. The police/K-9 units may assist the school 
when conducting vehicle searches. (Also see Handbook/Calendar for discipline.) 

11) Cruising (indiscriminate movement) on school property is prohibited. 
12) Once a vehicle enters school property, it must be parked at the earliest opportunity unless its intended purpose is 

"dropping off" or "picking up" a passenger. 
13) Honking horns and loud music are not acceptable in the school parking lot. 
14) "Squealing" and "burning rubber" is prohibited. 

 
VEHICLE PARKING RULES AND REGUALTIONS 
1) Any student vehicle to be parked on school property during regular school hours must be approved for said privilege by 

submitting a Motor Vehicle Registration Form to the office and display a current parking permit. 
2) Parking permits [high school students only $40 1st semester, $20 if purchased after January 2 (with a $60 per family 

cap)] must be purchased in the high school office and displayed appropriately and visible from the front of the vehicle. 
This permit must be visible at all times while the car is on school property. If a parking permit is lost, a replacement must 
be purchased in the High School Office for $5.00. Failure to abide by the vehicle rules could result in discipline ranging 
from assigned parking through suspension from school. In the event that you drive another vehicle, you must register 



72 
 

with the office. 
3) When new licenses or car transfer certificates are issued by the State, such information must be registered with the office. 
4) All student driven vehicles must be parked in designated student parking areas (within the yellow lines). Student parking 

is restricted to areas painted with yellow lines. There is absolutely no student parking allowed in staff parking areas (white 
lines) or in other areas designated as no parking areas (red lines) which may or may not be posted with signs. 

5) Operators of motor vehicles shall not transport other persons in pickup beds or fenders of vehicles etc., while on school 
property. 

6) Students who purchase parking permits for other students or other persons will automatically lose driving privileges for 
a specified amount of time (to be determined by the administration). 

 
Failure to abide by these rules may result in the removal of driving privileges and/or discipline, including possible 
suspension from school. The Mt. Zion Community Unit School District #3 assumes NO responsibility for loss of 
personal property or damage to motor vehicles parked on school property. 

 
VISITATION RIGHTS OF PARENTS 
The School Visitation Rights Act permits employed parents who are unable to meet with educators because of a work conflict 
the right to an allotment of time during the school year to attend necessary educational or behavioral conferences at the 
school their child attends. 810ILCS147/1 et seq. As per Statute, the Mt. Zion School District hereby notifies parents of the 
following: 

1) Upon written request, employers must grant employees leave of up to eight hours per school year, not to exceed four 
hours in any given day, to attend their children's classroom activities or school conferences which cannot be scheduled 
during non-work hours. 
For regularly scheduled, non-emergency visitations, the Mt. Zion School District will make time available for visitation 
during both regular school hours and evening hours. 

2) The Mt. Zion School District will provide documentation to the parent of the time and date of each school visitation upon 
a parent's assertion of their rights under the Act. 

 
VISITORS - SCHOOL VISITS 
All visitors must use the school's buzz-in system for entry into the school. Upon entering the school, visitors must immediately 
report to the office. Visitors during the school day, in particular during instructional time, are allowed to visit at the discretion 
of the administration. Former students will not be allowed to visit students or teachers during the school day. 

 
WEAPONS POLICY 
A student who is determined to have brought one of the following objects to school, any school-sponsored activity or event, 
or any activity or event that bears a reasonable relationship to school shall be expelled for a period of at least one calendar 
year but not more than two calendar years: 

1. A firearm, meaning any gun, rifle, shotgun, or weapon as defined by Section 921 of Title 18 of the United States Code 
(18 U.S.C. § 921), firearm as defined in Section 1.1 of the Firearm Owners Identification Card Act (430 ILCS 65/), or 
firearm as defined in Section 24-1 of the Criminal Code of 1961 (720 ILCS 5/24-1). 

2. A knife, brass knuckles, or other knuckle weapon regardless of its composition, a billy club, or any other object if 
used or attempted to be used to cause bodily harm, including look-alikes of any firearm as defined above. 

The expulsion requirement under either paragraph one or two above may be modified by the Superintendent, and the 
Superintendent’s determination may be modified by the Board on a case-by-case basis. The Superintendent or designee 
may grant an exception to this policy, upon the prior request of an adult supervisor, for students in theatre, cooking, ROTC, 
martial arts, and similar programs, whether or not school-sponsored, provided the item is not equipped, nor intended, to do 
bodily harm. 

This policy’s prohibitions concerning weapons apply regardless of whether: (1) a student is licensed to carry a concealed 
firearm, or (2) the Board permits visitors, who are licensed to carry a concealed firearm, to store a firearm in a locked vehicle 
in a school parking area. 

Use of any weapon, defined above or hereinafter, that is used for the purpose of intimidating or injuring others in a school 
building on campus (school grounds), or at a school activity is also prohibited. Items including, but not limited to medical 
paraphernalia, knives, baseball bats, pipes, bottles, locks, sticks, pencils and pens if used or attempted to be used in a 
threatening manner or to cause bodily harm will be considered a weapon. 

The building principal or designee shall notify the criminal justice or juvenile delinquency system of any student who brings a 
weapon to school. See ‘Discipline Policy & Procedures for Students’ in this Handbook for the consequences of violating the 
Weapon Policy. 

 
 



73 
 

WEIGHTED GRADES 
Please see the Student Course Planning Handbook on the Guidance Department website at: 
https://www.mtzschools.org/guidance for a listing of current weighted courses, policies related to weighted courses, and 
calculation of weighted grades. 

 
WITHDRAWING FROM SCHOOL 
K-3 Parents should notify the office one week prior to withdrawing. 
4-8 Students should notify the office one week prior to withdrawing. On the last day of attendance, they should obtain 

a withdrawal form from the office. 
9-12 It is the student’s responsibility to obtain a withdrawal form from his/her counselor. Each teacher must sign the sheet 

indicating all book materials, and school property have been returned. After the sheet has been signed by the student 
and parent, it must then be returned to the counselor or the office. 

 
WORK PERMITS 
1) Bring a certificate of employment from your employer to the office. If your employer does not have one of these forms, 

you may pick one up in the office. 
2) Bring the completed employment form to the office. A birth certificate may be required if the office cannot certify the date 

of birth. 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
BRAVES 

http://www.mtzschools.org/guidance


Memorandum 
 

 
TO: BOARD OF EDUCATION 
 
FROM: TRAVIS R. ROUNDCOUNT 
   
DATE: MAY 28, 2025  
 
RE: FUND WARRANTS  
 
 
Administrative recommendation:  to approve payment of the enclosed list of Quick 
Pay andFund Warrant Checks. 
 

 
 
BMR nmg 
 
Enclosures 

 

 

 

 

 



CHECK VENDOR DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
37884 ATHLETIC IMPREST MISC EXPENSE 2,629.67$           
37885 DD TRS EMP CONTRIBUTIONS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 51,289.69
37886 DD TRS FEDERAL CONTRIBUTIONS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 1,707.78
37887 DD TRS RET CONT .58 PAYROLL ACCRUAL 3,305.42
37888 DD TRS SSP PAYROLL ACCRUAL 119.34
37889 DD TRS THIS CONTRIBUTIONS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 8,947.15
37890 DD IMRF PAYROLL ACCRUAL 21,018.53
37891 CAPITAL ONE - DD SUPPLIES 121.50
37892 CAPITAL ONE - DD PURCHASED SERVICE 20,385.27
37893 CAPITAL ONE - DD PURCHASED SERVICE 32,504.09
37894 247SECURITY INC. SUPPLIES 9,978.00
37895 ALFORD, ERICA EQUIPMENT 840.00
37896 ARTHUR PUBLISHING PURCHASED SERVICE 200.00
37897 BUSHUE BACKGROUND SCREENING PURCHASED SERVICE 732.00
37898 CONSTELLATION ELECTRIC PURCHASED SERVICE 8,982.75
37899 ECHO ELECTRIC PURCHASED SERVICE 198.16
37900 EVERGREEN FS - #15 SUPPLIES 9,053.95
37901 GORDON FOOD SERVICE SUPPLIES 24,023.09
37902 HSHS MEDICAL GROUP PURCHASED SERVICE 180.00
37903 IASA-ILLINOIS ASSOC OF SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS DUES 1,776.26
37904 IASB- ILLINOIS ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOL BOARDS DUES 7,261.00
37905 IAVAT SUPPLIES 350.00
37906 IMPERIALDADE SUPPLIES 1,849.87
37907 INTERSTATE BILLING SERVICE PURCHASED SERVICE 2,114.26
37908 JOHNSON CONTROLS FIRE PROTECTION LP PURCHASED SERVICE 1,414.34
37909 LEWIS, ELISA SUPPLIES 75.00
37910 MCCARTY, NICOLE PROF DEVELOP 181.50
37911 MIDWEST ELECTRONIC SYSTEMS PURCHASED SERVICE 110.00
37912 MT. ZION HIGH SCHOOL ACTIVITY FUND SUPPLIES 400.00
37913 NEAL TIRE STORES PURCHASED SERVICE 90.64
37914 NO BARRIERS PROJECT PROF DEVELOP 7,000.00
37915 RONS PRODUCE WHOLESALE FOOD SERVICE SUPPLIES 72.00
37916 TK ELEVATOR CORPORATION PURCHASED SERVICE 1,189.92
37917 TOP QUALITY ROOFING CO. PURCHASED SERVICE 365.00
37918 WATTS, RILEIGH SUPPLIES 599.00
37919 DD ILL DEPT OF REVENUE PAYROLL ACCRUAL 31,716.59
37920 DD IRS FICA PAYROLL ACCRUAL 22,869.16
37921 DD IRS MEDICARE PAYROLL ACCRUAL 19,760.44
37922 DD IRS W/H FEDERAL PAYROLL ACCRUAL 57,484.24
37923 DD MTZ CUSD MED INS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 160,469.66
37924 DD MTZ CUSD FLEX INS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 3,987.13
37925 DD MTZ CUSD LIFELOCK INS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 201.04
37926 DD MTZ FEDERATION OF TEACHERS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 5,396.31

MT. ZION COMMUNITY UNIT SCHOOL DISTRICT #3
QUICK PAYS

04/03/2025-05/03/2025



37927 DD MUTUAL OF OMAHA PMT PROCESS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 1,710.56
37928 DD STATE DISBURSEMENT-EXPERTPAY PAYROLL ACCRUAL 591.93
37929 DD THE OMNI GROUP PAYROLL REMIT PAYROLL ACCRUAL 13,212.83
37930 DD IMRF PAYROLL ACCRUAL 23,901.66
37931 DD TRS EMP CONTRIBUTIONS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 51,863.78
37932 DD TRS FEDERAL CONTRIBUTIONS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 1,707.78
37933 DD TRS RET CONT .58 PAYROLL ACCRUAL 3,342.47
37934 DD TRS SSP PAYROLL ACCRUAL 119.34
37935 DD TRS THIS CONTRIBUTIONS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 9,047.39
37936 ARTHUR PUBLISHING PURCHASED SERVICE 65.00
37937 AT & T PURCHASED SERVICE 49.63
37938 BEHRENDS, ALLISON PROF DEVELOP 500.00
37939 BEHRENDS, SABRINA TEXTBOOKS 13.50
37940 CONFIDENTIAL ON SITE PAPER SHREDDING PURCHASED SERVICE 335.00
37941 CUSTOM TROPHIES & SILK SCREENING PURCHASED SERVICE 12.00
37942 DD MAGIC-WRIGHTER PURCHASED SERVICE 7.50
37943 FORVIS PURCHASED SERVICE 2,520.83
37944 GORDON FOOD SERVICE SUPPLIES 10,152.46
37945 GRANITE TELECOMMUNICATIONS PURCHASED SERVICE 300.75
37946 GREEN, NICOLE PROF DEVELOP 35.24
37947 GUIN MUNDORF, LLC. PURCHASED SERVICE 2,200.00
37948 VOID 0.00
37949 HSHS ST. MARY'S HOPITAL PURCHASED SERVICE 3,750.00
37950 ILLINOIS PORTABLE TOILETS PURCHASED SERVICE 230.00
37951 ILLINOIS SCHOOL FOR THE DEAF PURCHASED SERVICE 66.00
37952 IMPERIALDADE SUPPLIES 40.16
37953 JOZWIAK, AMY SUPPLIES 200.00
37954 KING-LAR PURCHASED SERVICE 43,038.10
37955 MT. ZION FOOD SERVICE PROF DEVELOP 160.00
37956 MT. ZION FOOD SERVICE MISC EXPENSE-SENIOR REFUNDS 300.00
37957 ORRIS, RACHEL SUPPLIES 148.18
37958 PERMA BOUND SUPPLIES 7,463.47
37959 PERMA BOUND SUPPLIES 770.06
37960 PURITAN SPRINGS SUPPLIES 30.11
37961 REDWOOD LITERACY MISC EXPENSE 1,335.00
37962 TAYLOR, ANN SUPPLIES 126.05
37963 WHITCHURCH, JANET PURCHASED SERVICE 510.27
37964 WM CORPORATE SERVICES, INC. PURCHASED SERVICE 2,449.08
37965 FLOYD, GAIGE PROF DEVELOP-GRAD SECURITY 125.00
37966 SKUNDBERG, ADAM PROF DEVELOP-GRAD SECURITY 125.00
37967 AAA LIFE INSURANCE MISC EXPENSE 1,065.00
37968 CAPITAL ONE - DD SUPPLIES 40,366.63
37969 CAPITAL ONE - DD PURCHASED SERVICE 33,063.23
37970 ANDREAS, HEATHER MISC EXPENSE 13.20
37971 ASCHENBRENNER, DEBORA MISC EXPENSE 15.75
37972 BECK TECH SUPPLIES 259.50
37973 BEHM, AMBER MISC EXPENSE 16.35



37974 BSN SPORTS, INC. SUPPLIES 113.90
37975 CAYANAN, JOEL MISC EXPENSE 11.15
37976 CDW GOVERNMENT, INC. SUPPLIES 360,820.00
37977 COMCAST PURCHASED SERVICE 21.95
37978 CONNOR CO PURCHASED SERVICE 691.42
37979 CONOUR, JEREMY MISC EXPENSE 23.45
37980 CUMMINGS, JASON MISC EXPENSE 56.75
37981 DEERING, BRIAN MISC EXPENSE 22.80
37982 DIAZ, HEATHER MISC EXPENSE 20.00
37983 DONAHUE, JANA MISC EXPENSE 23.45
37984 DOWNS, NEYSA SUPPLIES 29.33
37985 ECHO ELECTRIC PURCHASED SERVICE 64.07
37986 ELECTRICAL SERVICE COMPANY PURCHSED SERVICE 1,926.02
37987 ELZY, JEAN MISC EXPENSE 11.15
37988 FIORE, JOSEPH MISC EXPENSE 23.85
37989 FORD, SCOTT MISC EXPENSE 12.45
37990 GLASS, DONALD MISC EXPENSE 25.80
37991 GORDON FOOD SERVICE SUPPLIES 5,412.66
37992 GREEN, NICOLE MISC EXPENSE 35.00
37993 HARRIS, KAYLA MISC EXPENSE 39.30
37994 HEART OF ILLINOIS COMMUNITY FOUNDATION PURCHASED SERVICE 5,000.00
37995 HECTOR, NINA MISC EXPENSE 73.85
37996 HENDRICKS, AMBER MISC EXPENSE 10.35
37997 IMPERIALDADE SUPPLIES 226.39
37998 INNIS, JANE MISC EXPENSE 15.25
37999 INTEGRITY TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS PURCHASED SERVICE 36,158.10
38000 JORDAN, JONATHAN MISC EXPENSE 39.90
38001 KIEFER U.S.A. PURCHASED SERVICE 16,485.00
38002 LAMB, AMANDA SUPPLIES 20.39
38003 LOUD, AUDREY MISC EXPENSE 13.70
38004 LOWE, ROBERT MISC EXPENSE 23.50
38005 MACON-PIATT SPECIAL EDUCATION DUES 35,769.71
38006 MAHNKE, JAIME MISC EXPENSE 17.70
38007 MARION, MICHELLE MISC EXPENSE 38.90
38008 MCNEILL, DON MISC EXPENSE 39.70
38009 MOYER, ROSS SUPPLIES 359.77
38010 NEWTON, KENT MISC EXPENSE 88.00
38011 PLATZBECKER, KRISTINE MISC EXPENSE 29.45
38012 PRAIRIE FARMS DAIRY SUPPLIES 5,013.80
38013 RISLEY, JENNIFER MISC EXPENSE 11.80
38014 ROCKEY, WILLIAM MISC EXPENSE 17.60
38015 ROSS, TIFFANI MISC EXPENSE 19.45
38016 SANCHEZ, JOSEPH MISC EXPENSE 27.15
38017 SMALLEY, LORI MISC EXPENSE 4.60
38018 STOKES, PATRICK MISC EXPENSE 26.20



38019 SWEITZER, PHIL MISC EXPENSE 17.40
38020 TEEL, TJ MISC EXPENSE 98.35
38021 THOMPSON, KRISTEN MISC EXPENSE 24.10
38022 TRAFERA, LLC TECHNOLOGY HARDWARE 14,820.00
38023 TROLL, ARIC MISC EXPENSE 107.15
38024 TRUMP DIRECT PURCHASED SERVICE 785.00
38025 VILLAGE OF MT. ZION PURCHASED SERVICE 3,350.00
38026 VOILES, BRYAN MISC EXPENSE 12.75
38027 WAGERS, BRAD MISC EXPENSE 32.25
38028 WALKER, JENNIFER MISC EXPENSE 11.00
38029 WINICK, BEN MISC EXPENSE 15.25
38030 WOOLERY, BRENNA MISC EXPENSE 14.50
38031 YOUNT, JEREMY MISC EXPENSE 13.70
38032 NXTGEN EMPOWERMENT LLC SUPPLIES 300.00
38033 DD AFLAC REMITTANCE PAYROLL ACCRUAL 504.08
38034 DD COLONIAL LIFE PREM PROCESS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 244.24
38035 DD ILL DEPT OF REVENUE PAYROLL ACCRUAL 31,677.84
38036 DD IRS FICA PAYROLL ACCRUAL 22,926.36
38037 DD IRS MEDICARE PAYROLL ACCRUAL 19,740.36
38038 DD IRS W/H FEDERAL PAYROLL ACCRUAL 57,248.56
38039 DD MTZ CUSD MED INS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 152,781.94
38040 DD MTZ CUSD FLEX INS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 3,987.13
38041 DD MTZ CUSD LIFELOCK INS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 201.04
38042 DD MTZ FEDERATION OF TEACHERS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 5,396.31
38043 DD MUTUAL OF OMAHA PMT PROCESS PAYROLL ACCRUAL 14,364.78
38044 DD STATE DISBURSEMENT-EXPERTPAY PAYROLL ACCRUAL 591.93
38045 DD THE OMNI GROUP PAYROLL REMIT PAYROLL ACCRUAL 13,212.83
38046 MT. ZION FOUNDATION FOR QUALITY EDUCATION PAYROLL ACCRUAL 103.68
38047 NCPERS GROUP LIFE INS. PAYROLL ACCRUAL 256.00
38048 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES TEXTBOOKS 852.79
38049 BROWN, EMILY MISC EXPENSE 56.75
38050 BSN SPORTS, INC. TEXTBOOKS 1,680.96
38051 CASE LAWN CARE, INC PURCHASED SERVICE 155.00
38052 CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY GAS DIVISION LLC. PURCHASED SERVICE 7,040.62
38053 DELTAMATH SOLUTIONS TEXTBOOKS 1,020.00
38054 DOWNS, NEYSA PROF DEVELOP 105.96
38055 ECHO ELECTRIC PURCHASED SERVICE 476.98
38056 FOX, KELLY PROF DEVELOP 395.22
38057 HOPE, MATT SUPPLIES 638.25
38058 ILLINOIS STATE UNIVERSITY PROF DEVELOP 200.00
38059 ILLINOIS PORTABLE TOILETS PURCHASED SERVICE 45.00
38060 INTERSTATE BILLING SERVICE PURCHASED SERVICE 1,091.88
38061 J W PEPPER & SON, INC. SUPPLIES 154.19
38062 MACON-PIATT ROE #39 PROF DEVELOP 20.00
38063 MAX-IN TUNE PIANO SERVICES SUPPLIES 125.00



38064 MT. ZION HIGH SCHOOL ACTIVITY FUND MISC EXPENSE 538.02
38065 POTEMPA, DANIEL SUPPLIES 111.48
38066 PUGSLEY CONTAINER, LLC. PURCHASED SERVICE 450.00
38067 RYDER'S AUTO SERVICE PURCHASED SERVICE 302.50
38068 THE BLOOM ROOM SUPPLIES 78.00
38069 TRUMP DIRECT PURCHASED SERVICE 826.00

TOTAL $1,608,423.43

10 - EDUCATION FUND 1,353,569.72$                                        
20 - OPERATION & MAINTENANCE FUND 81,694.96$                                              
40 - TRANSPORTATION FUND 56,585.88$                                              
50 - MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND 56,983.24$                                              
60- SITE & CONSTRUCTION FUND 59,589.63$                                              

TOTAL 1,608,423.43$                                        



CHECK # VENDOR DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
38070 EVERGREEN FS - #15 SUPPLIES 15,288.09
38071 GORDON FOOD SERVICE SUPPLIES 5,392.29
38072 HOUGHTON MIFFLIN HARCOURT TEXTBOOKS 13,762.50
38073 IMPERIALDADE SUPPLIES 752.28
38074 MIDWEST OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH ASSOCIATES PURCHASED SERVICE 130.00
38075 NELSON'S TERMITE & PEST CONTROL PURCHASED SERVICE 375.00
38076 TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC. PURCHASED SERVICE 4,916.10
38077 VILLAGE OF MT. ZION PURCHASED SERVICE 76,311.98

TOTAL 116,928.24$      

10 - EDUCATION FUND 62,232.87$                         
20- OPERATION & MAINTENANCE FUND 1,127.28$                            
40- TRANSPORTATION FUND 15,418.09$                         
80-TORT FUND 38,150.00$                         

TOTAL 116,928.24$                       

MT. ZION COMMUNITY UNIT SCHOOL DISTRICT #3
FUND WARRANTS

June 2, 2025



Memorandum 

 

TO:      BOARD OF EDUCATION 

FROM:  TRAVIS R. ROUNDCOUNT 

DATE:    MAY 28, 2025 

RE:         FINANCIAL TREASURER’S REPORT 

 

Administrative recommendation: that the attached Financial Treasurer’s Report 
be accepted and filed for audit 

 

BMR nmg 

Attachment 










	1 AGENDA- JUNE 2025 (1).pdf
	Sheet1

	4 Minutes for May 5, 2025.pdf
	11 1 Personnel (1).pdf
	11 2 Co Curricular combined (6).pdf

	7 A 3 2025-26 Staff-Faculty handbook- 1st READING.pdf
	403(b) PARTICIPATION
	ACCELERATED PLACEMENT PROGRAM (APP)
	ACCIDENTS AND INJURIES
	BOARD POLICIES
	DISTRIBUTION OF MATERIALS
	DISTRICT HANDBOOK/CALENDAR
	EMERGENCY DAY USE
	12-MONTH EMPLOYEES
	9-MONTH EMPLOYEES

	EMERGENCY PROCEDURES
	EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSINGS
	EMPLOYEE CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT
	EVALUATIONS
	FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE
	FORMS AND PROCEDURAL BULLETINS
	FRAUD REPORTING
	GENERAL STAFF INFORMATION
	HOLIDAYS
	Holiday Pay Requirements

	IDENTITY PROTECTION POLICY
	ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND (IMRF)
	ILLNESS
	INVENTORY
	JURY DUTY
	KEYS AND ROOM SECURITY
	MEDICAL AND LIFE INSURANCE
	PAYROLL AND DIRECT DEPOSIT CHANGES
	PERSONAL LEAVE
	PUBLIC RELATIONS
	PURCHASE ORDERS
	RESIGNATION AND RETIREMENT
	SAFETY
	SEXUAL ABUSE AND ASSAULT AWARENESS AND PREVENTION
	SICK DAYS
	STUDENT ONLINE PERSONAL PROTECTION ACT
	TECHNOLOGY
	TELEPHONE
	TITLE IX SEXUAL HARASSMENT GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
	USE OF TOBACCO, ALCOHOL, OR MARIJUANA ON SCHOOL GROUNDS
	VACATION
	VISITORS
	ADP771C.tmp
	Memorandum
	TO: BOARD OF EDUCATION
	FROM: TRAVIS R. ROUNDCOUNT
	DATE: MAY 28, 2025
	RE: 2025-26 EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT STAFF AND  FACULTY   HANDBOOKS
	Administrative recommendation: that the attached 2025-2026 ESP and Faculty Handbook be approved as revised.
	Comments: Utilizing a District-wide faculty and esp handbook has been helpful in communicating consistent information to everyone.  There are minimal changes this year and they are indicated in the documents as follows: language to be removed appears ...
	TRR nmg
	Attachment

	7 A 2 25-26 faculty handbook-1st READING.pdf
	403(b) PARTICIPATION
	ACCELERATED PLACEMENT PROGRAM (APP)
	ACCIDENTS AND INJURIES
	ASSEMBLY PROGRAMS
	ATTENDANCE
	BOARD POLICIES
	BUILDING HOURS/FACULTY MEETINGS
	CO-CURRICULAR CONFLICTS
	DISCIPLINE CODE
	DISMISSAL OF CLASSES
	DISTRIBUTION OF MATERIALS
	EARLY DISMISSAL OF STUDENTS
	EMERGENCY PROCEDURES
	EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSINGS
	EMPLOYEE CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT
	EVALUATIONS
	EXTRA DUTY PAY
	FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE
	FIELD TRIPS
	FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS
	FORMS AND PROCEDURAL BULLETINS
	FRAUD REPORTING
	GENERAL TEACHER INFORMATION
	GRADE REPORTING
	GRADUATE HOUR REQUEST
	HOMEBOUND/HOSPITAL INSTRUCTION SERVICES
	IDENTITY PROTECTION POLICY
	ILLNESS
	INVENTORY
	JURY DUTY
	KEYS AND ROOM SECURITY
	LESSON PLANS
	MAKE-UP WORK/INCOMPLETE GRADES
	MEDICATION
	PAYROLL - DIRECT DEPOSIT CHANGES
	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
	PUBLIC RELATIONS
	PURCHASE ORDERS
	Teachers may not purchase materials on their own and subsequently voucher the district for reimbursement without prior permission from their building principal.

	REGISTRATION OF CERTIFICATES
	SAFETY
	SCHOOL NURSE/HEALTH RECORDS
	SEXUAL ABUSE AND ASSAULT AWARENESS AND PREVENTION
	STUDENT HANDBOOKS
	STUDENT ONLINE PERSONAL PROTECTION ACT
	STUDENT RECORDS/FILES
	SUBSTITUTE TEACHER FOLDER
	SUPERVISION
	TECHNOLOGY
	TELEPHONE
	TEXTBOOK DISTRIBUTION
	TITLE IX SEXUAL HARASSMENT GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
	VISITORS


	7 B 2025-2026 District Handbook 1st Reading.pdf
	Email: marquardtj@mtzschools.org
	Any student exhibiting signs of possessing, using, selling, buying, transmitting, or secreting any alcoholic beverage, narcotic or hallucinogenic drug, marijuana (including medically prescribed unless the student is authorized to be administered a med...
	Academics
	5th & 6th Grade Extra-Curricular Participation
	Requirements Before Participation
	Late Tryouts
	Athletic Equipment Use
	Student/Athlete Rules of Conduct
	Suspension and Expulsion
	Athletic Participation Fee
	2.40 SCHOLASTIC STANDING
	2.50 RESIDENCE
	2.60 TRANSFER
	2.70 USE OF PARTICIPANTS
	2.80 SCHOOLS WITH WHICH CONTESTS MAY BE HELD
	1) Attendance
	2) Scholastic Standing
	3) Residency
	4) Home School
	5) Transfer
	6) Age
	7) Physical Examination
	8) Amateur Status
	9) Recruiting of Athletes
	10) School Team Sports Seasons
	11) Playing in Non-School Competition
	12) All-Star Participation
	13) Misbehavior During Contests
	Jr. High/High School (Grades 7-12)
	Regular school hours are 7:45 a.m. - 2:30 p.m.
	Elementary Schools (K-6)
	Regular school hours are 8:30 a.m. - 3:00 p.m.
	Early dismissal school hours are 8:30 a.m. – 11:35 a.m.
	Absence Procedures
	Anticipated Absences
	Excused Absences
	Unexcused Absences
	Appointments
	Tardiness
	Truancy Procedures
	Late To School
	Make-up Work/Incomplete Grades
	K-High School:
	Harassment Complaint Procedure

	Nondiscrimination Coordinators, Complaint Managers & Title IX Coordinators:
	I. Bus Discipline Philosophy
	II. Unacceptable Behavior
	III. Bus Discipline Procedures
	Food Service Program - District #3 Overview
	Lunch & Breakfast Prices
	Debit Account Overview
	Efunds
	Policy for Student Debit Account Deposits Grades K-6
	Policy for Student Debit Account Deposits Grades 7-12
	Policy for Student Debit Account in Arrears Grades K-6
	Grades 7-12
	Student Debit Account Refund Policy
	Free/Reduced Meal Applications
	Debit Account Policy for Students with Free/Reduced Status
	GUIDELINES FOR ACCEPTABLE USE
	A. Acceptable Use
	B. Privileges
	C. Authorization for Internet Access
	D. Email/Student Web Pages
	E. Security of System and Responsibilities of System Users
	F. District Issued Devices
	G. Prohibited Uses
	Do not use the system to:
	H. Vandalism
	I. Sanctions
	J. Disclaimer
	School Web Page
	Philosophy
	Rights, Responsibilities and Regulations
	Establishment of Policies, Rules, Regulations
	Areas of Prohibited Student Conduct
	RANGE OF ADMINISTRATIVE CONSEQUENCES
	DEFINITIONS OF CONSEQUENCES
	DISCIPLINE VIOLATIONS AND RANGES OF CONSEQUENCES
	1. Alarms, False (Including Bomb Threats)*
	2. Use, Under the influence or possession, Sale or Distribution of Drugs Including Alcohol*
	3. Arson *
	4. Bullying/Hazing
	5. Bus Misconduct (K-12)
	6. Cheating
	7. Destruction of or Damage to Public or Private Property/Vandalism (K-12) *
	8. Detention, Failure to Serve (K-12)
	9. Disruptive Behavior/Horseplay (K-12)
	Cell Phones/Wearable Technology (i.e. smart watches, etc.) and other Electronic/ Communication Devices:
	11. Failure to Follow Directions/ Insubordination
	12. Forgery/False Reports to Staff (K-12)
	13. Gambling (K-12)
	14. Gang-Like Activities* (K-12)
	15. Harassment-Other Than Sexual (K-12)
	16. Harassment-Sexual
	17. Illegal Entry* (K-12)
	18. In an Unauthorized Area
	19. Inappropriate Dress (K-12)
	20.  Inappropriate Public Display of Affection (K-12)
	21. Inappropriate Sexual Conduct (K-12)
	22. Computer Acceptable Use Policy Violations
	23. Parking Lot Violations
	24. Participation in Acts Designed to Disrupt School (strikes, mass defiance etc.) (K-12)
	25. Physical Confrontation/Physical Violence with Students
	26. Physical Confrontation/Physical Violence with Staff *
	27. Profanity
	28. Saturday School, Failure to Serve
	29. Sex Texting (Sexting) (K-12)
	30. Unexcused Tardiness-Classroom (K-12)
	31. Unexcused Tardiness - Late to School
	32. Theft *
	33. Threats to Staff *
	34. Threats to Students *
	35. Use, Possession, Distribution, Purchasing or Selling Tobacco/Nicotine, Electronic/ Vapor Cigarettes or Tobacco/Nicotine Materials in any form
	36. Truancy
	37. Verbal Confrontation with Staff
	38. Verbal Confrontation with Student
	39. Weapon Related *
	40. Any Other Acts That Endanger the Well-Being of Students, Teachers, or Any Other Employees (K-12)
	Students Suspended from Other Schools
	Other Discipline Alternatives
	Co-curricular Misconduct
	41. Mt. Zion Village Ordinances
	42. Isolated Time Out
	43. Corporal Punishment
	Requirements for Admission:
	Fee Information:
	GPA Information:
	Requirements for Admission:
	Fee Information:
	Grades 5-12
	Exam Waiver Privilege

	Electronic Payment Process
	Required Addresses
	Efunds
	Waiver of School Fees
	Where Do the Funds Come From?
	What Types of Projects Will Be Funded?
	Who Decides How the Money Will Be Spent?
	Your Support of the Foundation Is Vital!
	What Are the Goals Of The Foundation? To encourage student development:
	To encourage excellence through professional growth of staff and teachers:
	To encourage school/community partnerships:

	Audit Policy
	Honor Roll
	Grades 5-8
	Grades 9-12
	● 4 credits of English:
	● 3 credits of Mathematics:
	● 3 credits of Science:
	● 2 credits of Social Science:
	● 2 credits of Physical Education:
	● 1 credit of Fine Arts:
	● 1/2 credit of Keyboarding
	● 1/2 credit of Health
	● 1/4 credit of Consumer Education
	Additional Graduation Guidelines:
	For All Students:
	For the Vocational Education Program:
	For the College Preparatory Program:
	Diplomas for Veterans
	Administrative Code
	Physical Examinations
	Immunizations
	Minimum Immunization requirements must be met and submitted on the first day of school, but no later than October 15 of the current school year. An approved medical or religious immunization exemption form must be submitted and on file with the school...
	Asthma
	Diabetes
	Dental Examinations
	Eye/Vision Examinations
	Hearing and Vision Screenings
	Medications at School
	Additionally:
	Food Allergies
	● Provide written medical documentation, instructions, and medications as directed by a physician. Use of the
	Fever
	Students with a temperature over 100.4 degrees or higher cannot be at school. If a student has a temperature, vomiting, and/or diarrhea due to illness at school, a parent/guardian will be notified and the student must be picked up from school. Student...
	Head Lice
	Illness/Injury/Accident
	Guidelines for Sending Claims
	Physical Education Waiver Policy
	HS Gym Uniforms
	JH Gym Uniforms
	Grades K-6 only
	The Superintendent of Schools is the official records custodian of the Mt. Zion Community Unit School District #3 Schools.
	3) Parents or any person specifically designated as a representative by a parent have the right to:
	4) No school student records or information contained therein may be released, transferred, disclosed or otherwise disseminated, except as follows:
	12) Upon graduation or permanent withdrawal of a student with a disability, special education files and other information contained in the student temporary record which may be of continued assistance to the student may, after five years, be transferr...

	Sample Notes And/Or Memo to Include On The Check
	7) The right to request that military recruiters or institutions of higher learning not be granted access to your secondary school student’s name, address, and telephone numbers without your prior written consent. Federal law requires a secondary scho...
	8) The right contained in this statement: No person may condition the granting or withholding of any right, privilege or benefits or make as a condition of employment, credit, or insurance the securing by any individual of any information from a stude...
	Model Notification of Rights Under the Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA)

	SEX EDUCATION
	SEX OFFENDER NOTIFICATION
	SEXUAL HARASSMENT POLICY
	Sexual Harassment Prohibited

	SNACKS-CLASSROOM (Grades K-6)
	SOCIAL SERVICES
	SPECIAL EDUCATION
	STATE TESTING
	IAR & ISA TESTS
	ACT SAT & PSAT/NMSQT TESTS
	General Discipline
	Suspension
	Social Probation
	In-school Suspension
	In-School Suspension Rules
	Out-of-School Suspension
	Expulsion

	Mt. Zion School District may have a therapy dog(s) on school premises. Please contact building administration with any questions or concerns.
	Once all claims are completed at the school, the claim forms will be sent to the Illinois State Board of Education. If your claim is approved, you should receive a check directly from the State for the lesser of the cost of transporting your
	Failure to abide by these rules may result in the removal of driving privileges and/or discipline, including possible suspension from school. The Mt. Zion Community Unit School District #3 assumes NO responsibility for loss of personal property or dam...



	8 A Fund Warrants (5).pdf
	FUND WARRANTS 22 (Dates  09 30
	QP-JUNE 2025 (1).pdf
	Quick Pays TEST (Dates  09 09 


	8 B Treasurers Report.pdf
	Personnel (3).pdf



